Public Document Pack

:
E
§ of Windsor &
2 | Maidenhead
NOTICE
OF
MEETING

WINDSOR AREA DEVELOPMENT
MANAGEMENT PANEL

will meet on

WEDNESDAY, 4TH DECEMBER, 2019
At 7.00 pm
in the
GREY ROOM - YORK HOUSE, WINDSOR

TO: MEMBERS OF THE WINDSOR AREA DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PANEL

COUNCILLORS CHRISTINE BATESON, JOHN BOWDEN (VICE-CHAIRMAN),
DAVID CANNON (CHAIRMAN), WISDOM DA COSTA, JON DAVEY, KAREN DAVIES,
DAVID HILTON, NEIL KNOWLES, JULIAN SHARPE, SHAMSUL SHELIM AND AMY TISI

SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS

COUNCILLORS CLIVE BASKERVILLE, MANDY BRAR, GERRY CLARK,

CAROLE DA COSTA, ANDREW JOHNSON, LYNNE JONES, SAYONARA LUXTON,
GARY MUIR, HELEN PRICE, SAMANTHA RAYNER AND JOHN STORY

Karen Shepherd — Head of Governance - Issued: 26 November 2019

Members of the Press and Public are welcome to attend Part | of this meeting. The agenda is available on the Council’s
web site at www.rbwm.gov.uk or contact the Panel Administrator Wendy Binmore 01628796251

Accessibility - Members of the public wishing to attend this meeting are requested to notify the clerk in advance of any accessibility
issues

Fire Alarm - In the event of the fire alarm sounding or other emergency, please leave the building quickly and calmly by the nearest
exit. Do not stop to collect personal belongings and do not use the lifts. Do not re-enter the building until told to do so by a
member of staff.



http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/

Recording of Meetings —In line with the council’s commitment to transparency the public part of the meeting will be audio
recorded, and may also be filmed and broadcast through the online application Periscope. If filmed, the footage will be available
through the council’s main Twitter feed @RBWM or via the Periscope website. The audio recording will also be made available on
the RBWM website, after the meeting.

Filming, recording and photography of public Council meetings may be undertaken by any person attending the meeting. By
entering the meeting room you are acknowledging that you may be audio or video recorded and that this recording will be in the
public domain. If you have any questions regarding the council’s policy, please speak to the Democratic Services or Legal
representative at the meeting.




ITEM

AGENDA

PART |
SUBJECT

PAGE

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any Declarations of Interest.
MINUTES
To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS (DECISION)

To consider the Head of Planning’s report on planning applications received.

Full details on all planning applications (including application forms, site
plans, Objections received, correspondence etc.) can be found by accessing
the Planning Applications Public Access Module at
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/pam/search.jsp

Key:

APP = Approval

CLU = Certificate of Lawful Use

DD = Defer and Delegate

DLA = Defer Legal Agreement
PERM = Permit

PNR = Prior Approval Not Required
REF = Refusal

WA = Would Have Approved

WR = Would Have Refused

19/01464/FULL - HENLY AND BEHARRAL HOUSES & LYNWOOD
COURT, LYNWOOD VILLAGE, RISE ROAD, ASCOT

Proposal: Construction of 4 two-bedroom extra care units, additional
staff/resident parking and revised refuse storage/collection facilities, following
the demolition of 2 residential blocks (44 residential units) and the alteration

of the internal floor space of the existing care home to increase the number of

care bedrooms from 93 to 102.
Recommendation: PERM
Applicant: BEN Motor & Allied Benev
Member Call-in:

Expiry Date: 7 November 2019

13-30




19/01513/FULL - SG AUTOPOINT, 437 - 441 ST LEONARDS ROAD,
WINDSOR SL4 3DT

Proposal: Construction of 50 bedroom hotel.
Recommendation: REF

Applicant: Dr Marsden-Huggins

Member Call-in:

Expiry Date: 13 September 2019

19/01701/FULL - SANDRIDGE HOUSE, INCLUDING THE COTTAGE
& THE BUNGALOW, LONDON ROAD, ASCOT

Proposal: 33 No. dwellings, with associated parking and landscaping,
following demolition of existing buildings

Recommendation: REF
Applicant: Patrick Homes Limited
Member Call-in:

Expiry Date: 19 September 2019

19/01714/FULL - SITE OF FORMER 61 TO 63 DEDWORTH ROAD,
WINDSOR SL4 5AZ

Proposal: Mixed use development with retail unit at ground floor and 13 x
apartments above, with access, car parking, servicing and landscaping
following demolition of existing buildings (Part Retrospective).
Recommendation: PERM

Applicant: Patrick Ruddy Homes

Member Call In:

Expiry Date: 29 November 2019

19/01755/FULL - SQUIRES GARDEN CENTRE, MAIDENHEAD
ROAD, WINDSOR SL4 5UB

Proposal: Erection of 37 dwellings including the relocation of existing access
along Maidenhead Road with associated parking, internal circulation, public
open space, landscaping and related infrastructure.

Recommendation: REF

Applicant: Bewley Homes Plc And Square Bay (no5) LLP

Member Call In:

Expiry Date: 13 December 2019

31-58

59 - 92

93 -134

135 - 168




10.

11.

12.

19/01924/FULL - 9-11 IMPERIAL ROAD WINDSOR

Proposal: Construction of x 2 houses and x 14 apartments following
demolition of the existing buildings

Recommendation: PERM
Applicant: Mr Collett
Member Call In:

Expiry Date 11 October 2019

19/02073/FULL - THAMES VALLEY ATHLETICS CENTRE,
POCOCKS LAND, ETON, WINDSOR SL4 6HN

Proposal: Side extension to the existing building to provide an additional
squash court

Recommendation: REF
Applicant: Mr Fenwick
Member Call In:

Expiry Date: 29 October 2019

19/02416/FULL - WINDSOR DIALS, ARTHUR ROAD, WINDSOR SL4
1RS

Proposal: Alterations to the existing roof structures to create an additional
office floor, creation of new entrance lobbies and core areas and
refurbishment of the elevations and public realm to buildings 1 and 2 Windsor
Dials.

Recommendation: PERM

Applicant: British Airways Pension Trustees Limited (CRN453632)

Member Call In: N/A

Expiry Date: 2 December 2019

ESSENTIAL MONITORING REPORTS (MONITORING)

To note the Essential Monitoring reports.

169 - 192

193 - 206

207 - 238

239 - 244







Agenda Item 2

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985

In accordance with the requirements of the Local Government (Access to Information)
Act

1985, each item on this report includes a list of Background Papers that have been
relied

on to a material extent in the formulation of the report and recommendation.

The list of Background Papers will normally include relevant previous planning decisions,
replies to formal consultations and relevant letter of representation received from local
societies, and members of the public. For ease of reference, the total number of letters
received from members of the public will normally be listed as a single Background
Paper,

although a distinction will be made where contrary views are expressed. Any replies to
consultations that are not received by the time the report goes to print will be recorded
as

“Comments Awaited”.

The list will not include published documents such as the Town and Country Planning
Acts

and associated legislation, Department of the Environment Circulars, the Berkshire
Structure Plan, Statutory Local Plans or other forms of Supplementary Planning
Guidance,

as the instructions, advice and policies contained within these documents are common
to

the determination of all planning applications. Any reference to any of these documents
will be made as necessary under the heading “Remarks”.

STATEMENT OF THE HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998

The Human Rights Act 1998 was brought into force in this country on 2nd October 2000,
and it will now, subject to certain exceptions, be directly unlawful for a public authority to
act in a way which is incompatible with a Convention right. In particular, Article 8
(respect

for private and family life) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (peaceful enjoyment of property)
apply to planning decisions. When a planning decision is to be made however, there is
further provision that a public authority must take into account the public interest. In the
vast majority of cases existing planning law has for many years demanded a balancing
exercise between private rights and public interest, and therefore much of this authority’s
decision making will continue to take into account this balance.

The Human Rights Act will not be referred to in the Officer’s report for individual
applications beyond this general statement, unless there are exceptional circumstances
which demand more careful and sensitive consideration of Human Rights issues.



MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS IN MEETINGS
Disclosure at Meetings

If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration of
interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a DPI or Prejudicial
Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest in their Register of Interests they are still required to
disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter being discussed.

A member with a DPI or Prejudicial Interest may make representations at the start of the item but must not
take part in the discussion or vote at a meeting. The speaking time allocated for Members to make
representations is at the discretion of the Chairman of the meeting. In order to avoid any accusations of taking
part in the discussion or vote, after speaking, Members should move away from the panel table to a public area
or, if they wish, leave the room. If the interest declared has not been entered on to a Members’ Register of
Interests, they must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing within the next 28 days following the meeting.

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) (relating to the Member or their partner) include:

e Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain.

e Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit made in respect of any expenses occurred in
carrying out member duties or election expenses.

e Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has not been
fully discharged.

o Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the relevant authority.

e Any licence to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer.

e Any tenancy where the landlord is the relevant authority, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant
person has a beneficial interest.

e Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:
a) that body has a piece of business or land in the area of the relevant authority, and
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued
share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class belonging to the
relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.

Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek advice
from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting.

A Member with a DPI should state in the meeting: 1 declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, | will leave the room/ move to the public area for the
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’

Or, if making representations on the item: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x because xxx.
As soon as we come to that item, | will make representations, then | will leave the room/ move to the
public area for the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’

Prejudicial Interests

Any interest which a reasonable, fair minded and informed member of the public would reasonably believe is so
significant that it harms or impairs the Member’s ability to judge the public interest in the item, i.e. a Member’s
decision making is influenced by their interest so that they are not able to impartially consider relevant issues.

A Member with a Prejudicial interest should state in the meeting: ‘1 declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, | will leave the room/ move to the public area for the
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’

Or, if making representations in the item: 1 declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x because xxx. As soon as
we come to that item, | will make representations, then | will leave the room/ move to the public area for
the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’

Personal interests

Any other connection or association which a member of the public may reasonably think may influence a
Member when making a decision on council matters.

Members with a Personal Interest should state at the meeting: ‘I wish to declare a Personal Interest in item x
because xxx’. As this is a Personal Interest only, | will take part in the discussion and vote on the
matter. 38



Agenda Iltem 3

WINDSOR AREA DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT PANEL

WEDNESDAY, 6 NOVEMBER 2019

PRESENT:  Councillors  Christine Bateson, = John Bowden  (Vice-Chairman),
David Cannon (Chairman), Jon Davey, Karen Davies, David Hilton, Neil Knowles,
Julian Sharpe, Shamsul Shelim and Amy Tisi

Also in attendance: Councillor Ewan Larcombe

Officers: James Carpenter, Andy Carswell, Victoria Gibson, Victoria Goldberg, Jenifer
Jackson, Sean O'Connor and Ashley Smith

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from ClIr Da Costa.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Clir Knowles — declared a personal interest in item 8 as a member of Old Windsor Parish
Council. He stated he had not been present at any meeting where the application had been
discussed.

Clir Davey — declared a personal interest in item 5 as he knew the family living at 153
Clarence Road. He confirmed that he was attending the meeting with an open mind.

Clir Bowden — declared a personal interest in item 7 as he had been on the panel that had
discussed an application at the site some years previously. He stated that he was attending
the meeting with an open mind.

Clir Hilton — declared a personal interest in item 6 as he had previously been a member of
Sunninghill and Ascot Parish Council when the application came forward. In addition his wife
was a member of the Parish Council’'s planning committee. He confirmed that he was
attending the meeting with an open mind.

Clir Sharpe — declared a personal interest in item 6 as his wife was Chairman of Sunninghill

and Ascot Parish Council. He stated that he had had no part in any discussions on the
application and had come to the meeting with an open mind.

MINUTES

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the minutes of the meeting held on 2 October 2019 be
approved.

18/03213/FULL - 6 FRANKLYN CRESCENT, WINDSOR SL4 4YT

18/03213/FULL Side/rear boundary fence (retrospective)

6 Franklyn | A motion was put forward by Councillor Sharpe to approve
Crescent, Windsor | the application, contrary to the officer recommendation,
SL4 4YT subject to the condition that the fence is permanently
removed on or before March 15t 2020. This was seconded
by Councillor Knowles.

The Panel voted to APPROVE the application, subject

9



to the condition that the fence is permanently removed
on or before March 1st 2020.

Five Councillors voted in favour of the motion and five
Councillors voted against the motion. The Chairman
used his casting vote to vote in favour of the motion.

A motion was put forward by Councillor Hilton to refuse the
application. This was not seconded and the motion fell.

(The Panel was addressed by Steve Holliday, the
applicant.)

18/03584/REM - 151-153 CLARENCE ROAD WINDSOR

18/03584/REM Reserved matters application (appearance,
landscaping, layout and scale) pursuant to outline
151-153 Clarence Road, | planning permission 17/02566/OUT (allowed on
Windsor appeal) for demolition of 151-153 Clarence Road
and construction of 3 storey building with
accommodation in the roof and associated car
parking and landscaping [10/10/19] — Amended
design and scale. Floor plans, elevations and site
plan have been amended]

A motion to approve the application, subject to the
conditions listed in Section 11 of the officer report, was
put forward by Councillor Bateson. This was seconded
by Councillor Hilton

The Panel voted unanimously to APPROVE the
application.

19/00729/FULL - BEECHGROVE AND COTTAGE AT BEECHGROVE, CHURCH
LANE, ASCOT

19/00729/FULL Erection of a building comprising 14 apartments plus

basement parking, relocation of the existing Church
Beechgrove and | Lane access, and new landscaping following the
Cottage at | demolition of the existing dwelling and all associated

Beechgrove, Church | outbuildings.
Lane, Ascot
A motion to defer and delegate the application to the
Head of Planning to grant planning permission, subject to
favourable comments from the LLFA relating to SuDs, the
completion of a satisfactory legal agreement securing
mitigation for the harm to the SPA, and the conditions
listed in section 14 of the officer report, was put forward
by Councillor Hilton. This was seconded by Councillor
Bateson.

The Panel voted to APPROVE the motion to authorise
the Head of Planning to grant planning permission.

Seven Councillors voted in favour of the motion; one
Councillor voted against the motion; and two
Councillors abstained.

10




(The Panel was addressed by Douglas Bond, the agent)

19/01555/FULL - DATCHET COMMON, HORTON ROAD, DATCHET, SLOUGH

19/01555/FULL Change of use of land to the stationing/parking of motor
vehicles and siting of a porta-cabin (Retrospective)
Datchet Common,
Horton Road, | A motion to defer the application to the next meeting in order
Datchet, Slough to allow for Members to attend an officer-led site visit was put
forward by Councillor Bowden. This was seconded by
Councillor Hilton.

The Panel voted to defer the application to the next
meeting.

Eight Councillors voted in favour of the motion and two
Councillors voted against the motion.

(The Panel was addressed by Mr Loveridge, the applicant,
and by Councillor Larcombe)

19/01761/FULL - ST PETERS CE MIDDLE SCHOOL, CRIMP HILL, OLD WINDSOR,
WINDSOR SL4 2QP

19/01761/FULL Proposed two storey classroom block, new cycle store
and alterations to the boundary treatment including new
St Peter's CE | pedestrian and vehicular entrance gates, following
Middle School, | demolition of the existing single storey building.

Crimp Hill, Oid
Windsor, Windsor | A motion to approve the application, subject to the conditions
SL4 2QP listed in section 10 of the officer report, the condition listed in
section 2 of the panel update, and the new condition that
new trees should be planted to replace those lost as part of
the works within a reasonable timeframe, was put forward by
Councillor Knowles. This was seconded by Councillor Davey.

The Panel voted unanimously to APPROVE the
application.

(The Panel was addressed by Andy Snipp, the headteacher)

ESSENTIAL MONITORING REPORTS (MONITORING)

Members noted the contents of the reports.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the public be excluded from the remainder of the
meeting whilst discussion takes place on item 11 on the grounds that :
(i) under Section 100 (A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, that it involves the
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 1, 2 and 6 of
Part | of Schedule 12A of the Act and the public interest in maintaining the
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information;

11



(ii) under Section 100 (A)(2) of the Local Government Act 1972, that it involves
confidential information where disclosure would be in breach of an
obligation of confidence.

PLANNING APPLICATION (DECISION) 19/01452

The discussions on this item took place in Part Il, although it was agreed that the decision
would be recorded in Part | of the minutes.

19/01452/FULL Water infrastructure replacement works at Home Park,
Windsor Castle and Romney Lock

Land and Buildings
at Romney Lock | A motion to approve the application, subject to the
and Home Park, | conditions listed in the officer report, was put forward by
King Edward VII | Councillor Hilton. This was seconded by Councillor
Avenue, Windsor Knowles.

The Panel voted unanimously to APPROVE the
application.

The Panel gave their thanks to Jenifer Jackson, who was leaving her position as Head of
Planning at the Royal Borough.

The meeting, which began at 7.00 pm, finished at 8.57 pm

CHAIRMAN. ... .o

12



Agenda ltem 4

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD
PLANNING COMMITTEE

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

4 December 2019 Item: 4

Application 19/01464/FULL

No.:

Location: Henly And Beharral Houses And Lynwood Court Lynwood Village Rise Road Ascot

Proposal: Construction of 4 two-bedroom extra care units, additional staff/resident parking and
revised refuse storage/collection facilities, following the demolition of 2 residential
blocks (44 residential units) and the alteration of the internal floor space of the existing
care home to increase the number of care bedrooms from 93 to 102.

Applicant: BEN- Motor And Allied Trades Benev

Agent: Mr John Sneddon

Parish/Ward:  Sunninghill And Ascot Parish/Sunningdale And Cheapside

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Victoria Gibson on 01628 685693 or at
victoria.gibson@rbwm.gov.uk

1.

11

1.2

1.3

3.1

SUMMARY

The proposed development as a whole is considered appropriate development in the Green Belt
and would not cause harm to the character and appearance of the area or result in the loss of
important trees.

The proposal would provide 43 additional car parking spaces required to alleviate the acute
parking problem experienced in the area by the re development of the care village. A significant
number of cars 40-50 are currently using an area of land adjacent to the care village to park.
This area of land was only meant to be used for parking during the construction phase of the
care village and is required to be restored to open grassland. Given that the redevelopment of
the care village provided significantly less car parking than the Council’'s maximum standards
and on street parking along Rise Road is prohibited, in this instance no objection is raised to the
over provision of car parking in connection with this application.

The proposed development has provided the necessary mitigation in order to protect bats
(protected species) and the proposal would not either alone or in combination have a significant
impact on the integrity of the Thames Basin Heaths.

It is recommended the Panel grants planning permission with the conditions listed in
Section 13 of this report.

REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION

e The Council's Constitution does not give the Head of Planning delegated powers to
determine the application in the way recommended; such decisions can only be made by the
Panel.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

The application site forms part of the Lynwood Estate which comprises 7.9 hectares of land, the
majority of which is landscaped gardens and meadow land. The site lies adjacent to the Excluded
Settlement of Sunningdale and is within the Green Belt. The site is also covered by an area Tree
Preservation Order. There are residential properties to the north, east and west of the site. The
railway line runs along the southern boundary.

13



3.2

4.1

5.1

5.2

The developer (BEN) have recently completed building a care village after obtaining planning
permission in June 2012 for the demolition of existing buildings that consisted of an 87 bed care
home, national charity headquarters, 4 sheltered housing units and ancillary service buildings
and the erection of replacement buildings consisting of a 93 bed nursing and dementia care
home, elderly day care centre, communal facilities, staff accommodation, 171 Extra Care Units in
the C2 Use Class for the elderly, replacement national charity headquarters, ancillary service
buildings, alteration of existing vehicle access points, formation of a new vehicle access and the
change of use of 3 existing dwellings to 3 Extra Care Units.

KEY CONSTRAINTS

Green Belt
Trees protected by a Tree Preservation Order
Protected Species

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

Henly and Beharrell Houses are proposed to be demolished under this application, they are two
relatively modern blocks from the 1980’s located at the western end of the site opposite
Heathfield Drive and immediately to the south of Rise Road/Kings Road. They contain 44
individual residential C2 units consisting of a mixture of apartments and bedsit type
accommodation over three storeys. The buildings have been in a poor state of repair for a long
time and the type of accommodation is not of a high quality in terms of space layout and
accessibility.

Henly and Beharrell House have 19 dedicated parking spaces accessed from the internal access
road within the site, these parking spaces would also be removed as part of this proposal. The
proposed redevelopment as amended would then be as follows:

i) A car park of 43 spaces to be used by staff, visitors and residents.(Previously
53 but amended plans received removing spaces that were too close to trees).
i) Four two-bedroom extra care units in two semi-detached blocks that are

identical to the blocks located on the north side of the boulevard that consist
of 10 units in five blocks. The new units will have their own dedicated parking
spaces separate from the 43 cited above. They will have one space each in
the same orientation and location as the five other blocks (i.e a total car
parking provision of 47).

iif) A new recycling refuse storage and collection area at the western side of the
car park. Amended plans have been received re-siting these facilities so that
they are further away from protected trees.

iv) Increase the number of beds within the existing Care Home facility (Lynwood
Court) from the 97 approved in 2012 to 102. These works have already been
carried out and were achieved by revising the staff rest areas and revisions to
the proposed day care/communal areas at the North West corner of the care
home/headquarters building. There are very minimal external changes
associated (window alterations) with these rooms.

Reference Description Decision and
Date

11/03236/FULL | Erection of replacement buildings consisting of a | Approved

93 bed nursing and dementia care home, elderly | 21.06.2012
day care centre, communal facilities, staff
accommodation, 171 Extra Care Units in the C2
Use Class for the elderly, replacement national

14



5.3

charity headquarters, ancillary service buildings,
alteration of existing vehicle access points,
formation of a new vehicle access and the
change of use of 3 existing dwellings to 3 Extra
Care Units in the C2 Use Class.

13/00091/VAR

Variation of 11/03236 to increase the number of 2
bedroom units and reduce the number of 1
bedroom units. Balconies added to Blocks C, D
and E (as amended to remove balconies from
East elevation of E). The position of Block F
(which consists of 3 small blocks) is altered by
movement to the west. Minor window, roof and
footprint alterations to Block C.

Approved
23.03.2013

13/03513/FULL

Erection of maintenance/storage shed, two semi-
detached blocks to form four extra care units and
additional car parking

Refused 7.04.2014

13/03512/FULL

Erection of 16 replacement extra care apartments
(C2)

Refused
28.07.2014

14/01559/FULL

Erection of two semi detached blocks to form four
extra care units and additional car parking.
Amended proposal to planning application
13/03513

Approved
09.01.2015

15/01733/VAR

Variation application 13/00091/VAR to allow
alterations to Blocks C,D and E to increase the
number of 2 bedroom units and reduce the
number of 1 bedroom units. Balconies added to
Blocks C, D and E (as amended to remove
balconies from East elevation of E). The position
of Block F (which consists of 3 small blocks) is
altered by movement to the west. Minor window,
roof and footprint alterations to Block C as
approved under planning permission
13/00091/VAR without complying with condition
20 (approved plans) to substitute approved plans.

Approved
10.09.2015

17/00034/FULL

Construction of new building comprising of 32
apartments to include 30 x 2 bed and 2 x 3 bed
and additional parking facilities  following
demolition of the existing Henly House and
Beharrell House

Withdrawn
26.06.2018

17/00040/FULL

Construction of x 4 semi detached two-bedroom
care units.

Withdrawn
26.06.2018

17/00047/FULL

Three storey front extension to create disabled
access lift and amendments to fenestration on
second floor side elevation

Approved
14.11.2017

19/02719/DEM

Prior Notification of the proposed demolition of
the 2no. residential blocks (44 residential units).

Refused
25.10.2019

Purpose of this application

The parking requirements for the care village under application 11/03236/FULL were justified as

follows:

“The proposal generates a maximum demand for 232 parking spaces. The schemes provides

162 spaces. The applicants’ justifications for a reduction in the parking provision for the
development are listed below:-

15




-Car ownership for Sheltered Accommodation tends to be around 0.5 cars per unit;

-The care home would provide accommodation for young disabled and dementia residents, none
of which are likely to own a car;

-Car ownership for extra care units tends to be between 0.2 and 0.3 cars per unit;

-One bedroom extra care apartments are occupied by one resident and two bedroom extra care
apartments are occupied by between one and 1.2 residents.

Now that the care village is fully occupied and operational Ben Lynwood have found that the car
parking spaces provided are not sufficient and this has resulted in over spill car parking (approx.
40-50 cars) taking place on a previously undeveloped part of the site which was only meant to be
used as a car park temporarily while the care village was being constructed. It appears that this
now unauthorised area of car parking is primarily used by staff of the care village. This
application seeks to provide alternative parking provision.

6.1

DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Adopted Royal Borough Local Plan (2003)

The main Development Plan policies applying to the site are:

Issue Adopted Local Plan Policy
Green Belt GB1 and GB2
Design in keeping with character and appearance DGL, H10,H11
of area
Highways P4 AND T5
Trees N6

These policies can be found at

https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local plan documents and appendices

Adopted Ascot Sunninghill and Sunningdale Neighbourhood Plan (2011-2026)

Issue

Neighbourhood Plan Policy

Design in keeping with character and appearance
of area

DG1, DG2 and DG3

Highways T1
Trees EN2
Gaps between villages EN1

These policies can be found at

https://www3.rbwm.qgov.uk/info/200209/planning policy/477/neighbourhood plans/2

Adopted The South East Plan — Regional Spatial Strategy

Issue

Plan Policy

Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area

NRM6

MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

National Planning Policy Framework Sections (NPPF) (2019)

Section 4- Decision—making
Section 9- Promoting Sustainable Transport

16



https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200209/planning_policy/477/neighbourhood_plans/2

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.3

Section 12- Achieving well-designed places
Section 13- Protecting Green Belt land

Borough Local Plan: Modifications Version

Issue Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance
of area SP2, SP3
Sustainable Transport IF2
Trees NR2
Green Belt SP5

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version Proposed Changes (2019)

Issue Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance QP1,0P3
of area
Sustainable Transport IF2
Trees NR3
Green Belt QPS5

The NPPF sets out that decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans
according to their stage of preparation. The Borough Local Plan Submission Document was
published in June 2017. Public consultation ran from 30 June to 27 September 2017. Following
this process the Council prepared a report summarising the issues raised in the repres entations
and setting out its response to them. This report, together with all the representations received
during the representation period, the plan and its supporting documents was submitted to the
Secretary of State for independent examination in January 2018. The Submission Version of the
Borough Local Plan does not form part of the statutory development plan for the Borough.

In December 2018, the examination process was paused to enable the Council to undertake
additional work to address soundness issues raised by the Inspector. Following completion of
that work, in October 2019 the Council approved a series of Proposed Changes to the BLPSV
which are now out to public consultation until Sunday, 15 December 2019. All representations
received will be reviewed by the Council to establish whether further changes are necessary
before the Proposed Changes are submitted to the Inspector. In due course the Inspector will
resume the Examination of the BLPSV. The BLPSV and the BLPSV together with the Proposed
Changes are therefore material considerations for decision-making. However, given the above
both should be given limited weight.

These documents can be found at;
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/blp

Supplementary Planning Documents

RBWM Thames Basin Health’s SPA

Other Local Strategies or Publications

Other Strategies or publications material to the proposal are:
. RBWM Townscape Assessment

. RBWM Parking Strategy

More information on these documents can be found at:

17


https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/blp

8.1

8.2

8.3

https://lwww3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local development framework/494/supplementary planni
ng

CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT
Comments from interested parties
81 occupiers were notified directly of the application.

The planning officer posted a notice advertising the application at the site on 4" June 2019 and
the application was advertised in the Local Press 6" June 2019.

1x letter of representation was received to the application, summarised as:

Comment )
Officers Response

1. | No objecton to the proposed | Thisisa managementissue to be resolved
development but concerns are raised to | between Ben Lynwood and the contractor put
the construction phase because of the | in place to carry out the works. Any new
narrow entrance/exit to the development | access would cause harm to trees and would
which is already very busy with everyday | not be supported by the Local Planning
deliveries. There are also concerns over | Authority.

the increased volume of site traffic with
vulnerable  people walking around.
Therefore is it possible to allow a
temporary site entrance exit to be made
until completion.

Consultees

Where in the
Consultee Comment report this is

considered
Trees Objections to the original plans. 9.7

Amended Plans — the parking bays by the trees next to Rise
Road have been removed and the bin storage and
associated parking bays back a little from the woodland.
However, they will need to submit a BS5837 compliant tree
protection plan prior to the determination of the application. |
still have some concern regarding the lack of soft ground and
provision for rooting for the new trees they show in the
parking areas. In particular, the trees where the kerb edge is
very close to the root ball on both sides, as this will restrict
the growth of these trees. Regardless, the pit details etc. will
need to be revised to match the amended plan. A knee high
wooden rail will need to be installed at the driveway edge to
protect trees along the frontage next to rise Road and the
woodland to the west — details will need to be submitted for
approval.

Ecology No objection subject to planning conditions to secure the | 9.18
necessary mitigation and officers being satisfied the proposal
is compliance with the Habitat Regulations and, in particular,

the three tests set out in sub-paragraphs 55(2)(e), (9)(a) and

18


https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning

0.

9.1

(9)(b).

LLFA

Further information is required

9.20

Highways

No objection however cycle parking should be provided.
Comments awaited regarding amended plans and will be
reported in the Panel Update

9.8-9.17

Ascot and
Sunninghill
Parish
Council

The Committee were extremely concerned at the small
number of additional parking spaces created for staff and
visitors. Table 3.2 assesses the number of parking spaces
required as 246, yet only 208 are to be provided. The
committee approximate that at present up to 100 cars park
on the greenbelt gap on a daily basis and additional parking
to accommodate these will need to be provided within the
care village site as there is no street parking capacity. The
Committee considered that the scale of the original
application was ‘over development’ of the site and contrary
to Green Belt policies.

As there is no construction taking place on site, the
“temporary” parking in the “gap between the villages” should
be closed forthwith and returned to its original condition as
per the previous conditions.

Comments awaited regarding amended plans and will be
reported in the Panel Update

9.8-9.17

Sunningdale
Parish
Council

The applicants number of existing car parking spaces
appears not be correct. There are currently approx. 100 cars
parking on site this proposal does not seem adequate to
address this problem. Objections are also raised regarding
trees. A very detailed objection letter was submitted and can
be viewed on the Council’s web site.

Comments awaited regarding the amended plans and will be
reported in the Panel Update.

All of report

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION

The proposed changes to the existing Care Home facility (Lynwood Court) are effectively
internal reconfigurations and could be argued not to fall within the definition of ‘development’ as
contained in section 55 of the Town and Country Planning Act (1990). In any case, these are
not considered to raise any material issues not already addressed as part of the previous
planning permission on this site. Accordingly the below assessment is focused on the proposed
redevelopment to the north western corner of the site, currently known as Henly House and
Beharrell House. The key issues for consideration are:

i Green Belt

ii Loss of Care Units

i Character of the Area and Impact on trees

i Highways

19




9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

9.5

9.6

Vi Ecology

v Impact on Special Protection Area
Vi Drainage
Green Belt

Paragraph 145 of the NPPF states that “limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment
of previously developed land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary
buildings), which would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the
existing development can be considered appropriate development in the Green Belt”. The
proposal does involves the demolition of 2x substantial three storey blocks of accommodation
and on the footprint of these former large blocks providing surface car parking and 4 x semi-
detached modest properties. This redevelopment would result in a significant reduction in the
bulk and mass of built form across this part of the site. Furthermore the proposed car parking
area and new refuse facilities are predominately within the existing built up envelope of the site.
For the above reasons the spatial and visual impact of the proposed development would have no
greater (and arguably less) impact on the openness of the Green Belt.

Whilst the proposal is not strictly in accordance with Development Plan policy GB1 limited weight
is afforded to this policy as it is not in conformity with paragraph 145 of the NPPF which is the
most up to date government guidance.

Loss of Care Units

The proposal would result in the net loss of forty C2 (residential institutions) units. Local and
National planning policies looks to encourage a wide form of accommodation including the
provision of care facilities such as C2 use. There are no planning policies which restrict the loss
of such use within the adopted Development Plan. Paragraph 123 of the NPPF sets out that local
planning authorities should refuse applications which they consider fail to make efficient use of
land, taking into account the policies in this Framework. Clearly this development would make
less efficient use of land than the current buildings on the site, however wider consideration
needs to be given to the green belt location and the policies regarding openness. Given that there
is no evidence to suggest that there is a shortage of C2 accommodation in the borough and
taking into account that since the redevelopment of the site there has been a significant uplift in
the quantity of C2 provision provided on the site no objection is raised on this basis.

Impact on the character of the areaincluding the gap between settlements and trees

Amended plans have been submitted which remove the car parking spaces initially proposed
along the frontage of the site. This ensures the landscaping and trees along this frontage remain,
which is important to the character and appearance of the area.

The demolition of the two large blocks and their replacement with the 4x semi-detached houses
is seen as visually improving the character and appearance of the area by reducing the scale and
massing and overall level of built form. Furthermore, the car parking areas have been broken up
by areas of soft landscaping and the refuse recycling area is well screened from the boundaries
of the site. For these reasons the proposed development would not cause harm to the character
and appearance of the area.

As the proposed redevelopment would result in less built form on this part of the site and is
primarily contained within the existing built envelope of development. Therefore the proposal
would not harm or erode the gap between settlements and is in compliance with Neighbourhood
Plan policy NP/ENL.

20



9.7

9.8

9.9

9.10

9.11

9.12

Subject to a tree protection plan and some of the landscaping information being updated to take
into account the amended parking layout, the tree officer raises no objection. 2 Norway Maples
are proposed to be removed to make way for the care units however these trees are Category 3
trees and contribute visually very little to the visual amenities of the area. Furthermore some
additional planting and landscaping will be secured under this application through recommended
conditions.

Highways

The Council has adopted Parking Standards which provide are maximum standards, adopted in
2004. The NPPF resists maximum standards and encourages local authorities, where setting
parking standards, for them to be based on local circumstances.

Based on the Council’s current Parking Standards this proposal only generates a total
requirement of 7 car parking spaces, four to serve the extra care units and a maximum of 3 to
serve 5 additional care home bedrooms. As a total of 47 car parking spaces are proposed, 40
additional car parking spaces are being provided to serve the existing development on the site.

When the care home was redeveloped (planning permission 11/03236/FULL) the aforementioned
Parking Standards required a maximum of 232 parking spaces to be provided. However, the
redevelopment proposed a total of 162 spaces and based on the then justification this was
considered to be appropriate. Subsequent variation applications and new full applications have
since been approved where the total number of spaces provided changed to 151 for the scheme
as a whole.

The table below sets out the approved development compared with the proposed development.

Scheme Element Existing Proposed

Sheltered Accommodation | 44 units Removed
flats (Henly House and

Beharrell House)

Care Home 93 beds 102 bed
Extra Care Apartments 164 units 168 units
Office Charity Headquarters | 870.5 sgm 870.5 sgm
(GFA)

Parking 151 Spaces* 198 Spaces

* plus 19 original spaces for Henley House and Beharrell House

Now that the care home is occupied it has become clear that the 151 car parking spaces
provided are not sufficient. The applicant has stated that this is because many of their residents
are hanging onto their cars despite not making much use of them and staff numbers on the care
side and with the headquarters have been higher than projected in the original application(s).

21



9.13

9.14

9.15

9.16

9.17

9.18

9.19

9.20

In an effort to promote sustainable modes of transport and in accordance the NPPF and the
applicant’s travel plan the following initiatives have been implemented at the wider :

Provision of safe and secure cycle facilities

Provision of clothes drying, showering and changing facilities for cyclists
Promotion of local bus/train services (limited)

Promoted a car share scheme

Provision of secure parking and changing facilities for motorcyclists
Safety audits on identified safer routes for pedestrians

Travel information for visitors *

Explored timing of local bus services to suit work hours *

Flexible working hours *

Implement home working where appropriate

Introduce mileage payments for cycling on company business
Considerable reduction of company cars

Restricting provision of staff car parking spaces

The following initiatives are being considered:

Subsidy of public transport season tickets for staff

Make available low cost or interest free loans for the purchase of passes or cycles *
Provide pool cars or cycles for business travel

Set up travel user groups

The following initiatives have been discarded

e Incentives for diesel
e Introducing parking permits (or parking charges)

The first transport use survey is due next year although some surveys on car ownership on
residents/office staff have now have been done this year and they have informed the measures
above and will continue to do so.

The proposed level of car parking across the site would still be less than the Council’s maximum
standards and given that this is in an area of poor accessibility and the acute problem that is
being experienced presently no objection is raised to the proposal on highway grounds or parking
provision.

Whilst the Parish Council has requested more car parking spaces this would start to impact the
trees important to the character and appearance of the area or start to encroach out onto
undeveloped Green Belt land. Officers consider that this application secures a good balance of
providing sufficient car parking to support the use of the wider site whilst preventing the site from
appearing over developed and causing harm.

Highways raise no objection to the proposed parking provision or its layout. They have requested
more cycle spaces however in order to provide these it would either result in encroachment into
underdeveloped green belt, resulting in harm to trees or reduce the number of car parking spaces
provided- moreover it is not considered reasonably related to a scheme for 4 units. Suitable and
appropriate cycle storage is already provided elsewhere on the wider site.

Ecology
The applicant’s ecologist has provided details of mitigation measures to ensure the maintenance

of the population of bats on site. These include details of bat roost boxes for temporary use
during development which will be installed onto nearby trees, ecological supervision during

22



9.21

9.22

10.

10.1

11.

111

12.

13.

demolition, installation of bat tubes or bat access points within the proposed new buildings, a
sensitive lighting strategy and sensitive timing of the works to avoid the hibernation period.
These mitigation and compensation measures will be detailed within a method statement to
accompany a European Protected Species licence (EPSL) prior to the commencement of works.
Therefore, it is likely that the development proposals will not have a detrimental effect to the
maintenance of the populations of bats species at a favourable conservation status in their
natural range, as long as the mitigation and compensation measures are followed.

Impact on Special Protection Area

The proposed development would result in a loss of C2 units and therefore the proposal would
not impact the integrity of the Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area. As such no
appropriate assessment is required.

Drainage

This application will reduce any impact on foul sewer capacity due to the reduction in
accommodation. Paragraph 165 of NPPF states that all ‘major’ planning applications must
incorporates sustainable drainage systems unless there is clear evidence that this would be
inappropriate. This proposal will also remove areas of hard surface and produce more permeable
areas of development. Therefore and whilst the LLFA has required more information, given the
reduction of built form on the site officers consider that it is possible to secure this by planning
condition.

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)

The development is CIL liable. However given that there is a reduction in floor area there would
be no CIL to pay.

PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION

The proposed development would cause no harm to the Green Belt, character of the area, trees,
protected species or protected habitat. Furthermore the public benefit of being able to
accommodate a substantial amount of the overspill parking currently experienced and causing
harm to an undeveloped area of the Green Belt weighs significantly in favour of the development.

APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

e Appendix A - Site location Plan
e Appendix B — Site Layout plan and elevation drawings
e Appendix C - Plan and elevation drawings

CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED FOR INCLUSION IF PERMISSION IS GRANTED

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced within three years from the date of this
permission.

Reason: To accord with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(as amended).

The hereby permitted 4 two bedroom extra care units shall only be used as C2 Institutional
Residential Accommodation in accordance with the legal agreement definition as agreed under
application 11/03236/FULL.

Reason: To ensure that the development, either on its own or in combination with other plans or
projects, does not have a significant adverse effect on a European site within the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010.

The materials to be used on the external surfaces of the development shall be in accordance with
those specified in the application unless any different materials are first agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved

23



10

11

details.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DGL1.
The development shall not be occupied until all walls, fencing or any other means of enclosure
(including any retaining walls and fencing to prevent encroachment into the protected tree area) ,
have been constructed in accordance with details that have first been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory resultant appearance and standard of amenity of the site and
the surrounding area. Relevant Policy - Local Plan DGL.

All works shall be carried out in accordance with the Bat Survey prepared by Richard Tofts
Ecology strategy unless otherwise approved in writing by the council.

Reason: To ensure that protected species are safeguarded in line with wildlife legislation and
Policy NR3 of the submitted Local Plan.

No external lighting (including floodlighting) shall be installed until a report detailing the lighting
scheme and how this will not adversely impact upon wildlife has been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The report shall include the following figures and
appendices:- A layout plan with beam orientation - A schedule of equipment - Measures to avoid
glare - An isolux contour map showing light spillage to 1 lux both vertically and horizontally and
areas identified as being of ecological importance.- Hours of operation of any external lighting.
The approved lighting plan shall thereafter be implemented as agreed.

Reason: To ensure that wildlife is not adversely affected by the proposed development in line
with the NPPF.

The erection of fencing for the protection of any retained tree and any other protection specified
shall be undertaken in accordance with the approved plans and particulars before any
equipment, machinery or materials are brought on to the site, and thereafter maintained until the
completion of all construction work and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have
been permanently removed from the site. Nothing shall be stored or placed in any area fenced in
accordance with this condition and the ground levels within those areas shall not be altered, nor
shall any excavation be made, without the written approval of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To protect trees which contribute to the visual amenities of the site and surrounding
area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1, N6.

All hard and soft landscape works including replacement planting shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of
any part of the development, or in accordance with a programme first agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority, and retained in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure satisfactory landscaping of the site in the interests of visual amenity.
Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1.

No part of the development shall be occupied until vehicle parking and turning space has been
provided, surfaced and marked out in accordance with the approved drawing. The space
approved shall be kept available for parking and turning in association with the development.
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities and in order
to justify the loss of C2 units on the site and to accord with the planning application. Relevant
Policies - Local Plan P4, DG1.

Prior to the commencement of development hereby permitted, details of a sustainable drainage
system to be installed to dispose of surface water within the site shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall proceed only in
accordance with the approved details and the measures approved shall remain in place
thereafter and maintained to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality, improve
habitat and amenity and ensure future maintenance of the surface water drainage system in
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. (NPPF)

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans
listed below.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
particulars and plans.

Informatives

24



The applicant is advised that a licence for development works affecting bats needs to be
obtained from the Statutory Nature Conservation Organisation (Natural England) prior to
commencement on site. Thereafter mitigation measures approved in the licence shall be
maintained in accordance with the approved detalils.

25



Location Plan

26



Site Layout Existing

[EE——— N I N I |

27



Site Layout Proposed

R
———— e - o

- e
T WM ——

——-— -— TR AT S| W e WD e - e

DO PO TR STV VYO

s Lo
R s g vk sy o 9

Ll L
Caromd | upa Bl RORESY TW ¥

Wl nan g e ) ) By E

ey SOUR|ISUIESH

! <p
N ?,

28



Elevations and Floor Plans to Extra Care Units

Py |
!1’
r

i f i
1 3
: P
3 |
iy
3

| | &

| — ——— p——" — p———t — a0 |

..
.... Ve e e it B o 10 B w0 - b

LT AT MO P

- TTA
-2

AA S an

29



Proposed Refuse

r.’f'-ﬂy:“'..h

FLOOR Py

- A v
-y bt

b

PR

-

WY VT ) b L —

30



Agenda Item 5

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

4 December 2019 Item: 5
Application 19/01513/FULL

No.:

Location: S G Autopoint 437 - 441 StLeonards Road Windsor SL4 3DT

Proposal: Construction of 50 bedroom hotel.

Applicant: Dr Marsden-Huggins

Agent: Mr Andrew Ransome

Parish/Ward:  Windsor Unparished/Clewer East

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Antonia Liu on 01628 796034 or at
antonia.liu@rbwm.gov.uk

1. SUMMARY

11 The proposal is for a 50-bed hotel with associated facilities at 437-441 St Leonards Road,
Windsor, which is an edge of town centre site. This application follows a previous refusal for an
outline application with all matters reserved for the development of a 61 bed Premier Inn Hotel
with restaurant and bar, ref: 17/00543/OUT and a withdrawn scheme for a 56-bed hotel with
associated facilities, ref: 18/02391/FULL.

1.2 The proposal scheme fails to satisfactorily demonstrate that there are no suitable or available
sequentially preferable sites within the town centre. The proposal is also considered to result in
an overly dominant and disproportionate building that fails to have sufficient regard to and
successfully relate with the adjacent buildings to the east. There is also a recommended reason
for refusal relating to the impact on existing and proposed trees to the detriment of local
character and appearance. The impact on highway safety and parking, neighbouring amenity,
contaminated land and air quality, flood risk and surface water drainage, and ecology are
considered to be acceptable.

It is recommended the Panel refuses planning permission for the following summarised
reasons (the full reasons are identified in Section 13 of this report):

1. | The Sequential Assessment fails to demonstrate that there are no suitable and available
sequentially preferable sites in the town centre.

2. | By reason of its siting, form, height, scale, bulk, mass of the proposed building, amount of
hardstanding, and lack of soft landscaping the proposed development would represent an
unduly disproportionate and dominant building. Together with associated development, it is
considered that the proposal would result in over development of the site. The proposed
development also fails to respect the scale and appearance of this part of the street, to the
detriment of the character of the streetscene and surrounding area. Therefore, the proposal
would be detrimental to the character and appearance of the streetscene and locality.

3. | By reason of its siting and scale, the proposed development would prejudice the long term
future health and longevity of proposed trees. Together with the loss of existing trees, the
proposal would detract from the character and appearance of the locality.

2. REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION

. The Council's Constitution does not give the Head of Planning delegated powers to
determine the application in the way recommended; such decisions can only be made by
the Panel.

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

31



3.1

3.2

4.1

5.1

5.2

5.3

54

The application site measuring approximately 0.15ha in size lies within the settlement area of
Windsor, and is located on the south side of St Leonards Road opposite the junction with Imperial
Road, both classified B-Roads. The site has previously been used as a garage and more recently
has been operating for car sales. To the south-east of the site is no. 437 St Leonards Road, a
single storey building with a mansard roof. This building has the appearance of a dwellinghouse,
but its last use was for an office. It is currently unoccupied. To the south-west of the site is a
single storey building with the appearance of a workshop where the car sales operates from. To
the front (north) of these buildings is a forecourt with two vehicular access points onto St
Leonards Road.

The surrounding area is characterised by residential developments. To the north lies Imperial
Court, a three storey flatted development. A more recently built flatted development adjoins the
west boundary of the site known as Littleacre. To the east of the site is a row of two to two and a
half storey semi-detached and terraced dwellings. To the rear the site borders part of Windsor
Cemetery.

KEY CONSTRAINTS

Given its former use the land is classed as contaminated land.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

The application seeks permission for a 50-bed hotel with associated facilities at 437-441 St
Leonards Road, Windsor. The design of the proposed building is contemporary with flat roofs,
stepped heights and elevations. The massing mainly comprises of 4 elements with a single storey
element to the rear (south elevation) measuring approximately 3.3m in height with a footprint of
approximately 62sgm; a 2-storey element on both sides (east and west elevation) measuring
approximately 6.7m in height with a footprint of approximately 50sgm; a 3 storey central element
measuring approximately 9m in height and a recessed fourth storey measuring approximately
11m in height with a floor area of approximately 333sgm. The primary materials are brick and
zinc cladding for the external elevations with anodised effect PPC aluminium window frames.

Access to a basement car park, measuring approximately 940sqm, is via a ramp located to the
west of the site. At basement level there are 49 car parking spaces, 19 of which are provided by
car stackers, and 4 Sheffield cycle parking stands. To accommodate the car stackers, there is a
change in ground level within the basement from approximately 2.8 to approximately 3.8 BOD
(Below Ordinance Datum). On the ground floor is the main reception, 9 bedrooms, restaurant for
50 covers, kitchen, staff welfare facilities, plant room and stores. On the first floor are 17
bedrooms and a store room, on the second floor are 13 bedrooms and store room, and on the
third floor are 11 bedrooms and store room. A lift shaft and stairway runs through the central core
of the building.

There are two vehicular accesses to the site off Leonards Road, which are proposed to remain,
operating as an in-out accesses with entry at the eastern access point and exit at the western.

On 25 July 2017 permission was refused for an outline planning application (with all matters
reserved) for the development of a 61 bed Premier Inn hotel with restaurant and bar, ref:
17/00543/OUT. The application was refused for the following reasons (summarised):

e The proposal fails to demonstrate that the proposal passed the sequential test to show
there were no suitable and available sequentially preferable sites in the town centre
and/or edge of centre, and flexibility on the format and scale of the alternative sites were
considered.

e The proposal fails to demonstrate the cumulative air quality impacts of the development
on the Imperial/lLeonards Road junction AQMA as it does not consider the impact of
LEGOLAND developments and traffic from Clewer Hill Road at Winkfield Road Junction.

32



5.5

6.

6.1

e The scheme fails to consider surface water flooding of the site and whether the proposed
development will exacerbate the risk of surface water flooding on or off the site.

e By reason of its proposed indicative layout, siting, scale, bulk, massing, proportions, form,
design and finish the proposed development would constitute an unacceptable
overdevelopment of the site, and be visually incongruous and overly dominant in this part
of the street.

e By reason of its indicative design, scale, proportions, form and massing the proposed
development is considered to appear as a visually dominant and overbearing addition that
would erode the outlook of the residential occupiers to the east and west of the site to an
unacceptable degree.

On the 29 January 2019 a FULL planning application for a 56 bed hotel, ref: 18/02391/FULL,
was withdrawn by the applicant following concerns raised on the Town Centre Sequential Test
to demonstrate that there are no suitable and available sequentially preferable sites in the town
centre or edge of town centre; the siting, form, height, scale, mass, bulk and lack of adequate
landscaping of the proposed building which would represent an unduly dominant and intrusive
form of development; loss of privacy to and visual impact when viewed from 1-14 Littleacre and
failure to demonstrate no undue loss of sunlight and daylight to 1-14 Littleacre and no. 435 St
Leonards Road to the detriment of their residential amenity; and impact on the health and
longevity of proposed trees together with the loss of existing trees as a result of the
development which would detract from the character and appearance of the locality.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Adopted Royal Borough Local Plan (2003)

The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are:

Issue Adopted Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance of area DG1
Highways Safety and Parking T5,T7, P4
Visitor Accommodation T™M2
Trees NG
Noise and Disturbance NAP3
Groundwater and Surface Water NAP4

These policies can be found at
https ://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local plan documents and appendices

MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
National Planning Policy Framework Sections (NPPF) (2019)

Section 2 — Achieving Sustainable Development

Section 4 — Decision-Making

Section 6 — Building a Strong, Competitive Economy

Section 7 — Ensuring the Vitality of Town Centres

Section 8 — Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities

Section 9 — Promoting Sustainable Transport

Section 11 — Making Effective Use of Land

Section 12 — Achieving Well-Designed Places

Section 15 — Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment

National Design Guide

33


https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices

7.1

7.2

7.3

This document was published in October 2019 and seeks to illustrate how well-designed places
that are beautiful, enduring and successful can be achieved in practice. It forms part of the
Government’s collection of planning practice guidance and should be read alongside the
separate planning practice guidance on design process and tools. The focus of the design guide
is lo tool at layout, from, scale, appearance, landscape, materials and detailing. It further
highlights ten characteristics help which work together to create its physical Character, these are
context, identify, built forms, movement, nature, public spaces, uses, homes and buildings,

resources and life span.

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version

Issue

Local Plan Palicy

Design in keeping with character and appearance of area SP2, SP3
Visitor Accommodation TR2, TR5, VT1
Trees NR2
Contaminated Land and Water EP5
Provision of Infrastructure IF1
Sustainable Transport IF2

Pollution (Noise, Air and Light)

EP1, EP2, EP3, EP4

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version Proposed Changes (2019)

Issue Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance of area QP1,0P3
Visitor Accommodation TR2, TR5, VT1
Trees NR3
Contaminated Land and Water EP5
Provision of Infrastructure IF1
Sustainable Transport IF2

Pollution (Noise, Air and Light)

EP1, EP2, EP3, EP4

The NPPF sets out that decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans
according to their stage of preparation. The Borough Local Plan Submission Document was
published in June 2017. Public consultation ran from 30 June to 27 September 2017. Following
this process the Council prepared a report summarising the issues raised in the representations
and setting out its response to them. This report, together with all the representations received
during the representation period, the plan and its supporting documents was submitted to the
Secretary of State for independent examination in January 2018. The Submission Version of the
Borough Local Plan does not form part of the statutory development plan for the Borough.

In December 2018, the examination process was paused to enable the Council to undertake
additional work to address soundness issues raised by the Inspector. Following completion of
that work, in October 2019 the Council approved a series of Proposed Changes to the BLPSV
which are now out to public consultation until Sunday, 15 December 2019. All representations
received will be reviewed by the Council to establish whether further changes are necessary
before the Proposed Changes are submitted to the Inspector. In due course the Inspector will
resume the Examination of the BLPSV. The BLPSV and the BLPSV together with the Proposed
Changes are therefore material considerations for decision-making. However, given the above
both should be given limited weight.

These documents can be found at:
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/blp

34


https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/blp

Other Local Strategies or Publications

Other Strategies or publications relevant to the proposal are:
. RBWM Townscape Assessment
° RBWM Parking Strategy

More information on these documents can be found at:
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/2004 14/local_development_framework/494/supplementary _planning

CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT
Comments from interested parties

91 occupiers were notified directly of the application. The planning officer posted a notice
advertising the application at the site 05.06.2019 and the application was advertised in the Local
Press on 13.06.2019.

33 letter were received objecting to the application, summarised as:

Comment Where in the report this is
considered

Location at busy junction and increase in trip generation would | Section iv
result in congestion and air pollution.

Inadequate on-site parking provision to the detriment of on-street | Section iv
parking in the surrounds.

Inadequate vehicular access into and out of the site. Section iv

Unsustainable location with poor access to public transport | Section i
services and long distances to town centre on foot.

No demand for hotels / budget hotel, and impact on existing | Section i and i
hotels, guesthouses and Airbnb properties.

Use is out of character with locality which is largely residential.

Height, scale, bulk and design results in overdevelopment of the | Section ii
site and an unsympathetic development to the detriment of visual
amenity. There would inevitably be external lighting and
advertising which would be add further detriment.

Harm to neighbouring amenity including visual overbearing and | Section v
loss of light to neighbouring properties due to siting, height, form
and bulk of proposed building; noise and disturbance resulting
from use including to neighbouring cemetery; overlooking
resulting in loss of privacy and light pollution.

Harm to existing trees. Section iii
Lack of landscaping to improve appearance of the site. Sectioniii
Lack of biodiversity enhancements. Section vii

Basement car park would cause ground water seepage, and | Section vii
inadequate sustainable drainage.

Subsidence to neighbouring property. Not a material planning
consideration

35


https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning

9.1

Poor employment practices.

Not a material planning
consideration

Consultees
Consultee Comment V\{hgre n thg e
this is considered
Environmental No objection subject to conditions relating to | Noted. If minded to
Protection contaminated land; fixed level in relation to plant | approve, conditions

noise; construction environmental management plan
(including construction noise, dust management and
hours of construction / demolition work); external
lighting condition, and limits for vehicle deliveries.

recommended,
except limits for
vehicle delivery
which is not
considered to pass
the test of necessity
and enforceability.

Lead Local Flood | No objection subject to a condition to secure full | Section vii

Authority details of the proposed surface water drainage
system and its maintenance arrangements.

Highways No objection subject to conditions relating to cycle | Section iv
parking as approved; submission and approval of a
construction management plan; and details of the
stackable bays.

Trees Objects to the proposal given the detrimental impact | Section iii
to off-site trees which, together with the limited viable
landscaping scheme, would be contrary to Local
Plan policy N6.

Others
Consultee Comment bz I Le RNt

this is considered

Windsor and Eton
Society

Objects — trip generation and junction design will
lead to congestion on primary roads; insufficient
parking provision and overly optimistic Travel Plan
resulting on on-street parking to the detriment of
neighbouring amenity; and unsympathetic design,
scale and form which is visually dominant and
overbearing.

Section ii and iv

Windsor
Neighbourhood
Plan

Objects - out of keeping design and illumination;
increase in traffic particularly at peak times; and
attention should be drawn to policy BIO.O1 of the
Windsor Neighbour Plan (at Regulation 16 stage) in
relation to the natural environment.

Section ii and iv.

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION

The key issues for consideration are:

[ Principle of Development

i Design and Impact on Character

iii Trees

\Y Highway Safety and Parking

36




9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

9.6

% Impact on Neighbouring Amenity

Vi Contaminated Land and Air Quality
vii Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
viii Ecology

i Principle of Development

Sequential Test

To ensure the vitality of town centres within the Borough, Local Plan policy TM4 states the new
purpose-built visitor facilities will be restricted to the town centres. However paragraph 86 of the
NPPF, which post-dates Local Plan policy TM4, is considered to be a more up-to-date expression
of Government intent and states that Local Planning Authorities should apply a sequential test to
planning applications for main town centre uses which are neither in an existing centre nor in
accordance with an up-to-date plan. In this context, main town centre uses should be located in
town centres then in edge-of-centre locations; and only if suitable sites are not available (or
expected to become available with a reasonable period) should out-of-centre sites be considered.
Paragraph 87 of the NPPF goes on to state that when considering edge-of-centre and out-of-
centre proposals, preference should be given to accessible sites which are well connected to the
town centre.

In this case, based on the Proposal's Map, which forms part of the Development Plan, the
application site lies just outside of the Windsor Town Centre Commercial Boundary and therefore
considered to be an edge of town centre site. The submitted Travel Plan outlines local transport
facilities and on this basis the site is considered to be reasonably well connected to Windsor
Town Centre.

In terms of the Sequential Test to determine if there is a preferable alternative site, the National
Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) states the suitability, available and viability of the site should
be considered in a sequential assessment with particular regard to the nature of the need that is
to be addressed.

In terms of the nature of the need, it was established by the Supreme Court in Tesco Stores v
Dundee City Council [2012] that to be a preferable alternative site it should be capable of meeting
the need that the developer is seeking to meet, and not just a generic need. With regard to
suitability, Tesco Stores Ltd v Dundee City Council also establishes [a] that if a site is not suitable
for the commercial requirements of the developer in question then it is not a suitable site for the
purposes of the sequential approach; and [b] that in terms of the size of the alternative site,
provided that the Applicant has demonstrated flexibility with regards to format and scale, the
guestion is whether the alternative site is suitable for the proposed development and not whether
the proposed development could be altered or reduced so that it can be made to fit the alternative
site. There is no indication as to what degree of flexibility is required in the NPPF or NPPG,
however such a requirement was previously contained in PPS4: Planning and Economic
Development. PPS4 advises flexibility in a business model, use of a multi-level stores, flexible
car parking requirements or arrangements, innovative servicing solutions and a willing to depart
from standard formats. It is considered that any relevant PG advice continues to be material.

In accordance with the above, the submitted Sequential Assessment outlines the market
requirement to locate the proposed hotel in Windsor. Mindful of the judgement of Tesco Stores
Ltd v Dundee City Council it is acknowledged that the market which the developer is seeking to
serve should be taken into account, and this approach is supported by Regina v Braintree District
Council Ex Parte Clacton Common Development Limited [1998] which concluded that the search
for sites should be limited to the intended catchment area. In order to demonstrate flexibility the

37



9.7

9.8

9.9

submitted Sequential Assessment also outlines the departure from company business model in
terms of format and scale. This frames the parameters of the search criteria.

As the main objection is to locate town centre uses in the town centre first, it is considered that
Windsor Town Centre should be the starting point as it would be the sequentially preferable
location. Other edge of town centre sites were examined in the sequential assessment submitted
but these are not considered to be sequentially preferable to the application site which is also an
edge of town centre site as the NPPF advises that the preference should be given to accessible
sites that are well connected to the town centre. The submitted Transport Statement outlines the
site is accessible by a choice of means of transport, including walking, cycling and public
transport.

In the search for sites, the applicant has looked at the following documents/sources to identify
available sites:
e RBWM Local Plan
e RBWM Borough Local Plan Proposed Submission Version
e RBWM Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (HELAA)(2016), which was
subsequently replaced during the course of this application by RBWM HELAA (2019)
o PremierInn’'s Retained Agent
Site Visits

Analysis of Sequential Assessment:

Site Seguential Assessment by Applicant LPA Comments

Windsor

Minton Place, Victoria | e 0.5ha site contains part 3 storey, | ¢ Due to satisfactory evidence
Street part 4 storey office building. provided, it is accepted the

e Town centre location provides site is not available.
excellent access to local amenities

Sequential Location: and transport links.

Town Centre e Suitable for a hotel.

e Enquiries have been made as to
availability by direct contact with
the landowner owner of Minton
Place. The site is subject to leases
for a further 10 years and therefore
not available in the short to
medium term. Owners have
indicated no interested in
progressing matters as income
from office use / value is higher
than hotel use/ value.

Windsor Link Railway | e 1.4ha site comprising of a privately | eDue to satisfactory evidence

Area C owned car park. provided, it is accepted the
e The site has a high degree of | site is not available.

Sequential Location: visibility in town centre location

Town Centre with good access to local transport

and the local road network.

e Location adjacent to the Thames,
within a Conservation Area and
nearby listed building however due
to the size of the site the site would
be suitable for a bespoke hotel
design to be agreed and
developed.

38




Have registered interest with the
owners, but owner receives
significant income from existing
use and the site is not available.
Supported by HELAA which
advises that the site (ID: 0051) has
not been promoted by the
landowner and so availability is
uncertain.

Windsor Link Railway
Area D

Sequential Location:
Town Centre

0.41ha site comprising of Windsor
and Eton Riverside Station,
adjacent buildings and privately
owned car park.

The site is visible and benefit from
proximity to town centre, nearby
car parks and access to the road
network.

Located in conservation area and
with nearby listed buildings but
notwithstanding constraints  site
would be suitable.

Previous enquiries to acquire car
parks or part thereof from Network
Rail have been without success as
car parks are a vital and integral
part of the operations and success
of the railway station.

e Evidence has been submitted
to demonstrate contact with
the landowner / relevant agent
to establish that the site is not
available with follow up
correspondence. The
applicant has confirmed that
no response has been
received.

olt is accepted that the site is
not available.

Crown House and 1-4
Charriott Place and
Assurant House,
Victoria Street

Sequential Location:
Town Centre

0.29ha site comprising of offices.
The site benefits from good
visibility and road access, and is
within ~ walking  distance  of
amenities and transport links.
Located in conservation and with
listed buildings nearby, but existing
building  offers  potential  for
conversion to a hotel in addition to
wholesale redevelopment of the
site. Suitable for hotel use.

Leased out as offices and not on
the market for sale.

Office use generates the highest
returns, and cost of converting
building to hotel use would be
between  £50,000-£60,000 per
room and therefore unviable.

eNo evidence has been
submitted to demonstrate
contact with the landowner /
relevant agent to establish
that the site is not available.
The Council would expect
details or confirmation of
contact and that the site is not
available.
¢ Notwithstanding the above,
while availability has not been
properly investigated /
evidenced in the assessment,
it is accepted the site is not
viable.

Post Office, Peascod
Street

Sequential Location:
Town Centre

0.26ha site comprising of a Post
Office.

The site has a high degree of
visibility within town centre and a
high footfall area and lies in close
proximity to railway station and
other transport links.

Location within a conservation
area with nearby listed building,
however would be suitable for a
bespoke hotel design to be agreed

eNo evidence has been
submitted to demonstrate
contact with the landowner /
relevant agent to establish
that the site is not available.
The Council would expect
details or confirmation of
contact and that the site is not
available.

¢ Notwithstanding the above,
the HELAA confirms that the

39




9.10

9.11

9.12

9.13

9.14

9.15

and developed. site is not available.

¢ Unlikely to be for sale as required
for operational purposes by Royal
Mail and as a general rule Royal
Mail only offer sites on the open
market. If site is declared as
surplus then will register interest
with the vendor’s agent.

e The HELAA confirms site (ID:
0408) as not being available.

Windsor Central e 0.24ha site comprising of a station | e Awaiting additional

Station Car Park car park commentary, which will be
e This is the only site in the updated reported in an update.

Sequential Location: HELAA that cannot be ruled out

Town Centre from the outset.

From the above Windsor Central Station Car Park has not be satisfactorily discounted, therefore
it is not considered that the applicant has satisfied the requirements of the sequential test.
Where an application fails to satisfy the sequential test paragraph 90 of the NPPF states that
they should be refused. The applicant has advised that additional commentary will be provided,
which will be reported in an update.

Notwithstanding the above, local residents have raised the question over the need and demand
for further hotel development, and for this type of hotel. It is considered that visitor
accommodation usage would differ throughout the Borough, but in general from 2011 there has
been an upward trend on night visitors to the Borough up to 2016, and while there are a number
of hotels in Windsor Town Centre and the surrounding locality there may be a need for a wider
choice of accommodation to meet visitor demands and aspirations. As such, there is no
objection in principle to the proposed hotel use or the type of hotel.

There is no objection in principle to the loss of the existing retail (car sales), which is not a
protected use in this location.

i Design and Impact on Character

Local Plan policy DG1 states that new development should not cause harm to the character of
the surrounding area through development which results in the loss of important features which
contribute to that character. As a material consideration of significant weight, paragraph 124 and
130 of the NPPF advises that high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what planning
should achieve and planning permission should be refused for development of poor design that
fails to take the opportunity for improving the character and quality of the area. The recently
published National Design Guide sets out the characteristics of well-designed places and what
good design means in practice.

The previous scheme under 17/00543/OUT was refused in relation to its indicative layout, siting,
scale, bulk, massing, proportions, form, design and finish which would constitute an unacceptable
overdevelopment of the site, and be visually incongruous and overly dominant in this part of the
street. There were similar concerns on overdevelopment, incongruity and over dominance with
the withdrawn scheme under 18/02391/FULL.

The form of the proposed building remains similar to the previous scheme, however the proposed
building is now approximately 29m in width, a reduction of approximately 4m from the previous
scheme under 18/02391/FULL. However, despite the modest reduction in width and the stepped
height and modulation to the facades to break up the visual mass and bulk, it is considered that
the proposal would still result in a substantial structure due to its overall height, scale and form

40




9.16

9.17

9.18

9.19

9.20

with its footprint occupying a significant proportion of its plot at the centre of the site. The size and
massing of the building in relation to its surrounding space is considered to represent an overly
disproportionate and dominant building. Together with hardstanding to the forecourt,
hardstanding to side yard, and access ramp to the basement car park and retaining walls, it is
considered that the proposal would result in a cramped and overdeveloped appearance of the
site to the detriment of the character of the streetscene and wider locality. It is considered that
visual harm is exacerbated due to its prominent location at the junction of St Leonards Road and
Imperial Road.

Additional landscaping is proposed within the site along the boundaries, including hedging and
trees, but it is considered that a significant proportion of proposed trees would be unviable (see
paragraphs 9.21-9.22 of this report). While the proposed hedging would be viable subject to
adequate maintenance, this in itself would not be sufficient to screen or soften the appearance of
the proposed development. The inadequate soft landscaping is considered to exacerbate the
building’s incongruence and compound the feeling of too great a building mass for the plot.

It is also considered that the proposal would have little resonance with the row of semi-detached
and terraces houses to the east. Paragraph 70 of the National Design Guide states that
proposals for taller buildings require special consideration including their relationship to context.
These houses fall into an area categorised as a ‘Victorian Village’, as identified in the Council’s
Townscape Assessment. The Townscape Assessment states that the traditional two storey
dwellings contribute to a townscape of human scale. Although the building would step up from a
two storey element incrementally to four storeys the height quickly increases, and it is considered
that the proposal would still be noticeably taller than the row of semi-detached and terraced
houses to the east and fails to have sufficient regard to and successfully relate with the adjacent
buildings to the east. There would be a gap of approximately 13.5m but it would still be seen in
context with these houses when travelling along St Leonards Road from the east and west.

It is acknowledged that the proposed development would be a more efficient use of previously
developed land, but this is not considered to outweigh the visual harm to the streetscene and
wider locality. Paragraph 64 of the National Design Guide states that well-designed new
development makes efficient use of land with an amount and mix of development that optimise
density. However, paragraph 64 of the National Design Guide goes on to state that well-designed
new development needs to relate well to and enhance the existing character and context.

Concerns have been raised by local residents over additional signage and external lighting, and it
is accepted that there would be some form of signage and external lighting to the building and its
curtilage, which have not been indicated on the proposed plans. However, signage would be
subject to separate controls under the Advertisement Regulations and does not form part of the
consideration for this application, and if minded to approve a suitable scheme for external lighting
could be secured through an appropriate worded planning condition. Concerns have also been
raised by local residents over hotel use which would be out of keeping with the predominately
residential character of the area. However, it is not considered that hotel use would be unduly
incompatible with the character of the area. Notwithstanding this, overall, the proposed
development would amount to overdevelopment in this location and would be harmful to the
character and appearance of the area. It would not amount to good design, contrary to Local Plan
policies DG1, and paragraph 127 of the NPPF.

i Trees
Local Plan policy N6 states that new development should wherever practicable allow for the
retention of existing trees, include appropriate tree planting and landscaping, and where the

amenity value of trees outweigh the justification for development planning permission may be
refused.

41



9.21

9.22

9.23

9.24

9.25

There are no existing trees within the site, but there are existing trees on public land lining the
pedestrian pathway leading from St Leonards Road to Windsor Cemetery along the eastern
boundary of the site, and along the shared boundary with Windsor Cemetery to the south. The
proposal includes the removal of T1 (Ash), T5 (Ash), T9 (Foxglove Tree), T11 (Ash), T14 (Ash)
and H17 (Leyland and Lawson Cypress), as shown on drawing ref: CCL10150/IAP rev.4. In
addition to these trees, it is also considered that the proposed development would likely result in
a loss of T2 (Crab Apple), T3 (Crab Apple), T4 (Crab Apple) and T12 (Monterey Cypress). There
would be direct encroachments into the root protection area (RPA) of T3 and T12 by the
proposed basement and a high strength root barrier, and the root barrier would also be sited
within the RPA of T2 and T4 to the detriment of their health and longevity. The RPA is the
minimum area around a tree deemed to contain sufficient roots and rooting volume to maintain
the tree’s viability, and the default position of BS5837:2012 ‘Trees in relation to design, demolition
and construction — Recommendations’ is that buildings and structures should be located outside
of the RPA. As such, the future viability of these trees cannot be assured and it should be
assumed will be lost as a consequence of the development.

With the exception of T12, these trees are identified as category C trees, which are of low quality
or young trees. In accordance with BS5837:2012 category C trees should not impose a constraint
on the development, but their loss should be mitigated with replacement planting. With reference
to the proposed Landscaping Planting Plan, ref: 1051/18/B/1D, 7 replacement trees are proposed
along the shared boundary with Windsor Cemetery (southern boundary), 3 trees are proposed on
a raised planting bed along the frontage with St Leonards Road (northern boundary) while 2 trees
are proposed along the western boundary. However, the proposed planting strip measures
approximately 1m in width which is limited and is positioned over the basement which will prevent
trees from rooting more deeply, while the extent of the proposed basement would restrict the
rooting environment for the trees along the southern boundary. As such, it is considered that
these trees are not in a viable or sustainable location to the detriment of their health and
longevity, and it is considered that the proposal would be contrary to Local Plan policy N6.

Further comments and rebuttal were submitted by the applicant on 5 November, which at the
time of writing this report is still being considered by the Council’'s Arboriculture Officer. Any
additional comments will be reported in an update.

iv Highway Safety and Parking

Local Plan policy T5 requires all development proposals to comply with adopted highway design
standards, and policy P4 requires all development proposals to accord with adopted car parking
standards.

Traffic Generation

A TRICS analysis for a similar sized hotel has been undertaken which indicates that the proposed
development could potentially generate a daily trip rate of 256 with 24 trips during the AM peak
and 18 trips during the PM peak. A comparison with the trip generation of the current use of the
site as a car sales showroom indicates that there would be an additional 125 trips as a result of
the development with an additional 13 trips during the AM peak and 7 trips during the PM peak.
While it is acknowledged that this is a busy junction, paragraph 109 of the NPPF states that
development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network
would be severe. In absolute numbers the additional traffic is unlikely to have a significant
detrimental impact on traffic along Imperial Road and St Leonards Road or the surroundings.
Furthermore, based on the Borough’'s accident data during the past 5 years, 2 accidents have
been reported close to the Imperial Road junction with St Leonards Road, and 4 accidents near
the Clewer Hill Road and St Leonard’s Road junction. However, the data does not indicate any
inherent defects in the immediate highway network. It is therefore considered that the increase of
125 daily trips would not lead to a detrimental effect on highway safety to existing traffic flows or
to those that reside or commute in the area.

42



9.26

9.27

9.28

9.29

9.30

9.31

9.32

9.33

Access

The site is served by two vehicular accesses off St Leonards Road, which are proposed to
remain, operating as an in-out accesses with entry at the eastern access point and exit at the
western. There is no objection raised on the visibility splays, and therefore this is considered to
be acceptable.

Access to the basement car park is via a ramped access located to the west of the site. The
proposed Basement Floorplan, ref: PL 099 rev. 19 illustrates a gradient which accords with the
design recommendations in the Institution of Structural Engineers’ Design Recommendations for
Multi-Storey and Underground Car Parks. To prevent conflicts on the ramped access between
vehicles entering and existing the basement, a red and green lighting system with automatic
sensors and priority given to vehicles entering the site will be installed. This is considered to be
acceptable.

Parking
The Council's adopted Parking Strategy, and the Council’s Parking Strategy (2004) identifies a

maximum provision of 1 space per bedroom for C2 uses. This is for both staff and visitors, and
equates to a maximum requirement of 50 car parking spaces for the proposed development.
However the NPPF, which post-dates the Council’'s Parking Strategy and therefore considered to
be an up-to-date expression of Government intent and a material consideration, states that
maximum parking standard for residential and non-residential development should only be set
where there is a clear and compelling justification that they are necessary for managing the local
road network or for optimising the density of development in city and town centres and other
locations which are well served by public transport.

In this case, on-street parking is managed within the locality by the Council with double yellow
lines on St Leonard’s Road and a Clearway classification (no stopping, parking, picking-up or
setting down of passengers) on Imperial Road. As such, it is considered there is no clear and
compelling justification to impose the maximum parking standard to manage the local road
network. Nevertheless, 49 spaces are proposed which would comply with the Council’s Parking
Strategy. In relation to disabled parking spaces, the Council’s adopted Parking Strategy requires
6% of total parking spaces to be for disabled use, which would equate to 3 spaces. 3 of the
proposed spaces are allocated for disabled use and so the proposal is also compliant in this
respect. If minded to approve it is recommended that this is secured by condition.

The basement car park would be arranged as a split level. The internal ramp gradient would be
1:20 which is acceptable. On the lower level car parking spaces 1-38 will be double stackable
bays utilising 19 lifts. This is acceptable in principle but if minded to approve it is recommended
that further details on the design and operation is secured by condition.

Local Plan policy T7 requires new development to make appropriate provision for cyclists. For the
proposed development the Council's standards for cycle parking is set at 1 space per 20 car
parking spaces, therefore the proposed 3 cycle parking spaces to be located in the basement is
acceptable. If minded to approve it is recommended that this is secured by condition.

% Neighbouring Amenity

As a material consideration of significant weight paragraph 127 of the NPPF also states that
planning decisions should ensure that development should achieve a high standard of amenity
for existing and future users.

Daylight and Sunlight

To the west is no. 1-14 Littleacre that fronts onto Hermitage Lane. Due to this orientation, there
are a number of windows serving habitable rooms on their rear elevation which the proposal
would be sited in front of. When considering an obstruction directly in front of a window, if the
proposed building passes the British Research Establishment (BRE) 25 degree test’ then it is

43




9.34

9.35

9.36

9.37

9.38

unlikely to result in an unreasonable loss of daylight (defused light where beams from the sun
have been scattered and diffused) to these windows as there will be adequate skylight. As shown
on drawing ref: PL300 rev. 19, the proposed building in the section perpendicular to the window
would not intrude through a 25 degree line taken from the centre of a ground floor window to the
horizontal, and therefore the proposal is acceptable in this respect.

The proposal would also be sited 90 degrees south of a main window of no. 435 St Leonards
Road which is sited to the east. However, measured in the section perpendicular to the window
there is no obstruction that subtends an angle of more than 25 degrees to the horizontal.
Furthermore, taking a 45 degree angle from the mid-point of the nearest window to the proposal,
the proposal would clip a 45 degree splay but at a distance of approximately 25m. Therefore the
proposal is not considered to result in undue loss of daylight to this neighbouring house.

In terms of sunlight to gardens it is considered that there would be undue harm if more than half
of an amenity area receives less than 2 hours of sunlight on 21 March (the equinox). It is
considered that the proposal will pass this test in relation to both no. 1-14 Littleacre and no. 435
St Leonards Road with at least half of the garden areas receiving more than 2 hours of sunlight
on this date with the proposed building in situ.

Visual Overbearing and Loss of Privacy

The proposed building would extend approximately 10m further south than the existing building at
no. 435 St Leonards Road at 2 storey in height (approximately 6.5m) and sited approximately
12m from the western site boundary of no. 435 St Leonards Road. The 2 storey element then
steps up to 3 storey in height (approximately 9m) at a point approximately 14m from the western
site boundary of no. 435 St Leonards Road and then up to 4 storey in height (approximately 11m)
which is approximately 15.5m from the western site boundary. From the rear of the 2 storey
element, the proposed building would extend a further 7m southwards at 3 storey in height which
is sited approximately 17m from the western site boundary of no. 435 St Leonards Road. This 3
storey element steps up to 4 storey in height with the 4 storey element sited approximately 18m
from the western site boundary of no. 435 St Leonards Road. On this basis and given the existing
development on the site, it is acknowledged that the proposed development would result in an
increase in visual presence when viewed from no. 435 St Leonards Road. However, the stepped
elevation is considered to break up visual mass and bulk and, together with the separation
distances from no. 435 St Leonards Road, the proposal is not considered to result in an unduly
overbearing impact to this neighbouring property. Furthermore, views from no. 435 St Leonards
Road of the proposal would be oblique.

In relation to the neighbouring properties to the west, the proposal would extend across the rear
elevation of no. 1-14 Littleacre. The proposal would extend rearwards by 14.5m at 2 storey in
height (approximately 6.5m) before stepping down to single storey (approximately 3.5m). The
single and 2 storey element are sited approximately 9m from the eastern site boundary of no. 1-
14 Littleacre. The single storey element then steps up to 3 storey (9m) which is sited
approximately 18m from the eastern site boundary of no. 1-14 Littleacre and then up to 4 storey
(11m) at a distance of approximately 19.5m, while the 2 storey element steps up to 3 storey at a
distance of approximately 12.5m from the eastern site boundary of no. 1-14 Littleacre and then 4
storey at a distance of 13m. It is noted that the rear gardens at no. at no. 1-14 Littleacre are short,
measuring approximately 6m in depth, but the proposed facing elevation would be stepped,
which is considered to break up mass and bulk, and together with the separation distance from
western site boundary no. 1-14 Littleacre it is not considered to be unduly dominant and
oppressive when viewed from the habitable rooms and the rear gardens.

5 windows are proposed at first floor level and above on the eastern elevation that directly faces
no. 435 St Leonards Road. 2 of these windows would be sited approximately 17m from the
western site boundary of no. 435 St Leonards Road which would serve hotel rooms (habitable).
However, given the separation distance and the proposed louvred windows which would angle
views away it is not considered that the proposal would result in undue overlooking into no. 435
St Leonards Road. The remaining 3 windows would be sited approximately 12.5m — 13m from

44



9.39

9.40

9.41

9.42

9.43

the western site boundary of no. 435 St Leonards Road and would serve corridors (non-
habitable) and so there are no concerns over overlooking. 5 window are also proposed at first
floor level and above on the west elevation directly facing no. 1-14 Littleacre. 2 of these windows
would be sited approximately 18m from the western site boundary of no. 1-14 Littleacre which
would serve hotel rooms (habitable). However, given the separation distance, it is considered
unlikely to result in actual loss of privacy. The remaining 3 windows would be sited approximately
9m, 12.5m and 13.5m from the western site boundary of no. 1-14 Littleacre, but would serve
corridors (non-habitable) and so there are no concerns over actual overlooking. Given the height,
proximity, number and size of these windows there would be some increase in the perception of
overlooking to neighbouring properties, but on balance this is not considered to result in undue
harm.

Noise and Disturbance

Concerns have been raised by local residents over potential noise and disturbance as a result of
the hotel use. It is acknowledged that the operation of a hotel would differ from retail with guests
being likely to be engaged in activities away from the building during the day and movements and
activity concentrated at the beginning and end of the day, coinciding with normal working hours or
opening house for tourist facilities. However, it is not considered that the nature of hotel use
would result in undue noise and disturbance that would be unduly detrimental. The proposed
hotel includes a restaurant for 60 covers, but there would be no bar area or function rooms. The
noise emitted from fixed plant and other equipment can be controlled by condition, and if minded
to approve it is recommended that the rating level of noise emitted should not exceed the existing
background level to be determined 1m from the nearest noise-sensitive premises and measured
and assessed in accordance with BS: 4142: 2014 Methods for Rating and Assessing Industrial
and Commercial Sound.

Vi Contaminated Land and Air Quality

The site has been operating as a former petrol station with underground storage tanks therefore
the risk of potential contamination is considered to be significant. A Phase | and Il Geo-
Environmental Risk Assessment has been submitted. The report has identified the need for
investigation including the exceedance of benzene which would require remediation and
validation; removal/treatment of contaminated soil and replacement; decommissioning works of
former petrol station including fuel tanks, interceptors and fuel pumps; and protection of utility
services. It is considered that details and implementation of a remediation scheme to bring the
site to a condition suitable for intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health,
buildings and other properties, and the natural environment can be secured by condition.

The site is within the Imperial / St Leonards Road Air Quality Management Area (AQMA)
declared for exceedances of the annual mean nitrogen dioxide (NO2) objectives. The refused
scheme under 17/00543/OUT failed to demonstrate that the potential air quality impact of the
development on AQMA would be acceptable taking into account the impact of LEGOLAND
developments and traffic from Clewer Hill Road at Winkfield Road Junction. However, the revised
air quality assessment submitted to support this application includes these previously missing
elements in their assessment and the findings indicate that the air quality impacts of the
development are not significant. In terms of demolition and construction works if minded to
approve it is recommended that a condition to secure a site specific construction environmental
management plan (CEMP) is secured to reduce the effects of noise, vibrations, dust and site
lighting including but not limited to elevated PM10 concentrations.

Vii Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage
Paragraph 165 of the NPPF requires development to incorporate sustainable drainage systems.
The Drainage Strategy indicates that surface water runoff will be discharged to Thames Water’s

surface water sewer system via a small pumping station and that attenuation storage will be
provided by a cellular storage tank to ensure no flooding occurs for all events up to and including

45



9.44

9.45

9.46

9.47

10.

10.1

11.

111

11.2

the 1 in 100 plus climate change. In relation to the basement car park, a channel drain will be
provided at the bottom of the ramp and this drain will be connected with a non-return value to the
proposed attenuation tank to prevent water flowing out of the attenuation tank back into the
basement. Overall, the proposed surface water strategy is acceptable in principle. The inclusion
of pumping station within a surface water drainage strategy is generally unfavourable from a
sustainability perspective, but it is accepted that this is unavoidable due to the nature of
development and the shallowness of the water company’s surface sewer system in St Leonards
Road. If minded to approve it is recommended that this is subject to a pre-commencement
condition requiring submission and approval of full details of the proposed surface water drainage
system and its maintenance arrangements.

Concerns with regards to changes in water levels as a result of the development and increase in
risk from groundwater flooding have been raised by local residents. Figure E of the Council’s
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment indicates that the site does not fall into an area susceptible to
ground water flooding and no substantive evidence has been provided to counter this to warrant
refusal.

viii Ecology

The site lies within 5km and within the zone of influence of Windsor Forest and Great Park, a
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) which is a European Designated site. The primary reason for
designation is the significance of old acidophilous oak woods, range and diversity of saprxylic
invertebrates, and fungal assemblages. The Natura 2000 data form for Windsor Forest and Great
Park reports that the main threats relate to forest and plantation management and use; air
pollution, invasive non-native species; and interspecific floral relations. Where any proposal is
likely to have a significant effect on a European site either alone or in combination with other
plans or projects, the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 requires an
appropriate assessment to be made in view of that site’s conservation objectives. Paragraphs
175 and 176 of the NPPF state that development resulting in the loss or deterioration of Special
Areas of Conservation should be refused unless there are wholly exceptional reasons and a
suitable compensation strategy exists.

In this case the proposed development, along and in combination with the linked proposals, is not
considered to have a significant effect on Windsor Forest and Great Park, and therefore an
appropriate assessment is not required.

Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that planning decision should provide net gains for
biodiversity. If minded to approve, biodiversity enhancements can be secured by condition.

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)

In accordance with the Council’s adopted CIL charging schedule the development is CIL liable
but the charge is set at a rate of £0 per square metre.

CONCLUSION

At the heart of the NPPF is the presumption of in favour of sustainable development. Paragraph
11 states that for decision making this means approving development proposals that accord with
an up-to-date plan without delay; or where there are no relevant development plan policies or the
policies which are most important for determining the application are out of date granting
planning permission unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

The NPPF identifies three dimensions to sustainable development; economic, social and

environmental. In terms of social-economic impact, the proposal would result in addition to the
creation of jobs in during construction and in its operation, as well as tourism and recreation

46



11.3

12.

13.

benefits and potential increase in local spending. It would also result in the increase of purchase
of goods and services to supply the hotel from local and companies further afield.

However, whilst the application proposal would deliver economic and social benefits that would
fall within the economic and social roles of sustainable development set out within the NPPF, the
scheme fails in respect of directing town centre uses (such as this) to town centre locations to the
detriment of its vitality and local community. The proposal would also fail to represent good
design and would result in harm to trees. The identified harm is considered to significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits identified within this section. The proposal would not be a
sustainable form of development and would not comply with the requirements of the NPPF taken
as a whole.

APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

e Appendix A — Site Location Plan and Site Layout
e Appendix B — Proposed Plans and Elevations

REASONS RECOMMENDED FOR REFUSAL IF PERMISSION ISNOT GRANTED

The Sequential Assessment fails to demonstrate that there are no suitable and available
sequentially preferable sites in the town centre. The scheme thereby fails to comply with
paragraph 86 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

By reason of its siting, form, height, scale, mass, bulk of the proposed building that results an
unduly disproportionate and dominant building together with the amount of associated
development and lack of landscaping, the proposal represents a cramped and overdeveloped
site. The proposal would also fail to have sufficient regard to and sufficient relate with the row of
semi-detached and terraces houses to the east. Therefore, the proposal would be detrimental to
the character of the streetscene and surrounding area, contrary to policy DG1 of the Royal
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Local Plan (Incorporating Alterations adopted June 2003)
and paragraph 130 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019).

By reason of its siting, form and scale the proposed development would prejudice the long term
future health and longevity of proposed trees. Together with the loss of existing trees, the
proposal would detract from the character and appearance of the locality. As such, the proposals
would be contrary to policies N6 and DG1 of the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead
Local Plan (Incorporating Alterations adopted June 2003).

a7



Appendix A — Site Location Plan and Proposed Site Layout

48



49



Appendix B — Proposed Plans and Elevations

B [ TP
M W

<
| 138 ==

=l =]
2= ez 2 Jas |
===z = e

=] =]

1
Proposed Street Elevation
1

50

Existing Street Elevation



« =u
e ]
vivamn ey

. " w
oy pny e s

|
mene i a  r
PRy s weyy|

Viv

am
J3m

am
lim
om

npaan o s s ot

e a1 s B a8 i 1,

o s s b et

uoIjeAd[3 133115

=

uoneas|3 Aalewa)

51



uojienald yuel4

uonEN3|3 yueld

o 0k e

H o
T

1
i
i

H]
:
i
e |

52



|
7
|
b
|
7
7

I
|
m
!
|
|
|
|

vz/Ez 2717 oz/st  STJLL ! oLfST bLJET vE
| o |
- | BE/LE  SE[SE ! vE/EE  ZE/TE _ _ ogf6z ! sz/iz ozfse
| T
Y I D ]

saaeds g - jieg Je7 Juawaszg

53



ﬁ

54

Ground Floor 9 Bedrooms



55

First Floer 17 Bedrooms



|
.

e
Y

" |
B
-
]

™ 1= T HE. =T
e . ﬂ AR .
L L ™, =,
G = wllra A " 1
H H = B

= =g

H' EIIE_E
L=k L
. [

56

Second Floor 13 Bedrooms



57

Third Floar 11 Bedrooms



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 6

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

4 December 2019 Item: 6

Application 19/01701/FULL

No.:

Location: Sandridge House Including The Cottage And The Bungalow London Road Ascot

Proposal: 33 No. dwellings, with associated parking and landscaping following demolition of
existing buildings.

Applicant: Patrick Homes Limited

Agent: Mr Matt Hill

Parish/Ward:  Sunninghill And Ascot Parish/Ascot & Sunninghill

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Jo Richards on 01628 682955 or at
jo.richards @rbwm.gov.uk

1. SUMMARY

11 There is no objection to the loss of the existing care home on the basis that it is no longer fit for
purpose and all former residents have been rehoused elsewhere in the Borough. This
requirement has been satisfied through the submission of formal comments within the Planning
Statement supporting the application.

1.2 The overall height, mass, siting and external appearance of the development results in a building
of significant bulk which is lacking in design coherence. The development would be at odds and
incompatible with the surrounding development such that it would be harmful to the street scenes
of both London Road and Geffers Ride and the character of the area in general.

1.3 The scale, height and external appearance of the building would have an adverse impact on the
setting of All Saints Church resulting in less than substantial harm to this grade Il listed heritage
asset.

1.4  The height, scale and proximity of the development to the north and west boundaries of the site,
coupled with the significant number of habitable windows, balconies and terraces facing
neighbouring gardens and properties, would result in an unneighbourly form of development
which would appear overbearing and obtrusive to neighbouring occupants and result in harmful
levels of overlooking.

1.5  The proposed development would be harmful to on-site and off-site trees resulting in their loss,
which would be harmful to the sylvan character of the area.

14 The application site lies within the Thames basin Heaths SPA 5km buffer zone wherein any
proposals for residential intensification must provide mitigation for the harm to the SPA. As the
proposed number of units is greater than 9, the development cannot rely on the remaining
capacity at the Council’s strategic SANG Allen’s Field. It has not been demonstrated that the
mitigation for the harm to the SPA can be provided elsewhere.

1.6 The application is insufficient with regard to survey work on bats. Further surveys are required to
determine the presence / absence of roosting bats within the tree with moderate potential to
support roosting bats and to inform the relevant mitigation.

1.7  The application states that 10 affordable units would be provided as part of the scheme but no
details of this have been submitted with regard to tenure and furthermore there is no legal
agreement in place to secure their provision.

1.8 The applicants have failed to provide sufficient information relating to surface water drainage and
flooding to satisfy the requirements of the Lead Local Flood Authority.

59




It is recommended the Panel refuses planning permission for the following summarised
reasons (the full reasons are identified in Section 12 of this report):

1.

The proposed development, as a result of its height, mass, siting and external
appearance results in a building of significant bulk which is lacking in design
coherence. The development would be at odds and incompatible with the
surrounding development such that it would be harmful to the street scenes of both
London Road and Geffers Ride, to the detriment of the character of the area.

The scale, height and external appearance of the building would have an adverse
impact on the setting of All Saints Church resulting in less than substantial harm to
this grade Il listed heritage asset.

The proposed building, by reason of its overall scale, height and proximity to the
north and west boundaries of the site would have an overdominant, overbearing
and unneighbourly impact on the adjacent properties within Geffers Ride.
Furthermore, the large number of windows at first floor level and above, together
with the balconies and terraces in the north and west elevation, would give rise to
overlooking and loss of privacy (actual and perceived) to the adjacent properties
within Geffers Ride and to the adjacent nurseryat All Saints Village Hall.

The proposal would result in an unacceptable impact on important trees within and
outside the site. The loss of these trees would be harmful to the character of the
area.

The proposal is likely to have a significant effect in combination with other plans
and projects in the locality on the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area
[SPA] as designated under The Conservation (Natural Habitats, etc.) Regulations,
and which is also designated as a Site of Special Scientific Interest [SSSI]. This
would arise through increased visitor and recreational pressure on Chobham
Common, as a constituent part of the SPA, causing disturbance to three species of
protected, ground-nesting birds that are present at the site. In the absence of an
assessment to show no likely significant effect, including sufficient mitigation
measures to overcome any such impact on the SPA, and in the absence of financial
provision towards the Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM) project
and the provision of Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) noted in the
Council's Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area SPD or satisfactory
alternative provision, the likely adverse impact on the integrity of this European
nature conservation site has not been overcome.

It has not been demonstrated that the scheme would have an acceptable impact
upon bats, which are a protected species.

The application states that 10 affordable units would be provided as part of the
scheme but details of this have been submitted with regard to tenure and
furthermore there is no agreement in place to secure their provision.

Insufficient information has been submitted with regards to surface water drainage.

2. REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION

e The Council's Constitution does not give the Head of Planning delegated powers to

determine the application in the way recommended; such decisions can only be made by the
Panel.

3. DESCRIPTIONOF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

3.1 The application site is located on the northern side of London Road, Ascot and consists of a
detached building formerly used as a care home (C2 use class). The land to the south of the
site is in the Green Belt and there is an area TPO which covers all the trees within the site

60




3.2

4.1

5.1

5.2

5.3

6.1

(007/2016/TPO). The site is also located within the Thames Basin Heath Special Protection
Area (SPA) 5km buffer zone.

The surrounding area is predominantly residential in character with modest detached dwelling
houses located to the north and west of the site, and flatted development to the east known as
Grand Regency Heights. Grade Il listed All Saints Church adjoins the western boundary of the
site. The Council’s Townscape Assessment identifies the site as being located within the
Townscape Area ‘Executive Residential Estates’.

KEY CONSTRAINTS
Thames Basin Heaths SPA 5km buffer zone
Adjacent to listed building
Access onto A road
Area Tree Preservation Order
Green Belt to south

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
The proposal is for the replacement of the existing building, a former care home, with a single
apartment block comprising 33 residential units to be sited in in the rear part of the site. The
building would comprise 5 storeys of development with an approximate height of 15.6m.
The proposal would comprise 11 x 1-bed, 18 x 2-bed and 4 x 3-bed apartments (including 10
affordable units). Parking would be partly within a basement area underneath the building and

partly on a surface car park within the site frontage.

There is no relevant planning history to the site, although this proposal follows two pre-
application enquiries.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN
Adopted Royal Borough Local Plan (2003)

The main Development Plan policies applying to the site are:

Issue Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character of area DG1
Acceptable impact on appearance of area DG1, H10 H11
Acceptable impact when viewed from nearby
occupiers H10, H11
Maintains acceptable level of privacy for nearby
residents H10, H11
Maintains acceptable level of daylight and sunlight for

: H10, H11
nearby occupiers
Sufficient parking space available P4
Acceptable impact on the highway T5
Acceptable impact on trees important to the area N6

61



Mitigation for Thames Basin Heath Special T6, R3, IMP1
Acceptable impact on Public Rights of Way such as R14

public footpaths or bridleways

Community facilities CF1

These policies can be found at
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local plan documents and appendices

Adopted Ascot Sunninghill and Sunningdale Neighbourhood Plan (2011-2026)

Issue Neighbourhood Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance DG1, DG2 and DG3
of area
Housing H1, H2
Highways T1
Trees EN2

These policies can be found at
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200209/planning policy/477/neighbourhood plans/2

Adopted The South East Plan — Regional Spatial Strategy

Plan Policy
NRM6

Issue
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area

MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

National Planning Policy Framework Sections (NPPF) (2019)

Section 4- Decision—making

Section 9- Promoting Sustainable Transport

Section 12- Achieving well-designed places

Section 14- Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Section 16- Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version

Issue Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance

of area SP2, SP3
Sustainable Transport IF2

Housing mix and type HO2

Affordable housing HO3

Housing Density HO5

Flood risk NR1

Pollution (Noise, Air and Light) EP1, EP2, EP3, EP4
Nature conservation and Thames Basin Heath SPA | NE1, NE2

Listed Buildings HE2

Community facilities IF7

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version Proposed Changes (2019)

62



https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200209/planning_policy/477/neighbourhood_plans/2

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

Issue Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance QP1,0P3
of area
Sustainable Transport IF2
Housing mix and type HO2
Affordable housing HO3
Flood risk NR1
Pollution (Noise, Air and Light) EP1, EP2, EP3, EP4
Nature Conservation and Biodiversity NR2
Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows NR3
Community Facilities IF6

The NPPF sets out that decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans
according to their stage of preparation. The Borough Local Plan Submission Document was
published in June 2017. Public consultation ran from 30 June to 27 September 2017. Following
this process the Council prepared a report summarising the issues raised in the representations
and setting out its response to them. This report, together with all the representations received
during the representation period, the plan and its supporting documents was submitted to the
Secretary of State for independent examination in January 2018. The Submission Version of the
Borough Local Plan does not form part of the statutory development plan for the Borough.

In December 2018, the examination process was paused to enable the Council to undertake
additional work to address soundness issues raised by the Inspector. Following completion of
that work, in October 2019 the Council approved a series of Proposed Changes to the BLPSV
which are now out to public consultation until Sunday, 15 December 2019. All representations
received will be reviewed by the Council to establish whether further changes are necessary
before the Proposed Changes are submitted to the Inspector. In due course the Inspector will
resume the Examination of the BLPSV. The BLPSV and the BLPSV together with the Proposed
Changes are therefore material considerations for decision-making. However, given the above
both should be given limited weight.

These documents can be found at;
https://www3.rbwm.qgov.uk/blp

Supplementary Planning Documents

e RBWM Thames Basin Health’s SPA

Other Local Strategies or Publications

Other Strategies or publications material to the proposal are:

. RBWM Townscape Assessment
° RBWM Parking Strategy
o Affordable Housing Planning Guidance

More information on these documents can be found at:
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local _development framework/494/supplementary planni
ng

CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Comments from interested parties

63


https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/blp
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning

46 occupiers were notified directly of the application.

The planning officer posted a notice advertising the application at the site on 11" July 2019 and
the application was advertised in the Local Press on 4" July 2019

75 letters were received objecting to the application, summarised as:

Where in the report

Comment A .
this is considered

1. Impact and loss of on and off site trees. These trees are important | See section vi
for screening purposes and character value
2. Impact on wildlife and ecology See section vii
3. Harmful overlooking to neighbouring occupiers in Geffers Ride | See section iv
from large numbers of windows, terraces and balconies
4, A 5 storey building is totally out of character with the surrounding | See section ii
2-storey residential properties
5. The building will be over-bearing and result in loss of light and | See section iv
outlook to neighbouring occupiers
6. Noise nuisance and light pollution See section iv
7. Significant and dangerous traffic issues, congestion, poor | The Highways
visibility, impact on pedestrians, nursery children Authority have not
objected to the
application. See
section v for further
detall
8. Significant impact on drainage systems as a result of the | See section ix
development. Surrounding properties are already subject to flash
flooding. Insufficient foul water and surface water provisions
0. The proposal would have an adverse impact on the setting of All | See section iii
Saints’ Church which is a grade Il listed building due to its height
and external appearance
10. | Overdevelopment of the site. Cramped, loss of spaciousness. | See section i
Density inappropriate
11. | Insufficient parking The proposed level
of parking accords
with the Council’'s
car parking
standards
12. | The external appearance and materials are out of keeping with All | See sections ii and
Saints Church and the character of the area i
13. | The planting of trees would not screen the proposed | See section vi
building/reduce the harm
14. | The proposed flats are on land significantly higher than Geffers | See section ii
Ride
15. | The modern apartment block would be out of character See section ii
16. | The development will overlook the adjacent nursery resulting in | See section iv
safeguarding issues. The impact on the business would be so
severe that it could result in closure of the nursery. The village
relies on the nursery to provide childcare for hundreds of children.
The entrance to the proposed building would be facing the
nursery.
17. | Visitors and delivery vehicles would use the church and village | See section v
hall/nursery car park.
18. | Increase in traffic and disruption during construction phase See section v
19. | The proposal does not comply with the Neighbourhood Plan See section ii

64




20. | The site is not accessible, bus services are infrequent. Lack of | The Highways
pedestrian crossing. A travel plan has not been submitted Authority have not
objected to the
development
subject to the
receipt of further
information. See
section v
21. | The proposed building should not be a landmark building. Grand | See section ii and iii
regency heights is already a ‘landmark building’
22. | An application for the listing of Sandridge House has been made | This is noted but is
to Historic England not a reason to hold
off making a
decision on the
application.
23. | Contrary to Townscape Character Assessment See section i
24. | Public consultation by the applicants has not be carried out | See section x
sufficiently and comments from residents have been ignored.
25. | Impact on neighbours at Grand Regency Heights in terms of | See section iv
overlooking and loss of outlook

Statutory consultees

Where in
report this
considered

the

Consultee Comment

LLFA Objections on grounds that surface water runoff is to be | Section ix
discharged to an existing combined sewer which Thames
Water Records indicate is a foul sewer.
Consultees
Where in the
Consultee Comment report this is
considered
Parish The committee felt that the application is an over | These
Council development of the site at 70 dph and is contrary to NP/H1 — | comments are

addressed in
the main report

Development Briefs. There is no development brief or a
statement of community consultation. Contrary to the
statements in paragraphs 3.9 — 3.12 in the planning
statement, there was only limited consultations with
residents. The exhibition was held for five hours, less than
three weeks before the planning application was submitted.
It was held over 2.5 miles from the site and outside the
parish. Sunninghill & Ascot Parish Council was not notified or
invited to the exhibition.

The committee agreed that the NPPF, the emerging BLP
and the AS&S NP all require a mix of dwelling types. In
Sunninghill & Ascot Parish the majority of recent applications
have been for flats and this development adds further to the
imbalance of the mix.

The committee believe that there will be a significant loss of
amenity to residents in Geffers Ride. Table 8.1 of the
emerging borough wide design guide requires a separation

65




of 30m where the relationship is between 2 storey houses
and a block of flats above 2 storeys. All the adjacent houses
in Geffers Ride are within this distance. The separation with
Grand Regency Heights is less than 20m. The Committee
felt that the extensive terraces in the flats look right down (at
45 degrees) into the gardens of the houses in Geffers Ride,
which are only between 9m and 13m from the face of the
new building. The 4th floor terrace is extensive and lower
flats have a balcony. The plans show that the ground falls
away from the rear of the new development towards Geffers
Ride, making the height effectively 6+ storeys (20m) (not ‘up
to 5 storeys’ as stated in 4.3 of the planning statement).

The committee noted that the tree screen on the boundary
with the properties in Geffers Ride is new planting, and will
therefore offer little screening and that the external amenity
space is too small for the number of flats. It was also noted
that no environmental assessment has been provided,
contrary to NP/EN4. A bat survey of the existing building
should be carried out as there is plenty of wildlife in the site
and the loss of trees will greatly affect the biodiversity of the
area. There will also be a loss of light particularly in Winter,
to the neighbouring properties, but no light survey has been
provided.

The development lies between a Grade Il listed church and
Grand Regency Heights, which is of a ‘traditional’ style,
whereas the proposed building is modern with a flat roof.
The church, houses in Geffers Ride and most of this site are
classified as ‘Executive Residential Estates’ in the
Townscape assessment.

The development would totally dominate the houses in
Geffers Ride and therefore the committee believe that the
proposed development is harmful to both the character of the
area and the setting of the church, a heritage asset.

The committee was also concerned that the form of tenure
for the affordable homes was not given.

Highways No objection subject to the submission of further information | See section iv
relating to visibility splays, cycle parking and details of trip | for full
analysis comments

Trees Objections relating to impact and potential loss of on site and | See section vi
off site trees. for full

comments.

Ecology Further surveys are required to determine the presence / | See section vii

absence of roosting bats within the tree with moderate
potential to support roosting bats and to inform the relevant
mitigation. The results of these surveys and any mitigation
should be submitted prior to the determination of this
application in line with the government Circular 06/05:
Biodiversity and Geological Conservation quoted above.

In addition, the risk of the works impacting on birds, reptiles,
and mammals will need to be mitigated and, in line with the
above policy, secured via planning conditions:

66




i. Construction Environment Management Plan (CEMP:
Biodiversity), including precautionary measures for
designated sites, reptiles, nesting birds and
mammals, and a non-native invasive species method
statement.

ii. Biodiversity enhancement plan.

iii. Wildlife-sensitive lighting scheme.

Conservation | The loss of the existing building and its replacement with a | See section iii
substantially taller and bulkier building of non-traditional | for full
design would cause less than substantial harm to the | comments.
significance of the Listed Building and would result in the
loss of a non-designated heritage asset which positively
contributes to the understanding of the history of the area.

Conservation would not support the application.

Archaeology | The application site falls within an area of archaeological | Noted
significance. Therefore a condition is recommended in order
to mitigate the impacts of the development.

Thames Recommends condition relating to Foul Water and surface | Noted

Water water infrastructure

Design Siting These

Consultant While it is understood that consideration of the setting of All | comments are
Saints Church, a listed building, has been a factor in the | explored in

siting of the building towards the rear of the site, it is noted
that policy and NP/DG2 in particular requires all new
development to respect established building lines where this
is important to the character and appearance of the area.

It is considered that the siting of the building towards the rear
of the site is a retrograde step as the existing building on site
contributes to an established building line along London
Road, which is an important aspect of the character of the
area.

Form, scale and massing

The building plan form and irregular shape are considered to
result in a building that lacks design coherence. The step
backs and tiered effect appear as fussy and overly
complicated contributing to the incoherent appearance.

While the siting of the building seeks to optimise
development in response to the site constraints, and the
form is cut away to achieve maximum separation from the
surrounding buildings, this results in a building with little
design integrity.

It is noted that the building does not exceed the height of the
adjacent Grand Regency Heights but the scale of the
building particularly the long side and rear elevations results
in a very bulky appearance, quite at odds with the low scale
residential buildings around it to the north and west.

The dense boundary screening provided by the existing
mature trees mitigate to an extent the impact of this on the
surroundings.

section ii of the
report

67




Appearance and materials

The materials palette and detailing includes brick soldier
courses, stone keystones above the windows, large stone
cils, and stone banding. This provides a superficial
traditional styling referencing the adjacent Grand Regency
Heights. The grey cladding as fourth floor is of a different
language. The superficial styling is considered to be at odds
with the shape and form of the building and therefore the
materials contribute to rather than mitigates the lack of
overall design integrity and quality

Townscape Character

Policy NP/DG1 (Respecting the Townscape) states that
development proposals should respond positively to the
Local Townscape and that the RBWM Townscape
Assessment report should inform the design approach in a
planning application. The site is located within the character
area ‘Executive Residential Estates’ but abuts the ‘Post War
Residential flats’ townscape. Pre application advice accepted
the appropriateness of a flatted scheme and this is not at
issue.

It is noted that the guidance for Executive Residential
Estates townscape character area states: ‘Sensitive
contemporary design which responds to its immediate
context will be appropriate, where is makes reference to
existing building heights, massing and proportion, or stylistic
references. Reference to existing materials may also be
appropriate.’

The proposed building does not represent sensitive design
and its awkward shape, scale and bulk do not respond well
to its context and is considered incongruous within the
townscape. It would however be screened to an extent by
existing trees.

Others

Comment

Where in the

report this is
considered

SPAE

Objection:

e The proposal is not in keeping with the designated
townscape assessment of the area “Executive
Residential Estates"

e Overdevelopment of the plot

e Impact on neighbours in Geffers Ride including loss
of light, light pollution and obtrusiveness

e The access is close to the Heatherwood Hospital
roundabout which is busy an congested

e |t is not clear what the SANG arrangements area

e BFC have 2 major development and therefore they
should be consulted about traffic volumes

¢ Reducing the height from six to five storeys does not
make the new application acceptable

See main report
for

consideration of
these comments

68




0.

9.1

e The application as it has not been put forward in the
Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment
dated December 2018,

e Contrary to Neighbourhood Plan

RBWM The Access Advisory Forum is concerned that there are no | Noted
Access proposed apartment that will be built to Part M 4.2 or above.

Forum

The Victorian | The demolition of Sandridge House would result in the loss | See section iii
Society of an historic building of architectural and historical value.

Sandridge house in linked historically to All Saints Church

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION
The key issues for consideration are:
[ Principle of loss of care home
i Principal of residential development and impact on character
i Impact on Heritage
iv Impact on neighbours
v Parking/Highways
vi Trees
vii  Ecology and impact on Thames basin Heaths SPA
viii  Affordable Housing
X Drainage

X Other material planning considerations

Principle of change of use

Whilst the site is vacant, the existing lawful use of the building as a care home is deemed to be a
use which serves the local community as it provides a specialist form of residential care which
would be lost through the proposed development. As such it is considered that the provisions of
adopted policy CF1 (Community Facilities) and paragraph 90 of the NPPF apply in this case and
the Council therefore need to be satisfied that there is no longer a need for the facility or that
acceptable provision has been made elsewhere. The Planning Statement sets out that the Care
Quality Commission (CQC) recorded the overall service rating for Sandridge House as
inadequate and furthermore, as a consequence of the special measures process, the care home
closed and all the patients were relocated. Due to the disrepair of the building it would need
significant refurbishment to bring the building up to modern day standards. Furthermore, as all
patients have been relocated to other care homes with higher service ratings, the applicant
claims that there is no longer a requirement for Sandridge House to remain in use as a care
home. No information has been received to the contrary and therefore the Council is satisfied that
the requirements of policy CF1 have been met.

Impact on the Character of the Area

69



9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

9.6

9.7

9.8

The site lies within a settlement area outside of the Green Belt. Existing development
surrounding the site is predominantly residential, albeit that there are other uses within the
immediate surroundings including All Saints church and the associated church hall to the west of
the site. Residential intensification in such areas is acceptable in principle and new development
should adhere to the recommendations of the Townscape Character Assessment and
neighbourhood plan policies to ensure there is an acceptable impact on the character of the area.

Policy NP/DG1 (Respecting the Townscape) states that development proposals should respond
positively to the Local Townscape and that the RBWM Townscape Assessment report should
inform the design approach in a planning application. The Council's Townscape Assessment
identifies the site as being located within the Townscape Area ‘Executive Residential Estates’ the
key characteristics of which include low density development, built form defined by suburban
detached two storey houses and large housing set in large open plots. Whereas the neighbouring
site to the east, the Grand Regency Heights, resides within a ‘Post War Residential flats’
townscape. Given that the site is on the edge of the lower density Townscape Character zone
and comprises a large single building, and furthermore that the adjacent development to the west
is a high density flatted development, it is considered that the principle of a flatted development is
appropriate for this site. It should be noted at this point that the application site form one of the
housing allocations within the emerging Borough Local Plan (AL32). Whilst this is only to be
given limited weight at this time, it is important to note that the allocation seeks a development of
approximately 25 units which is of high quality and sensitive design, and which responds to the
immediate context and character of the area.

Neighbourhood Plan Policy NP/H2.2 (Mix of Housing Types) advises that development proposals
for new dwellings will be expected to contribute to the aim of ensuring a balanced mix of housing
in the Plan area. Dwellings should be in size and type, in keeping with the size and type of
dwellings already prevalent in the surrounding area except where there is a demonstrable need
for alternative type or size of home. The proposal includes a mix of 1, 2 and 3-bed apartments
which would contribute positively towards the mix of housing in the local area, which includes
both larger detached dwellinghouses and smaller flats.

The existing building, which is of a traditional design and a subordinate scale in relation to its plot,
contributes positively to the character of the area. Whilst its loss is not objected to in principle, it
means that any replacement building would have to contribute as positively to the character of
the area to ensure that no harm arises as a result of the development.

The proposed building is L-shaped in footprint and takes up a substantial part of the rear section
of the plot. The siting of the building in the rear part of the site to avoid protected trees means
that the proposed development does not respect the building line on this side of London Road.
Neighbourhood Plan policy NP/DG2 recognises the importance of building lines where they
contribute to the character of the areas, as it does in this case.

Whilst the proposed building respects the height of the adjacent flatted development, Grand
Regency Heights, it does not respect the fact that the application site also lies adjacent to All
Saints church (which is equivalent to a two-storey building) and is surrounded by domestic scale
dwellings to the north and north-west in Geffers Ride. At 15.6m in height it is considered
incompatible with the neighbouring church and residential dwellings in Geffers Ride.
Furthermore, the width and depth of the building gives rise to a significantly bulky form which
does not respects the surrounding development which is more subservient in nature.

The shape and form of the building tends to be more contemporary in its approach, however the
materials palette (apart from the grey cladding to the roof) and design detailing, takes on a more
traditional design. This leads to a superficial style which is at odds with the layout and shape of
the building. Furthermore, the tiered nature of the building, designed to reduce the impact to
surrounding properties, results in an overly fussy appearance which would be prominent within
the surroundings and at odds with nearby existing development. Overall there is considered to be
a lack of clear design coherence, which coupled with the overall height and mass would result in

70



9.9

9.10

9.11

9.12

9.13

9.14

the building appearing bulky and incongruous in the street scene of London Road when viewed
against the adjacent buildings. Furthermore, the development would be very apparent from
Geffers Ride and appear as an incongruous and dominant structure behind the low lying two-
storey dwellings which are spaciously set out in this street scene.

Heritage

The site is located adjacent to the Grade Il Listed All Saints Church to the west. Centred in a
large plot, the existing building is two storeys, with some single storey elements as later
additions. Constructed in red brick with an English bond, burnt header courses split the
elevations. The windows are white painted timber casements topped with brick arches and
herringbone infill. Cast iron black hoppers display a date of 1913. The roof is welsh slate with red
clay ridge tiles and exposed rafter tails painted white. Internally the building appears in good
condition with a large timber doglegged open stair with lantern above.

The Conservation Officer describes the history of the building within the detailed consultation
comments as follows: The building appears on O.S maps in 1871 (but thought to have been built
before), it was then extended 1899 and again in 1930. In 1939 the building was renamed
Grenville House when the Maurice Home for Girls, Ealing was evacuated to Ascot after the
outbreak of the Second World War. It was officially opened in 1946 by Princess Marie Louise,
when the society decided to make Ascot the permanent residence for the girls. In 1959 the Home
was closed for conversion to a nursery. It reopened a year later with the arrival of the children
from the Princess Helena Victoria Nursery, Catford, London. The Home was officially renamed as
the Princess Helena Victoria Nursery in 1961 and closed in 1969 as there was a lessening need
for a nursery in the area.

Due to the buildings history and good architectural detailing, it is considered to be a non-
designated heritage asset, which contributes not only to the setting of the Grade Il Listed All
Saints Church, but to the wider area of Ascot. Once a town characterised by its ambitious villas
used by the highest of society during the racing season, Ascot has seen many of its large
residential properties replaced. Those that remain have an arguably higher significance due to
this loss.

To the south of the church is Englemere Wood, the Coach House and Englemere Lodge which
were built in a similar period to Sandridge House with very similar detailing such as exposed
rafter tails painted white, shape of arches above white painted timber windows, undulating roofs,
overhanging eaves and colour of brickwork. The removal of Sandridge House would remove one
of the few historic buildings remaining in this area of Ascot and in the setting of All Saints church.
It is argued that this set of buildings can be considered as part of the immediate and wider setting
of the Listed Building. The establishment of a new and much larger block of flats, in a completely
different style to the surrounding dwellings would have an obvious and negative impact and
would not be considered to “[preserve] the building or its setting” which would be contrary to para.
66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

The proposal would be assessed against policy LB2 of the Local Plan and HE1 of the emerging
local plan (albeit this policy is given limited weight at this stage). Furthermore, the NPPF makes it
clear that the setting of a heritage asset is the surroundings in which a heritage asset is
experienced. Historic England’s 2015 document “The Setting of Heritage Assets: Historic
Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning 3 states ‘Where the significance of a heritage
asset has been compromised in the past by unsympathetic development affecting its setting, to
accord with NPPF policies, consideration still needs to be given to whether additional change will
further detract from, or can enhance, the significance of the asset. Negative change could include
severing the last link between an asset and its original setting.’

The setting of All Saints Church has already been harmed significantly due to the demolition of
the Rectory, which until the 1930’s was located directly to the north of Sandridge House, and the

71



9.15

9.16

9.17

9.18

9.19

9.20

demolition Englemere Hill, the small estate which surrounded the church on to the north and
west. By demolishing Sandridge House this will sever the last link that All Saint’s Church has to
its historic setting. The proposals would therefore be considered to cause less than substantial
harm to the Listed Building by demolishing a building which positively contributes to its setting
and to the understanding of the history of the area.

Whilst the proposed building would be set further back than the existing and would have decent
coverage from mature greenery when viewed from the church site itself, the contribution of a
setting to its heritage asset is not just comprised of the way the building is visually experienced, it
is just as much found in the experience it provides and the historical understanding it affords.

Notwithstanding the concerns regarding the total demolition of the existing building, at 5 storeys,
the proposed units would be twice the height of the existing and therefore the character of the
proposals would be at odds with that of the existing. Indeed the design and access statement
states that the proposal “seeks to create a focal building in a prominent location while responding
to the built form within the vicinity”. The character of the existing building is not one of a focal
nature, being of local vernacular and architecture and sitting neatly behind a row of existing
mature trees. The creation of a new “focal building” would be out of keeping with the character of
the area, in which detached houses sit subtly in the suburban landscape, and would cause harm
to the significance of the Listed Building.

Additionally, the proposed architecture is confused with architectural detailing that does not
respond to the existing historic building on site or that surrounding, but picks up on design
elements from the neighbouring Grand Regency Heights. The proposed development is a
modern building which is not considered to positively contribute to the area or historic setting of
the church. Therefore design cues taken from this building would not be enhancing the area or
setting of the churchin any way.

To conclude this section of the report, the proposed development is considered to be harmful to
the setting of the grade Il listed All Saints Church, both in terms of the direct impact from a tall,
bulky development of incoherent design qualities and through the loss of a positive appearing
building which contributes to the history of the area. Whilst Sandridge House is not a designated
asset and its loss is not objected to in principle, for a proposal to be acceptable in heritage terms
any replacement building would need to contribute as positively to the character of the area and
the setting of the listed church as the existing building does. The current proposal does not
achieve this.

o Impact on neighbouring properties

The site shares a common boundary with two-storey residential properties to the north and west
which are accessed from Geffers Ride. These properties are of a domestic scale, have shallow
rear gardens and tend to be set on lower ground level then the application building would be. As
part of the officer site inspection each property sharing a common boundary with Sandridge
House was visited to ascertain the potential impact on neighbour amenity from the proposed
development. For clarity the five residential properties sharing a common boundary with
Sandridge House are nos. 17, 18, 25, 26 and 27 Geffers Ride.

The proposed site plan demonstrates that the separation distances between the proposed
development and these adjacent properties range from 18m to 34m depending on the positioning
of these neighbouring dwellinghouses. In all cases their private amenity spaces are much closer
to the proposed development. It was also noted that the ground levels at No.17 Geffers Ride are
significantly lower than at the application site (approx. 2m). In addition, consideration has to be
given to the scale and height of the proposed development. Whilst the separation distances as
described above may be appropriate within residential areas within the district to ensure two-
storey development does not give rise to neighbour amenity issues, in this case the development
proposed is 5 storeys high at a height of above 15m. It is appreciated that the upper floor of the

72



9.21

9.22

9.23

9.24

9.25

9.26

9.27

9.28

development are stepped away from the edges of the ground floor footprint of the building,
however they are not stepped in sufficiently enough to prevent a building of this scale and bulk
appearing overbearing when viewed from these neighbouring garden areas. In addition, the
fenestration on the proposed building is significant and the upper floors of the development are
too close to the north and west boundaries of the site resulting in a development which appears
significantly over-bearing to neighbouring occupants and which would result in harmful levels of
overlooking.

As will be explored further on in the report, there will be significant tree loss in the rear part of the
site. Whilst this is not objected to, it would open up the north and west boundaries of the site
resulting in the building appearing particularly prominent. A further concern raised is that of light
pollution from the development due to the many windows proposed. It is considered that due to
the proximity and scale of the building to neighbouring occupiers and the number of windows
proposed, immediate neighbouring properties would experience more light pollution than is
considered reasonable for a suburban residential area.

The gap of separation between the proposed eastern flank elevation of the building and the
neighbouring development, Grand Regency Heights is 27m which is considered an appropriate
distance given these two buildings would be of a similar scale and height.

Impact on future occupants

Whilst there is limited amenity space within the site for new residents, this is not uncommon for a
development of this nature. Furthermore, the units would have access to terraces and balconies
which is considered appropriate for a flatted development.

Highways and Parking considerations

The site is located to the north of the A329 London Road, close to the Heatherwood roundabout.
This application is accompanied by a Transport Statement (TS) prepared by Highway Planning
Ltd.

Access Arrangements

Access to the site for right-turning vehicles is via a splitter island, and this arrangement will be
retained to serve the development. The existing site access will be reconfigured to facilitate two-
way traffic flows.

The applicant was advised to provide visibility splays commensurate with the vehicular speeds
along the A329 London Road. It is understood that a pre-application document titled Site Access
Appraisal, included speed surveys of the eastbound traffic along the A329 London Road. The
results lead to the proposed visibility splays of 2.4m x 59m at the site entrance, which the TS
reports accords with the requirements set out in Manual for Streets 1 and 2. However these have
not been submitted with the application.

In addition to the above, the design of the new entrance should ensure that the proposed gates
are positioned at least 5.0m from the highway boundary, or 7.0m from the kerb edge to allow a
car to be driven off the public highway before the gates are opened. The position of the gates
indicated the Proposed Site Plan [18-J2556-01] do not satisfy this requirement.

Overall the site access arrangement is considered acceptable. However, the applicant is required
to submit an amended plan for the gated entrance and speed survey details. It is considered that
were the application being recommended for approval the submission of these details could have
been left to condition.

Parking Provision

73



9.29

9.30

9.31

9.32

9.33

9.34

9.35

9.36

The development comprises a mix of residential including, 11 x 1 beds, 18 x 2 beds and 4 x 3
beds. Based on the Borough’s Parking Standard (2004) the development attracts a demand for
55 parking spaces. The development provides 56 spaces, which includes 19 surface parking
spaces and 37 parking bays located in the proposed basement parking forecourt. The design of
the basement access ramp complies with best practise guidance identified in the IStructE
guidance (Design recommendations for multi-storey and underground car parks).

Although the level of parking and the design for both the surface and basement areas complies
with the Borough’s standard, the applicant is advised to provide electric vehicle charging points at
a ratio of 20% active and 20% passive of the total number of spaces provided. This could be
sought via condition if the application were to be approved.

Cycle Parking Provision

The development generates a requirement for 33 cycle parking spaces. The Transport
Statement reports that the development would provide in excess of the 33 required, which are
positioned in several facilities across the development. The first is in a separate store located at
ground level which the TS suggests can accommodate 20 cycles. The second facility is located
within the ground floor of the building and will accommodate 10 cycles. The TS also reports that
there are also several individual storage areas in the basement which can accommodate cycles.

The internal width of the store is too narrow to accommodate 20 cycles. The stands which is
presumed to be a Sheffield-type format should be at least 900mm apart. The applicant is advised
that ramps designed for cycle and vehicle use should employ measures to reduce vehicle speeds
and prioritise safety (e.g., barrier access). Furthermore, the gradient of ramped access for
cyclists should not exceed 1:12. The applicant is required to amend the plans and provide the
supporting information which has informed the cycle parking design for the development. The
design and accessibility to the individual cycle store should also be reviewed. These details could
be provided via condition if the application were to be approved.

Serving Arrangement

The servicing arrangement provisions are considered acceptable as demonstrated in the
Proposed Site Plan.

Traffic Impact

The Transport Statement reports that a Site Access Appraisal prepared by iTransport and
submitted to the Council sets out potential traffic activity from the existing site and the predicted
traffic generation of the residential development. However, this information is excluded from the
current submission. For completeness, the applicant is required to submit details of the trip
analysis. Incidentally, the applicant is advised that the predicted trip rates featured in paragraph
4.13 of the TS is low when compared to recent residential development proposals in the Ascot
area. This information could be submitted via condition if the application were to be approved.

To conclude this section of the report, it is acknowledge that the Highways Officer does not object
to the principle of a flatted development of this scale or to the intensification of the vehicular
access and increased vehicular movements on the public highway. Further information has been
requested however these details are minor and could be requested via condition in the event of a
planning permission.

Impact on Trees

A number of trees in the rear half of the site are to be removed. There is no objection to the loss
of these trees as they have negligible public amenity. However, there are a number of trees in

74



9.37

9.38

9.39

9.40

9.41

9.42

9.43

the south eastern sector of the site which are proposed to be removed, including two off-site
mature Sweet chestnuts in the grounds of Ascot Towers, nos. T42 and T43 which have sizeable
stems. They may potentially be considered as veteran. There is a quality Sweet chestnut, T1,
and a further 3 trees T2, T4 and T5 which contribute as a group. The removal of all these trees
will significantly open up views into the site from London Road and diminish the sylvan qualities
both in this and the adjoining site.

Whilst the proposal appears to be tree-led in its positioning, so as to keep it outside the RPA of
the retained trees, the building is of such a size/scale that there is little space between it and the
RPA of T21 and T17. W.ith the construction of a basement, it is not clear how the proposal will
be built without making incursions into the RPA's of these and other trees. One of the surface
water distribution pipes on the SUDS plan does make a small incursion into the RPA of the Cedar
of Lebanon T17 and Western red cedar T20, and will need to be relocated to outside the RPA’s.
Other services could infringe RPA’s, the applicant will need to demonstrate otherwise.

The proposed site plan 18-J2556-01 shows the existing hedge/tree screening belts along the
partial length of boundaries to be replaced with new planting. It is unnecessary to remove
existing where these are of reasonable quality.

The applicant has not shown much in the way of hardstanding outside the building footprint and it
is likely there will be pressure to install all weather surfacing such as patios and additional paths
in future to accommodate the reasonable needs of the occupants and for maintenance purposes.
This could compromise the RPA’s of retained trees, particularly T20 and T17. One path is
already shown through the RPA of T17, but no details have been given of construction, and thus
damage to the tree may occur as a result. Shading of patios could also result in pressure to
detrimentally prune.

The proximity of the building to the western boundary means it could not be adequately softened
when viewed from the two closest properties further to the west. Large growing trees that would
achieve a desirable height, would not have the space to mature without causing an unreasonable
interference, such as shading, restriction of views and physical contact with the building.

In light of the foregoing, the proposal has not adequately demonstrated the protection of
important on site and off site trees which are important features in local landscape and provide
good screening to the existing building from the surrounding properties. The proposal therefore
does not accord with adopted policies N6 and DGL1.

Ecology and Impact Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (SPA)

The Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (the SPA) was designated in 2005 to protect
and manage the ecological structure and function of the area to sustain the nationally important
breeding populations of three threatened bird species. The application site is located within two
kilometres from the closest part of the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (SPA),
which is protected by European and national legislation. This imposes requirements on the Local
Planning Authority to protect this sensitive area of natural/semi-natural habitat. Although the
Council has an adopted Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) known as Allens’s
Field, this only has a limited amount of remaining capacity. However this capacity has already
been safeguarded for the delivery of submission allocated sites in the BLPSV. Unplanned
development using up this capacity could result in sustainably located plan—led developments
being put at risk of not being implemented in a timely manner or not at all. To avoid this arising,
the Council (through a decision of Cabinet in June 2018) agreed that unplanned development of
over 10 dwellings would not be able to rely on capacity at the Council’'s SANG at Allen’s Field
and would need to find alternative mitigation.

The Council is proactively progressing options to ensure that additional SANG comes forward
through to 2033 to assist in mitigating the impact of new windfall residential developments and

75



9.44

9.45

9.46

9.47

there are a number of opportunities currently available and the council is investigating them all in
consultation with Natural England. However, in the absence of available RBWM-provided SANG
capacity, developers must provide their own alternative mitigation in line with the requirements
set out by the Supplementary Planning Document Thames Basin Heaths SPA.(Part 1). Whilst the
planning statement advises that the applicant has engaged in negotiations with a third party
SANG, the application does not provide any form of acceptable mitigation in line with the
Council's SPD Thames Basin Health’s SPA and therefore it has not been demonstrated that the
proposed development would not have a significant impact in combination with other plans and
projects in the locality on the SPA. Given the foregoing the proposal fails to comply with the
Appropriate Assessment and therefore Natural England have not commented on the application.

The Council's Ecologist is satisfied with the majority of information submitted with the application
however, further surveys are required to determine the presence / absence of roosting bats. A
number of trees were assessed as having potential to support roosting bats. Some of these are
to be retained but three trees to be removed were assessed as having low potential to support
roosting bats and one with moderate potential to support roosting bats. In line with best practice
guidelines, the low potential trees can be soft felled under the supervision of a licenced bat
ecologist. However, one tree, of moderate potential, has not been further surveyed. As such, in
line with the Bat Conservation Trust’'s Bat Survey Guidelines, further surveys on the moderate
potential tree should be undertaken in order to determine the presence / likely absence of
roosting bats.

Affordable Housing

The application is for a development of more than 15 dwellings and therefore there is an
expectation in line with adopted policy H3 for affordable housing provision. This is in line with the
revised NPPF which advises that affordable housing provision will not be required for
developments that are not major developments. The requirements are further explained in the
Council's Affordable Housing Guidance Document. The submissions include very limited
information relating to affordable housing. Whilst it is stated that 10 of the units would be
affordable, there is no details of tenure. With regard to tenure mix the current need is for 80%
rented and 20% shared ownership. The 80% rent should then be split to 45% affordable rent and
35% social rent. This is based on the local need identified in the Berkshire SHMA. With no details
and no mechanism to secure any affordable housing, the proposal fails to comply with adopted
policy H3.

Flooding/Drainage

The proposed drainage strategy drawing indicates that surface water run-off is to be discharged
to an existing combined sewer. However, Thames Water indicate this is a foul sewer. Further
drainage information needs to be submitted to clarify this point before the Lead Local Flood
Authority can support the application.

Other Material Considerations

Development Brief

Neighbourhood Plan policy NP/H1 (Development Briefs) requires that development proposals
which include 10 or more dwellings on sites larger than 0.4 hectares shall be required to submit a
Development brief and to actively engage in consultation with the Parish Council and the
community as part of the design process prior to any planning application being submitted.
Furthermore, planning applications for developments which require a Development Brief must be
accompanied by a Statement of Community Consultation. The Planning Statement sets out how
the applicant has engaged with the community in the lead up to the application sending letters out
to adjoining properties and carrying out a public exhibition. Whilst the list of documents submitted
with the application do not include a Development Brief and Statement of Community
Consultation, it is considered that the information submitted in support of the application which

76



9.48

9.49

9.50

9.51

9.52

10.

10.1

10.2

demonstrates how the application has evolved meets the general aims of policy NP/H1
(Development Briefs). Whilst it hasn’t resulted with a scheme which meets the aspirations of the
local residents or the Local Planning Authority it cannot be said that the process required by
NP/H1 has not been followed.

Housing Land Supply

Paragraphs 10 and 11 of the NPPF set out that there will be a presumption in favour of
Sustainable Development. The latter paragraph states that:

For decision-taking this means: approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date
development plan without delay; or where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the
policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting
permission unless:
. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
o any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

Footnote 7 of the NPPF (2019) clarifies that:

‘out-of-date policies include, for applications involving the provision of housing, situations
where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable
housing sites (with the appropriate buffer..).’

The BLPSV is not yet adopted planning policy and the Council’'s adopted Local Plan is more than
five years old. Therefore, for the purposes of decision making, currently the starting point for
calculating the 5 year housing land supply (5hyr hls) is the ‘standard method’ as set out in the
NPPF (2019).

At the time of writing, the Council is able to demonstrate approximately 4.5 years of housing land
supply. Therefore, for the purpose of this planning application the LPA currently cannot
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer).

Footnote 6 of the NPPF (2019) clarifies that section d(i) of paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2019) is
not applied where ‘policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance
provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed’. This includes designated
heritage assets and habitat sites. For the reasons set out above the proposed development
would harm the integrity of the SPA. Plainly where there is such a restrictive policy in play, and its
requirements are not satisfied by the development proposal, it is clear that the “tilted balance”
does not apply, and the planning balance is to be carried out in the ordinary way, having regard
to the statutory test in section 38(6) of the 2004 Act. This is set out below in the conclusion.

PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION

Paragraph 11 of the Framework explains how the presumption in favour of sustainable
development applies. As set out in paragraph 9.52 it is considered that in this instance the tilted
balance should not be applied. However a balancing exercise still needs to be carried out which
weighs up the benefits of the scheme against the overall harm which has been identified
throughout this assessment,

In respect of economic benefits, it is acknowledged that future residents of the development
would make use of local services and spend in local shops. However, as the scheme is for 33
units the impact of this additional spend in the local economy would be limited. The scheme
would also result in direct and indirect employment and create a demand for building supplies
during the construction phase. Due to the short-term nature of these benefits, this can only be
given limited weight.

77



10.3

10.4

11.

12.

The fact that the application site is a housing allocation for 25 units in the emerging Borough
Local Plan is also given only limited weight for the reasons described in paragraphs 7.1 and 7.2
above.

Whilst acknowledging the above limited benefits and that this proposal for 33 units would make a
moderate contribution towards the LPA meeting their 5yr his the proposed development remains
contrary to the Development Plan and it is not considered that the NPPF (2019), as a material
consideration, demonstrates that in this instance planning permission should be granted.

APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

e Appendix A - Site location plan and site layout
e Appendix B — Plan and elevation drawings

REASONS RECOMMENDED FOR REFUSAL IF PERMISSION ISNOT GRANTED

The proposed development, as a result of its height, mass, siting and external appearance would
result in a building of significant bulk which is lacking in design coherence. The development
would therefore be at odds and incompatible with the surrounding development such that it would
be harmful to the street scenes of both London Road and Geffers Ride, to the detriment of the
character of the area. Accordingly, the proposed development conflicts with the requirements of
national planning policy as contained within chapter 12 of the NPPF (February 2019), Local Plan
Policies DG1, H10 and H11, policies NP/DG1, NP/DG2 and NP/DG3 of the Ascot, Sunninghill
and Sunningdale Neighbourhood Plan (2014).

The loss of the existing building and its replacement with a substantially taller and bulkier building
of non-traditional design would cause less than substantial harm to the significance of the Listed
Building, All Saints Church, and would result in the loss of a non-designated heritage asset which
positively contributes to the understanding of the history of the area and this is not outweighed by
any public benefit. The proposal is contrary to Policy LB2 of the Royal Borough of Windsor and
Maidenhead Local Plan (Incorporating Amendments Adopted June 2003) and Section 16 of the
National Planning Policy Framework 2019.

The proposed building, by reason of its overall scale, height and proximity to the north and west
boundaries of the site would have an overdominant, overbearing and unneighbourly impact on
the on the adjacent properties within Geffers Ride. Furthermore, the large number of windows at
first floor level and above, together with the balconies and terraces in the north and west
elevation, would give rise to overlooking and loss of privacy (actual and perceived) to the
adjacent properties within Geffers Ride and to the adjacent nursery at All Saints Village Hall. The
proposal would be contrary to saved Policies H10 and H11 of the Royal Borough of Windsor and
Maidenhead Local Plan 1999 (Incorporating Alterations adopted June 2003) and contrary to
NPPF paragraph 17 bullet point 4.

The proposal fails to demonstrate that the construction of the development would not have a
detrimental impact on protected trees within and outside the site. The loss of these trees would
have a detrimental impact on the visual amenity of the area. Accordingly, the proposal is contrary
to policies NP/EN2.1, NP/EN2.2 and NP/EN3 of the Neighbourhood Plan and policies DG1 and
N6 of the Local Plan.

The proposal is likely to have a significant effect in combination with other plans and projects in
the locality on the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area [SPA] as designated under The
Conservation (Natural Habitats, etc) Regulations, and which is also designated as a Site of
Special Scientific Interest [SSSI). This would arise through increased visitor and recreational
pressure on Chobham Common, as a constituent part of the SPA, causing disturbance to three
species of protected, ground-nesting birds that are present at the site. In the absence of an
assessment to show no likely significant effect, including sufficient mitigation measures to
overcome any such impact on the SPA, and in the absence of financial provision towards the
Strategic Access Management and Monitoring (SAMM) project and the provision of Suitable

78



Alternative Natural Greenspace (SANG) noted in the Council's Thames Basin Heaths Special
Protection Area SPD or satisfactory alternative provision, the likely adverse impact on the
integrity of this European nature conservation site has not been overcome. The proposal is thus
in conflict with the guidance and advice in the National Planning Policy Framework and the
RBWM Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area SPD.

It has not been demonstrated that the scheme would have an acceptable impact upon bats,
which are a protected species. The application has not demonstrated that it meets paragraph 175
of the NPPF or NP/EN4 of the adopted Ascot, Sunninghill and Sunningdale Neighbourhood Plan
2011-2026.

In the absence of a mechanism to secure 30% Affordable Housing the proposal fails to comply
with Paragraphs 63 and 64 of the National Planning Policy Framework and policy H3 of the Royal
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Adopted Local Plan.

The application does not demonstrate that a viable surface water drainage system will be
delivered and insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate that flood risk would not
be exacerbated as a result of these proposals. Accordingly the proposal is contrary to paragraph
165 of the NPPF.

79



Ordnance Survey (c) Crown Copyright 2018. All nghts reserved. Licence number 100022432

80



GRAMD REGEMCY HEIGHTS

Ordnance Survey () Crown Copyright 2018. All rights resered. Licence number 100022432

81



PRELIMINARY |

al

ASCOT DESIGN

Timeless architecture

PATRICK RUDOY HOMES

t::l T SANDMIDGE HOUSE, LONDON RORD.
ASCOT

PROPSOED SITE PLAN

1200 @ At ANED KR

| 1e-rzsse01.1 11" ]

- s 2t Ay g & s o
[— v

82



|
_ AN

8k MO

1
1

R I e R

|
|
|
|
|
|
= | |
000s L DU [N S SO U IR IS RN

?IIIJ

dog L.

Lzmu
I
sT

e a8
| g | &
_ | ;
N g
| _ N
o T
o= =Rl it Rt s S
M ! N e
| | 11

o o g | _IIL_.nlllmllh_T_ll_lll_F
ﬁ_ J & | i | | " ] | _ ;
L _ 3 — | —
+ | [ 002 | | _ e .
e ] R o S W ____ T /f -
| 1 (Lt e e ———g o
I | b P
1 | w
IS 7 PR
| A 4 =
| |
_ I o m 4
[I— et m m

_ o m m

x\.\

BASEMENT FLOOR PLAN

1T DES|GHN

Timeloss architact

83



GROUND FLOOR PLAN

84

TERRACE

ASCC

1T DES|IGH
imulece orchitecters




TERRACE

PLOT14 [ |:|

LEEAT . | —

21 ngm /871wl

TIRAACE

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

85



PLOTIS

O =
_'I=ED{

TERRALL

TERRALLD

a1
] 'h ?ﬁj‘ﬁ% — @E@]

SECOND FLOOR PLAN

86



] PLOT 30 %
& Pl

=
THIRD FLOOR PLAN

r—

— -

87



TERRACE

FOURTH FLOOR PLAN

88



= i

bidaiald

NOILVA3T3 AvOd NOANO1

89



NOILVA3T3 34IS

A
=N |

—

-

e --n1.

0

-
BN

g

bk
I

NOILVAZT3 ¥v3d

90

11

il 1

[

o
Lag

I

=
-
=
-




FRONT

REAR

g
¥
h
:
,,
E

LBecschs | L5

BN STORE PLAN

91



92

CYCLE STORE PLAN



Agenda ltem 7

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

4 December 2019 Item: 7

Application 19/01714/FULL

No.:

Location: Site of Former 61 To 63 Dedworth Road Windsor SL4 5AZ

Proposal: Mixed use development with retail unit at ground floor and 13 x apartments above, with
access, car parking, servicing and landscaping following demolition of existing
buildings (Part Retrospective).

Applicant: Patrick Ruddy Homes

Agent: Mr David Lomas

Parish/Ward:  Windsor Unparished/Clewer East

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Haydon Richardsonon 01628 796697 or at
haydon.richardson@rbwm.gov.uk

1.

11

1.2

1.3

14

SUMMARY

Planning permission for almost identical schemes has been granted in 2016 (15/04147/FULL)
and 2013 (13/00090/FULL). The only difference between those schemes and the proposal is that
several non-protected trees have been removed from the rear of the site.

The site is currently cleared and boarded off, following the demolition of a two storey building on
the site. The former building comprised retail usage at ground floor with 3 residential units above.
To the rear of the building was a car park and beyond that a store building.

The proposal seeks to provide a mixed use, 4 storey building, of contemporary design
comprising 420sgm of retail space at ground floor and 13 flats above. The rear of the building
would provide parking with 16 spaces for the proposed flats and a further 19 spaces for the retail
unit, 4 of which are proposed to be disabled bays. To the front of the building 6 parking bays are
proposed, where the existing parking lay-by is currently present. The access to the site would be
repositioned to the eastern side of the site and would run parallel to the eastern side boundary to
provide access to the rear parking area. The existing access to the substation on the west of the
building would remain. The proposed building would add to the existing mixed street scene,
where the character is buildings of varied height, design and material finishes. A protected tree
would be replanted and landscaping surrounding the site would be appropriately retained and
provided where necessary.

There has been no material change to the Development Plan since the previous decision and it
is not considered that the revisions to the NPPF (2019) raises any further issues which were not
addressed under the last application. Whilst the existing building on site has now been
demolished it is not considered that conditions on site have been changed to the affect that
further issues are raised. The site remains in an accessible and sustainable location where,
subject to conditions, it is not considered would cause significant harm to vehicle movements or
the highways network. The proposal would also have an acceptable impact on the amenity of
neighbouring properties, whilst providing a good living environment for its future occupiers. It
would preserve protected trees and provide an enhanced retail unit. For the reasons mentioned
above the proposal is considered to be in compliance with Local Plan Policies DG1, H10, H11,
N6, T5, P4, as well as all relevant planning guidance contained within the NPPF (2019).

It is recommended the Panel grants planning permission with the conditions listed in
Section 13 of this report.

REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION

¢ The Council’s Constitution does not give the Head of Planning delegated powers to

93



3.1

3.2

4.1

5.1

5.2

5.3

determine the application in the way recommended; such decisions can only be made by the
Panel.

DESCRIPTIONOF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

The site is currently cleared following the demolition of a two storey yellow brick building dating
from 1960/70’s. That (former) building comprised of retail use on the ground floor and had 3 flats
at first floor. To the rear of the building was car park and beyond that a store building. The site is
rectangular in shape having a frontage width of 28m, and a depth of between 190- 210m. The
rear boundary abuts the side boundary of 22 St Johns Drive.

The development site is located in a small shopping parade on Dedworth Road. Nearby are other
commercial uses as well as residential properties and opposite the site an area of public open
space

KEY CONSTRAINTS

A tree afforded protection under a Tree Preservation Order is located at the front of the site. The
Tree is a recent replacement of an older protected tree which was removed by the council.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

The application seeks planning permission for a mixed use development comprising a retail unit
at ground floor and 13 x apartments above, with access, car parking, servicing and landscaping
following the demolition of existing buildings.

The development is part retrospective as demolition works have already taken place at the site.

This proposal is effectively identical to those approved under (now expired) planning permissions
15/04147/FULL and 13/00090/FULL on this site.

Reference Description Decision

99/77837 Erection of a two storey block of 8 x | Refused — 12.05.1999
2 bedroom flats following demolition
of warehouse with associated works.

11/03438/0UT Outline  application  with some | Withdrawn - 06.03.2012
matters reserved for redevelopment
to provide a ground floor retail unit
and 14 apartments together with
access  works, parking and
landscaping following demolition of
existing site

12/90348/PREAPP | Pre-application for Ground floor retail | Positive feedback
and 12 flats on first, second and third | dependent upon final
floors. plans.

13/00090/FULL Mixed use development comprising | Approved: 08.04.2013
ground floor retail unit with 13
apartments above, together with
associated access works, parking,
servicing and landscaping following
demolition of existing building.

15/04147/FULL Mixed use development with retail | Approved: 04.03.2016
unit at ground floor and 13 x
apartments above, with access, car

94



6.1

7.1

following demolition  of
buildings

parking, servicing and landscaping
existing

DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Adopted Royal Borough Local Plan (2003)

The main Development Plan policies applying to the site are:

Issue Adopted Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance DG1 H10 H11
of area ' ’
Highways P4 AND T5
Trees N6

These policies can be found at

https://www3.rbwm.qgov.uk/downloads/download/154/local plan documents and appendices

MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

National Planning Policy Framework Sections (NPPF) (2019)

e Section 4 - Decision—making

e Section 9 - Promoting Sustainable Transport

e Section 12- Achieving well-designed places

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version

Issue

Local Plan Policy

Design in keeping with character and appearance
of area

SP2, SP3

Sustainable Transport

IF2

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version Proposed Changes (2019)

Issue Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance QP1,0P3
of area ’
Sustainable Transport IF2
Housing mix and type HO2
Affordable housing HO3
Flood risk NR1

Pollution (Noise, Air and Light)

EP1, EP2, EP3, EP4

The NPPF sets out that decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans
according to their stage of preparation. The Borough Local Plan Submission Document was
published in June 2017. Public consultation ran from 30 June to 27 September 2017. Following
this process the Council prepared a report summarising the issues raised in the representations
and setting out its response to them. This report, together with all the representations received
during the representation period, the plan and its supporting documents was submitted to the
Secretary of State for independent examination in January 2018. The Submission Version of the

Borough Local Plan does not form part of the statutory development plan for the Borough.

95



https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices

7.2

7.3

7.4

8.1

8.2

8.3

In December 2018, the examination process was paused to enable the Council to undertake
additional work to address soundness issues raised by the Inspector. Following completion of
that work, in October 2019 the Council approved a series of Proposed Changes to the BLPSV
which are now out to public consultation until Sunday, 15 December 2019. All representations
received will be reviewed by the Council to establish whether further changes are necessary
before the Proposed Changes are submitted to the Inspector. In due course the Inspector will
resume the Examination of the BLPSV. The BLPSV and the BLPSV together with the Proposed
Changes are therefore material considerations for decision-making. However, given the above
both should be given limited weight.

These documents can be found at:
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/blp

Other Local Strategies or Publications
Other Strategies or publications material to the proposal are:

° RBWM Townscape Assessment
. RBWM Parking Strategy

More information on these documents can be found at:
https://www3.rbwm.qgov.uk/info/200414/local development framework/494/supplementary planni

ng

CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT
Comments from interested parties
57 nearby occupiers were notified directly of the application.

The planning officer posted a notice advertising the application at the site on 02.07.19 and the
application was advertised in the local newspaper on 04.07.2019.

9 letters were received objecting to the application, summarised as:

Comment Where in the report
this is considered
See paragraphs 9.4

1. The proposed development would be out of keeping with the

height and design of other buildings in the area t0 9.18 of the report
2. The development would cause a severe loss of privacy and See paragraphs
overlooking to the rear gardens of properties on Carter Close 9.34 -9.45
and St Andrews Avenue.
3. The proposal would be overbearing to properties on Carter Due to the distance
Close. between the building

and those properties,
as well as the
buildings position
(close to the road and
not there rear of
those properties).
Those proposal is not
considered to be
overbearing. Also see
paragraphs

9.34 - 9.45

96


https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/blp
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning

4, Insufficient parking would be provided for the resulting See paragraphs 9.19-
development and this would put parking pressures on an area 9.33
which already has limited parking facilities.
5. The tree protection plan, transport statement, retail assessment | The tree protection
and sustainable drainage information is out of date. plan, retail
assessment, suds
information and
transport statement
have all been
updated. It is also
worth noting that a
retail assessmentis
not necessary for a
proposal of this size.
6. The proposal would be cramped and represents over See paragraphs 9.4
development of the site. t0 9.18 of the report
7. The access road is too narrow and would not allow for vehicles See paragraphs 9.20-
to pass by each other 9.32
8. No ecological impact assessment has bene submitted with the No ecological impact
proposed development. assessmentis
necessary for a
development of this
nature.
0. Insufficient consultation has taken place with residents of the The statutory
area consultation
requirements have
been carried out. See
paragraphs 8.1 and
8.2 of the report.
10. | The proposal would have an adverse impact on air quality in the | The environmental

area

protection officer has
raised no concerns
regarding the impact
of the development
on air quality,
furthermore there are
no material
considerations which
would warrant refusal
of the application due
to its impact on air
quality.

97




11. | An application for a similar development was refused in 1999. Noted.

This application was not included in the planning history for However it should
permitted applications 15/04147/FULL and 13/00090/FULL as also be noted that the
such residents and councillors were unable to take that 1999 application is
application into decision when making their recommendations. completely different

from this application.
Furthermore since the
1999 application
other developments
identical to this
development have
been approved
(13/00090/FULL and
15/04147/FULL) and
are therefore more

relevant.
12. | The proposed development is for profit and in no way benefits Noted. However this
the community. is not a material

consideration. The
improved retalil facility
could also potential
be of benefit to the
local community.

13. | Flats are not needed in this area and other type of property The council seeks a
should be proposed on the site. wide range of housing
types as setout in the
Local Plan and
emerging Borough
Plan.

14. | The demolition of the building would lead to asbestos exposure. | This is a building
control matter and not
a material planning
consideration.

Statutory consultees

Where in the report this is

Consultee Comment considered

Lead Local No objection subject to a condition requiring | The relevant conditions have
Flood the details of the proposed surface water been recommended for
Authority drainage system and maintenance measures | inclusion in this

to be submitted prior to commencement. The | recommendation.
proposal would have an acceptable impact
on drainage within the area.

Environmental | This planning application is for development Noted.
Agency that we do not wish to be consulted on.

Consultees

Where in the report this is

Consultee Comment

considered
Highways No objection subjectto the inclusion of Conditions relating to delivery
Officer conditions placed on the previously approved | hours, parking provision,
application No.15/04147/FULL. visibility splays, cycle storage,

98




9.

9.1

refuse facilities and access
have been recommended to
ensure the development has
an acceptable impact on the
highways network, resident
safety and residential
amenities.

Tree Officer No objection subjectto conditions requiring The mentioned conditions
landscaping details, details of how the TPO have been recommended for
tree will be replanted and compliance with the | inclusion if this application is
updated tree protection plan. (Plan No. granted.
11120-D_2013-02-22.dwg, Barrel Plan Ref:
19233-BT1, received 17/10/19).

Environmental | No objection subjectto conditions and Those relevant have been

Protection informatives. recommended for inclusion if

Officer this application is granted.

Others

Group Comment Where in the report this is

considered

Windsorand | The application provides a poor standard of The proposed development

Eton Society | amenities for the occupants of the proposed has been approved several

flats as a result of overdevelopment, which is
demonstrated by:

e Flats 4,5, 10, 12 and 13 have no balcony
and therefore no outside space.

e Facing bedroom windows are only about
7m apart between flats 2 and 5 and flats 8
and 10 giving little privacy for occupants

e - The bedroom of flat 5 opens onto the first
floor courtyard with no natural daylight.

e The bedroom of flat 2 has only limited
natural daylight from a void in the floor
above.

e The bedrooms to flats 5, 6, 10 and 11
open into the internal courtyard with no
protected space outside meaning people
can look directly into the bedrooms unless
curtains are kept closed.

e The bedroom of flat 2 can be viewed
through the void from above

e Flat 5 does not meet the minimum space
standard for a 1 bed 2 person unit.

times, as such it would be
unreasonable to refuse the
application due to the resulting
amenity standards of the
proposed flats.

Furthermore each flat would
be of an adequate size, would
have windows with access to
light (some would have
balconies). The flats are in
close proximity to outdoor
spaces, shops and services. It
is therefore considered that
the occupiers would have a
satisfactory level of amenity.

Also see paragraphs 9.34 —
9.45 of the report.

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION

The key issues for consideration are:

[ The principle of the development

99




9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

9.6

9.7

9.8

i The impact upon the character and appearance of the area (including protected trees)

i The impact upon highway safety and parking

\Y The impact upon the amenities of nearby occupiers
v Provision of a suitable residential environment

Vi Environmental considerations

Vi Other Considerations

Issue i - Principle of development

The application seeks planning permission for a mixed use development comprising a retail unit
at ground floor (420sgm) and 13 x apartments above, with access, car parking, servicing and
landscaping following the demolition of existing buildings (part retrospective). The proposed
development is effectively the resubmission of a development which was granted planning
permission 15/04147/FULL. There has been no change in the Development Plan since this
previous approval. The NPPF (2019) has been amended since the previous decision and where
relevant this is considered further below. In terms of the principle considerations the NPPF (2019)
emphasise efficient use of previously developed land in sustainable locations.

The site is located in the urban area, in close proximity to a local parade of shops. For these
reasons the principle of the mixed use redevelopment of this site remains appropriate.

Issue ii - Impact upon the character and appearance of the area (including protected trees)

Chapter 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019) aims to achieve well designed
places. Paragraph 127 specifically advises that planning decisions should ensure that
developments are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate
landscaping, they should also be sympathetic to local character, history and the surrounding built
environment.

In support of the above the Government published the National Design Guide in October 2019
and seeks to illustrate how well-designed places that are beautiful, enduring and successful can
be achieved in practice. The focus of the design guide is as a tool to inform layout, from, scale,
appearance, landscape, materials and detailing.

Local Plan Policy DG1 places similar emphasis on achieving good design and creating new
developments which sympathetically integrate into existing environments. Policy H10 of the
adopted Local Plan states that new residential development schemes will be required to display
high standards of design and landscaping in order to create attractive, safe and diverse
residential areas and, where possible, to enhance the existing environment.

Policy H11 of the adopted Local Plan states that in established residential areas, planning
permission will not be granted for schemes which introduce a scale or density of new
development which would be incompatible with or cause damage to the character and amenity of
the area.

Policy N6 states that new developments should protect and conserve trees important to the
amenity of the area; ample space should also be provided for the future growth of these trees.
Any loss or harm to such trees can in some circumstances be mitigated by replanting but should
always be justified by the applicant. The policy also states that where the contribution of the
trees to local amenity outweighs the justification for development, planning permission maybe
refused.

100



9.9

9.10

9.11

9.12

9.13

9.14

9.15

9.16

Dedworth Road comprises a mixture of commercial and residential buildings of various styles,
designs and ages, although the predominance of buildings are two storeys in height, with the
exception of Terrent Court, directly opposite the site which is a three storey building.

The proposed layout would reflect the existing established building line along the area, with the
position of the proposed building re-enforcing the established building line, and parking to the
rear. The building is four storeys in height, with the fourth floor provided within the roof space of
the eastern side of the building. The proposed roof form with the broken gable roof from would
appear contemporary in nature and whilst not fully aligned with the existing character of the area
is considered to be an appropriate response to a varied and changing area. Whilst greater in
height than the adjoining buildings, the increased height of the building is considered to be
suitably mitigated through varying roof form. The height and built form of proposed building
therefore takes into consideration and reflects the varied character of area whilst also making
efficient use of previously developed land. Other buildings within the area vary in size, material
finish and design. It is therefore considered that the modern finish of the building would not be
out of character in this area, where the appearance of buildings vary, this is subject to suitable
conditions regarding the material finish of the proposed development. Car park lighting could add
to the developments appearance, minimise crime in the area, but could also cause nuisance to
neighbours. A condition has been recommended to ensure details of such lighting is submitted
before installed (Condition 11). A condition has also been recommended to ensure the trolley
park is designed in a way which would compliments the area and site (Condition 12).

To the front of the site, abutting Dedworth Road is a protected tree. Due to its size and siting the
trees makes a valuable contribution to the character and appearance of the area. The proposed
development seeks to replant the tree, slightly south east of its existing position. Subject to the
tree being safely uplifted and replanted this would be acceptable. A condition has been
recommended to this effect (Condition 13).

New landscaping will also be introduced as part of the scheme. The works include resurfacing of
the site and the planting of several trees at the front of the site, as well as within its rear car park.
The new trees are welcome as they would add to the areas appearance and soften the new
developments introduction to the street. Similar to the previously approved scheme, full details of
the proposed boundary treatments, hard landscaping and soft landscaping have not been
submitted with this application. A condition has therefore been recommended to ensure these
details are appropriate and submitted prior to any construction works at the site (Condition 13).

During the process of the application the submitted tree protection and planting plan has been
updated (Plan No. 11120-D_2013-02-22.dwg, Barrel Plan Ref: 19233-BT1, received 17/10/19).
The new plan takes into consideration that several small trees were removed when the pre-
existing building was demolished. These trees were not protected, are not necessary to make the
development have an acceptable impact on neighbouring amenities and do not add any
significant value to the character and appearance of the area due to their size and set back from
the road. Their removal is considered acceptable.

Condition 16 has been recommended to ensure that the tree protection measures outlined in
Plan No. 11120-D_2013-02-22.dwg, Barrel Plan Ref: 19233-BT1, received 17/10/19 are carried
out.

The Boroughs Tree Officer has no objection to the proposed development, subject to the
mentioned conditions.

It should also be noted that in 2013 and 2016 planning permission was granted for similar
developments (15/04147/FULL and 13/00090/FULL).

101



9.17

9.18

9.19

9.20

9.21

9.22

9.23

9.24

9.25

9.26

There are no discernible changes between this development and those previously approved
(other than the removal of the mentioned trees), nor has there been any significant changes in
the built environment surrounding the site, which would now result in the proposal being out of
character.

For these reasons and subject to recommended conditions, the proposed development is
considered to have an acceptable impact on the character and appearance of the area,
protected trees and to be in compliance with all relevant design guidance.

Issue iii - Impact upon highway safety and parking

A similar development was granted at the site in 2016 (15/04147/FULL) and no objections were
made on highway safety or parking grounds. The relevant standards have not changed since this
previous decision.

Policy T5 requires all development proposals to comply with adopted highway design standards
(HDS). The policy notes advise that the purpose of the HDS is to ensure that new development
does not place an undue burden or create problems of congestion on the highway network.
Policy P4 requires all development proposals to accord with adopted car parking standards, while
policy T7 seeks to ensure that new development makes appropriate provision for cyclists
including cycle parking.

The NPPF (2019) states that ‘development should only be prevented or refused on highways
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network would be severe’.

The sites main access to would be sited east of the building. The access would be 5m wide and
would provide visibility splays of 2.4 metres by 36 metres to the right (east), and 2.4m by 43m to
the left (west). As with the previous permission these splays are considered to be adequate and
condition 15 has been recommended to ensure they are installed. The existing electricity
substation access (west of the building) will be retained. The access will provide gated entry to
the sites retail bin area and store.

The former site comprised of a Al retail store (DIY and timber workshop), 3 x 2 bed flats and had
13 car parking spaces and a triple garage. The residential units were not allocated a parking
space.

The development comprises a 420sgm Al units, 7 x 1 beds and 6 x 2 bedrooms. The Council’'s
Parking Strategy (2004) sets out the Council's recommended parking provision for new
developments for a scheme of this nature 30 spaces would be required for the retail use and a
further 16 spaces for the residential, 46 spaces in total.

The development provides a total of 35 car parking spaces, as well as turning facility for service
vehicle. A further 6 spaces are shown at the front of the site are outside of the applicant’s control
and therefore, cannot be included in the sites parking provision. The 13 residential units are
provided with 16 spaces and these are located in a secure gated area at the rear of the property,
the remaining 19 spaces would provide parking for the needs of the retail unit.

Based upon the Council's (and arguably out of date) maximum Parking Standard the proposal
would lead to a shortfall of 11 car parking spaces for the retail use. However, the site is
considered to be within a sustainable and reasonably accessible location and like many of the
retail and businesses in the area, shoppers are able to park in the spaces provided at the front
shops. Moreover the provision of 19 car parking space for the retail use are greater than the
parking provision for any of the other local shops. In view of this and as this level of parking was
previously considered appropriate under the same policy context the level of car parking is

102



9.27

9.28

9.29

9.30

9.31

9.32

9.33

9.34

considered to remain acceptable for a development in this location. Condition 7 has been
recommended to ensure the proposed parking spaces are made and retained.

The Transport Statement (Ref: 21720, dated September 2019) submitted in support of this
application suggests that vehicular trip numbers are likely to be similar to those previously
granted at the site (15/04147/FULL) and that the increase would still cause no significant harm to
vehicle movements in the area. It is considered that the conclusions that the development would
not have a significant impact on the capacity of wider highway network remain relevant.

The Highway Authority have equally raised no objections to this application, subject to conditions.
It is also considered that when taking into consideration the sites sustainable location as well as
the fact that an identical scheme has been granted at the site; it would be unreasonable to refuse
the development on parking grounds.

The proposed plans show areas for refuse facilities (for both retail and residential elements of the
scheme), whilst these areas seem large enough to accommodate these uses, further details are
needed regarding the type of bins and whether they would be sheltered or not as this will
ultimately impact on their usage and the sites appearance. Condition 10 has been recommended
to this effect.

The plans also shows that the development would include areas for cycle storage. The areas
provided would cater for new residents, employees and future shop users. It is considered that
adequate space exists on site for the safe and secure storage of cycle facilities. However further
information is required, as to where bikes will be stored (preferably at the front of the site for retail
users), how they will be stored (sheltered or open), and how they will be accessed. It is therefore
considered that notwithstanding the submitted plans, details of where safe and secure cycle
storage will be provided to the LPA prior to the operation of the retail unit and occupation of the
residential units. A condition has been recommended to this effect. Safe and secure cycle
storage will encourage their use and aid in promoting sustainable transportation.

The applicants have also suggested that they are willing to submit a travel plan to aid and
encourage sustainable means of transportation to and from the site (transport statement
addendum - Ref: 21720, dated September 2019). No travel plan was submitted with the previous
application, nor have there been any changes in material considerations which would require a
travel plan to be submitted. For these reasons the submission of a travel plan is not considered
necessary.

The Highway Authority raises no objection to the proposed development subject to the inclusion
of the conditions/informatives placed on the previous permission (15/04147/FULL). Those
conditions have been recommended for inclusion, if permission is granted. However in terms of
the recommended condition regarding a construction method statement , the site is located on a
classified road and any potential impact the construction of this development could have on the
highway network is a highways issue and not in the remit of planning. It is therefore not
considered necessary nor reasonable for such a condition to be attached to a redevelopment of
a site of this size. The same is applications for the installation of the proposed access which
would be required prior to the occupation of the development.

Overall and for the reasons mentioned above, the proposed development is not considered to
have an unacceptable impact on highway safety or to cause severe harm to the highways
network.

Issue iv- Impact on neighbouring amenity

Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that development should' create places that are safe,
inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of
amenity for existing and future users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do
not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and resilience’.

103



9.35

9.36

9.37

9.38

9.39

9.40

9.41

9.42

9.43

9.44

There are no Development Plan policies regarding impact on neighbouring amenity.

Whilst the objections from local residents are noted no material objections were raised on
amenity grounds for the redevelopment of this site under planning application 15/04147/FULL. It
was considered that the separation distances to boundaries/ relationship with adjacent properties
were sufficient to maintain a suitable level of amenity for the occupants of adjoining properties,
subject to conditions. Similar conditions have been recommended for inclusion in this application
and taking into consideration that there has been no material shift in planning policy relating to
neighbouring amenity, this position remains the same.

Notwithstanding these above, paragraph 180 of the NPPF (2019) states that planning decisions
should ensure that new development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely
effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural
environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could
arise from the development. This includes avoiding noise giving rise to significant adverse
impacts on health and the quality of life.

The new access road would run along the sites eastern boundary, close to Winton House a
residential care home. Due to its separation distance from that property the likely vehicle
movements associated with the proposed use in this urban location, adjacent to a fairly busy
main road, it is not considered to result in significant increase of activity and disturbance that
would result in an unacceptable impact with the occupiers of Winton House.

Intense and unrestricted use of the retail unit and its car park could be harmful to the amenities
of properties on Carter Close and St Andrews Avenue. Conditions have therefore been
recommended to limit delivery hours to sociable times and to restrict opening hours to align with
other shops in the area (Conditions 3 and 6).

It should also be noted that several trees have been removed from the rear boundary of 1 St
Andrews Avenue. Taking into consideration the separation distance between the site and that
property and the fact that those trees are unprotected the replanting of the trees is not considered
necessary to ensure the amenities of that neighbour are preserved.

Overall and similar to the previously approved scheme the proposal is considered to be in line
with all relevant planning considerations and to have an acceptable impact on the amenities of
nearby properties. Under planning application 15/04147/FULL conditions required a proposed
“screen” towards the properties along Carter Close. The previous Officer Report considered the
relationship was appropriate with these properties but however considered this relationship could
be ‘improved.’ It is unclear if and how such a screen could be provided, and in any case such
condition are neither necessary nor reasonable.

Issue V - Provision of a suitable residential environment

There are no specific policies in the adopted Local Plan regarding provision of a suitable
residential environment. Paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should
promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and other uses, while
safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions. The
government has also published Technical Housing Standards- nationally prescribed space
standards (2015) which sets out guidance on floor space requirements for new developments.

All of the proposed units are of a sufficient internal floor space to accord with the Nationally
Described Space Standards (2015).

Furthermore, new residential development should provide an appropriate level of lighting, outlook
and amenity to all habitable rooms and be of a suitable space standard. The proposed flats have
been designed so that they are dual aspects, with some rooms in each unit having an outlook into

104



9.45

9.46

9.47

9.48

9.49

10.1

10.2

11.

11.1

an internal courtyard, served by an atrium. Some of the proposed flats are proposed to have
balconies. The building is in close proximity to outdoor spaces, shops and services.

On this basis it is considered that the occupiers would have a satisfactory level of amenity.

Issue VI - Environmental considerations

Paragraph 165 of NPPF states that all ‘major’ planning applications must incorporates
sustainable drainage systems unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate.
SuDS must be properly designed to ensure that the maintenance and operation costs are
proportionate and sustainable for the lifetime of the development. In accordance with The Flood
and Water Management Act 2010 the Royal Borough in its role as Lead Local Flood Authority
(LLFA), is a statutory consultee for all major applications.

The Lead Local Flood Authority have been consulted on the application and have suggested that
subject to a condition requiring the details of the proposed surface water drainage system and
maintenance measures to be submitted prior to commencement. The proposal would have an
acceptable impact on drainage within the area. Condition 14 has been recommended to ensure
such details are submitted.

Paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should contribute to and enhance the
natural and local environment. The emphasis is on minimising impacts on and providing net gains
for biodiversity. The site has been cleared and appears to be of limited biodiversity value.
Proposed biodiversity enhancements can be secured by way of condition (see condition 17).

Issue VII- Other Considerations

When compared with the previously approved application (15/04147/FULL) conditions requiring
obscure glazed bathroom windows, slab levels, sustainability measures, construction
management plans, cark park operation, amenity screens and ageing population adaptability
measures have been removed from this recommendation. This is because many of the matters
do not fall within the remits of planning, have been superseded by new guidance (including
building regulations) or simply would not meet the tests for imposing conditions on planning
applications.

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
The development is CIL liable.

Taking into consideration that no residential or retail space currently exists at the site, the
proposed residential floor space increase would be 489 sgm. Equating to a CIL charge of
approximately £117,360. The exact amount payable will be determined by the Boroughs CIL
officer prior to the commencement of the development.

Housing Land Supply, Planning Balance and Conclusion

Paragraphs 10 and 11 of the NPPF (2019) set out that there will be a presumption in favour of
Sustainable Development. The latter paragraph states that:

For decision-taking this means: approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date
development plan without delay; or where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the
policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting
permission unless:
. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or

105



11.2

11.3

11.4

115

11.6

11.7

12.

13.

o any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

Footnote 7 of the NPPF (2019) clarifies that:

‘out-of-date policies include, for applications involving the provision of housing, situations
where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable
housing sites (with the appropriate buffer..).’

The BLPSV is not yet adopted planning policy and the Council’'s adopted Local Plan is more than
five years old. Therefore, for the purposes of decision making, currently the starting point for
calculating the 5 year housing land supply (5 yhis) is the ‘standard method’ as set out in the
NPPF (2019). Currently the LPA cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing
sites (with the appropriate buffer). The LPA therefore accepts, for the purpose of this application
and in the context of paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2019), including footnote 7, the so-called ‘tilted
balance’ is engaged.

The proposed development would make efficient use of previously developed land in a
sustainable location and provide 13 new residential units. Significant weight is given to this as a
benefit of this scheme. It would also constitute ‘windfall development’ in which the NPPF (2019)
states great weight should be given to the benefits of using suitable sites for such development.
This too weighs in favour of the scheme. No harm has been identified which would significantly
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the scheme. As such the tilted balance weighs in
favour of the development.

In addition to the above, it is considered that subject to conditions, the proposed development
would have an acceptable impact on the character and appearance of the area, local highways
network, neighbouring amenity and protected trees, in line with Local Plan Policies DG1, H10,
H11l, N6, T5, P4, as well as the aforementioned planning guidance contained within the NPPF
(2019).

It is therefore considered that irrespective of the tilted balance being engaged; when this
application is determined in accordance with normal tests (under section 38(6) of the 2004
Act), the proposal would be in general conformity with the Development Plan and there are
no material considerations of sufficient weight to justify refusal.

For the reasons mentioned above, the application is recommended for approval.

APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

Appendix A - Site Location Plan
Appendix B - Site Layout Plan
Appendix C - Floor Plan
Appendix D - Elevation Plan

CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED FOR INCLUSION IF PERMISSION IS GRANTED
REASONS RECOMMENDED FOR REFUSAL IF PERMISSION IS NOT GRANTED (delete as
appropriate)

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced within three years from the date of this
permission.

Reason: To accord with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(as amended).

Prior to any construction works at the site, samples and/or a material schedule of the materials to

106



10

be used on the external surfaces of the development and all external hardsurfaces shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be
carried out and maintained in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policy DG1

The retail shop on the ground floor hereby permitted shall only operate between the hours of 7am
and 10 pm on Mondays to Saturdays and 10am to 5pm on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.
Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers. Relevant Policies - Local Plan NAP3.
Irrespective of the provisions of Classes A, B, C and E of part 7 of Schedule 2 of the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-
enacting that Order with or without modification) no enlargement, improvement or any other
alteration to the retail unit, erection of a trolley store, laying of hardstanding (not subject of this
permission) shall be carried out without having first obtained written approval from the local
planning authority.

Reason: Any additional development at the site could result in it becoming overdeveloped and
cramped. Furthermore the site is in close proximity to other residents and further unchecked
development could harm their amenities. Relevant Polices DG1, paragraph 127 of the NPPF
(2019).

Prior to any construction works at the site, details of the measures to be taken to acoustically
insulate all habitable rooms of the development against aircraft noise, together with details of
measures to provide ventilation to habitable rooms, have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved measures shall be carried out and
completed before the development is first occupied for residential purposes and retained.
Reason: To ensure an acceptable living environment for future occupiers. Relevant Policies Local
Plan NAP2, H10.

Deliveries by any vehicle used for commercial purposes shall only be made to or from the site
between the hours of 7am to 10pm Monday to Fridays and between 8am and 6pm Saturdays and
9.30am and 4pm on Sundays or Bank or Public Holidays.

Reason: To protect the residential amenities of the area. Relevant Policy Local Plan NAP3.

No part of the development shall be occupied until vehicle parking space has been provided in
accordance with the approved drawing 11120.25c. The space approved shall be retained for
parking in association with the development.

Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to
reduce the likelihood of roadside parking which could be detrimental to the free flow of traffic and
to highway safety. Relevant Policies - Local Plan P4, DGL1.

No part of the development shall be occupied until visibility splays of 2.4 metres by 36 metres to
the right (east), by 43m to the left (west) have been provided. All dimensions are to be measured
along the edge of the driveway and the back of footway from their point of intersection. The areas
within these splays shall be kept free of all obstructions to visibility over a height of 0.6 metres
above carriageway level.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety. Relevant Policies - Local Plan T5.

Prior to the occupation of any of the residential units or retail floorspace approved under this
application and notwithstanding cycle storage details shown on the approved plans, details of
where covered and secure cycle parking facilities will be provided for the development, shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the facilities
shall be kept available for the parking of cycles in association with the development at all times.
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to
encourage the use of alternative modes of transport and encourage sustainable modes of
transportation. Relevant Policies - Local Plan T7, DG1, and the National Planning Policy
Framework (2019)

No part of the development shall be occupied until full details of the refuse bin storage areas and
recycling facilities shown on the approved plans have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted details should include details of any bin housing,
as well as the type and size of bins to be used. Hereafter the facilities shall be kept available for
use in association with the development at all times.

Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate facilities that allow it to be
serviced in a manner which would not adversely affect the free flow of traffic and highway safety
and to ensure the sustainability of the development. Relevant Policies - Local Plan T5, DG1.

107



11

12

13

14

15

16

17

No lighting shall be erected in the car park without details of the lighting first being submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the character and appearance of the development and area is not harmed by
excessive illumination and to protect the amenities of nearby residents. Relevant Policies DG1
and paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019).

Irrespective of the details shown on the approved plans, prior to any occupation of the retail
store, details of the location and design of the trolley park shall be first submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority, thereafter the trolley park shall be provided and
maintained in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of area and site. Relevant Policy DG1

Prior to any construction works at the site, full details of both hard and soft landscape works,
including details of all proposed surfacing, boundary treatments (including fencing, walls and
other means of enclosure), and measures that will be taken to safely uplift and replant the TPO
oak tree at the front of the site, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. Hereafter all of the approved works shall be carried out as approved. Any
approved planting shall be carried out within the first planting season following the substantial
completion of the development and retained in accordance with the approved details. If within a
period of five years from the date of planting of any tree or shrub shown on the approved
landscaping plan, that tree or shrub, or any tree or shrub planted in replacement for it, is
removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, or becomes seriously damaged or defective, another
tree or shrub of the same species and size as that originally planted shall be planted in the
immediate vicinity, unless the Local Planning Authority gives its prior written consent to any
variation.

Reason: To ensure a form of development that maintains, and contributes positively to, the
character and appearance of the area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1, N6.

Prior to any construction works at the site, a surface water drainage scheme for the development,
based on the submitted Engineering Layout drawing (number C21720 - 601 rev C), shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Details shall include: - Full
details of all components of the proposed surface water drainage system including dimensions,
locations, gradients, invert levels, cover levels and relevant construction details.- Supporting
calculations confirming compliance with, the Non-statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable
Drainage Systems, and the agreed discharge rate of 3 I/s and the attenuation volumes to be
provided.- Details of the maintenance arrangements relating to the proposed surface water
drainage system, confirming who will be responsible for its maintenance and the maintenance
regime to be implemented. The surface water drainage system shall be implemented and
maintained in accordance with the approved details thereafter.

Reason: To ensure compliance with the National Planning Policy Framework and the Non-
Statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems, and to ensure the proposed
development is safe from flooding and does not increase flood risk elsewhere.

No part of the development shall be occupied until the access has been constructed in
accordance with the approved drawing. The access shall thereafter be retained.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic. Relevant Policies - Local
Plan T5, DG1.

The tree protection measures set out in drawing 11120-d_2013-02-22, Barrel Plan Ref:19233-
BT1, received 17/10/19 shall be fully implemented prior to the commencement of development
(excluding demolition) and maintained until the development is completed, unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure a form of development that maintains, and contributes positively to, the
character and appearance of the area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1, N6

Prior to any occupation of the development details of biodiversity enhancements relating to the
development as a whole shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. This shall include a schedule of undertaking that the proposed works and maintenance
and management of these areas shall accord with the proposed landscaping works set out in
condition 3. Thereafter the works shall be carried out entirely in accordance with these approved
details.

All agreed biodiversity enhancements shall be undertaken and maintained in accordance with an
agreed management plan.

108



Reason: In the interest of biodiversity enhancements as required by the National Planning Policy
Framework (2019).

18 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans
listed below.
Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
particulars and plans.

Informatives

1 There should be no collections from or deliveries to the site during the demolition and
construction stages outside the hours of 0800 hours and 1800 hours on Monday to Friday, 0800
hours to 1300 hours on Saturday and at no time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.Reason:
To protect the amenity of the adjoining properties.

2 The Royal Borough receives a large number of complaints relating to construction burning
activities. The applicant should be aware that any burning that gives rise to a smoke nuisance is
actionable under the Environmental Protection Act 1990. Further that any burning that gives rise
to dark smoke is considered an offence under the Clean Air Act 1993. It is the Environmental
Protection Team policy that there should be no fires on construction or demolition sites. All
construction and demolition waste should be taken off site for disposal. The only exceptions
relate to knotweed and in some cases infected timber where burning may be considered the best
practicable environmental option. In these rare cases we would expect the contractor to inform
the Environmental Protection Team before burning.

3 The applicant is advised that neither the approved plans or description of the development
include any fixed plant, flue or extractor equipment. The provision of such a equipment is likely to
constitute development and therefore a separate planning permission will be required for those
works.

4 The applicant is advised to follow guidance with respect to dust control: London working group
on Air Pollution Planning and the Environment (APPLE): London Code of Practice, Part 1: The
Control of Dust from Construction; and the Building Research Establishment: Control of dust
from construction and demolition activities. The applicant should be aware the permitted hours of
construction working in the Authority are as follows: Monday - Friday 08.00 - 18.00, Saturday
08.00 - 13.00. and no working on Sundays or Bank Holidays.

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

4 December 2019 ltem: 5

| Application 19/01755/FULL
109



No.:

Location: Squires Garden Centre Maidenhead Road Windsor SL4 5UB
Proposal: Erection of 37 dwellings including the re-location of existing access along Maidenhead

Road with associated parking, internal circulation, public open space, landscaping and
related infrastructure

Applicant: Bewley Homes Plc And Square Bay (no5) LLP

Agent:

Mrs Hannah Knowles

Parish/Ward:  Bray Parish/Clewer And Dedworth West

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Antonia Liu on 01628 796034 or at
antonia.liu@rbwm.gov.uk

1.

11

1.2

1.3

14

15

1.6

SUMMARY

The proposal is for the erection of 37 dwellings including the relocation of the existing access
along Maidenhead Road with associated parking, internal circulation, landscaping and related
infrastructure.

The site lies in Green Belt and the proposed development is considered to be an inappropriate
form of development in the Green Belt, would cause substantial harm to the openness of the
Green Belt and would be contrary to one of its purposes. No case of Very Special Circumstances
(VSC) has been demonstrated to outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and any other harm.

The Green Belt boundary is proposed to be amended and the site forms part of a larger parcel of
land allocated for housing, ref: HA11 Land West of Windsor, north and south of the A308 in the
BLPSV, and land allocation ref: AL22 Squires Garden Centre, Maidenhead Road in the Proposed
Changes to the BLPSV. There are significant unresolved objections with regards the housing
land allocations proposed in the BLPSV and as a result all proposed allocations are given limited
weight as a material consideration at this time.

The proposal includes highway improvements including dropped kerbs and tactile paving at
crossing points along a route from the site to a bus stop on Ruddlesway to support sustainable
modes of travel (walking). However, in the absence of a completed legal agreement the
development fails to secure the required infrastructure to make this development acceptable in
planning terms.

The proposal includes 30% of the proposed residential units as affordable housing, but in the
absence of a completed legal agreement the development fails to secure the required affordable
housing units this constitutes a reason for refusal.

Additional information has been submitted to address concerns raised on sustainable drainage,
and further comments from the Lead Local Flood Authority. Any comments received will be
reported in an update.

It is recommended the Panel refuses planning permission for the following summarised
reasons (the full reasons are identified in Section 13 of this report):

1. | The proposal represents inappropriate development in Green Belt, which is by definition
harmful to the Green Belt and would conflict with one of the purposes of the Green Belt,
namely 'to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment'. The development
causes substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt. Very Special Circumstances
that clearly outweighs the harm to the Green Belt and any other harm has not been
demonstrated.

2. | In the absence of a completed legal agreement the development fails to provide the
necessary infrastructure needed to make this development acceptable in planning terms.

110



3.1

4.1

51

5.2

5.3

54

3. | In the absence of a completed legal agreement the development fails to secure 30%
Affordable Housing to make this development acceptable in planning terms with regards
affordable housing provision.

REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION

o The Council’s Constitution does not give the Head of Planning delegated powers to
determine the application in the way recommended; such decisions can only be made by
the Panel

DESCRIPTIONOF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

The site comprises land bounded by Maidenhead Road to the north; the A308/Maidenhead Road
roundabout to the east; the A308 to the south and the residential dwellings to the west beyond
which is open land; ‘Willows Park Homes’ site to the north west; and The Willows to the north — a
former mansion house dating from 1850 which has been divided into a number of individual
properties. The site was occupied by Squires Garden Centre which includes a car park, a single
storey retail building and an open air plant display area, but has been vacated. The site is
bounded by a red brick wall that forms part of the garden centre building to the north; a wrought
iron fence to the east; trees/shrubs on the boundary with the A308 to the south; and a
combination of close board fencing and trees to the west.

KEY CONSTRAINTS

The entire site lies in Green Belt, and in accordance with the accordance with the Environment
Agency Flood Map for Planning the eastern corner of the site lies in Flood Zone 2

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

The proposal is for the erection of 37 dwellings including the relocation of the existing access
along Maidenhead Road with associated parking, internal circulation, landscaping and related
infrastructure.

The proposal includes two blocks of flats, one located at the inward curve of the site at the
roundabout junction of A308 and Maidenhead Road (plot 27-37) and the other located to its west
adjacent to the A308 (plot 18-26). The remaining dwellings comprise of 2 detached houses and 4
pairs of semi-detached houses along the western boundary of the site (plot 2-12), 2 detached
dwellings fronting Maidenhead Road (plot 1 and 13), and a terrace of 4 houses within the site
(plot 14-17). The blocks of flats are 2 to 3 storey in height, while the houses are 2 to 2 and half
storey in height. Access is via Maidenhead Road and the internal road layout terminates in a cul-
de-sac.

Following negotiation during the course of the application, design changes were made to the
scheme and revised plans were received on the 20 September 2019. The main changes relate to
the roof form and architectural detailing on the blocks of flats. Further changes to the architectural
detailing were to the blocks of flats were received on the 14 November 2019.

There is extensive planning history for the site associated with the operation of the garden centre.
In terms of relevant planning history for the redevelopment of the site for residential, there was an
application for the erection of 39 dwellings, creation of a new access of Maidenhead Road,
provision of parking, internal circulation, public open space, landscaping and related
infrastructure that was withdrawn by the applicant on 13 March 2019, ref: 18/03754/FULL.

111



6.

6.1

DEVELOPMENT PLAN
Adopted Royal Borough Local Plan (2003)

The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are:

Issue Adopted Local Plan Policy
Green Belt GB1
Design character and appearance of area DG1, H10,H11
Affordable Housing H3
Highways P4, T5, T7
Flooding F1

These policies can be found at
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local plan documents and appendices

MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
National Planning Policy Framework Sections (NPPF) (2019)

Section 2 — Achieving Sustainable Development

Section 4 — Decision Making

Section 5 — Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes

Section 8 — Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities

Section 9 — Promoting Sustainable Transport

Section 11 — Making Effective Use of Land

Section 12 — Achieving Well-Designed Places

Section 13 — Protecting Green Belt Land

Section 14 — Meeting the Challenges of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal Change
Section 15 — Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment

National Design Guide

This document was published in October 2019 and seeks to illustrate how well-designed places
that are beautiful, enduring and successful can be achieved in practice. It forms part of the
Government’s collection of planning practice guidance and should be read alongside the
separate planning practice guidance on design process and tools. The focus of the design guide
is lo tool at layout, from, scale, appearance, landscape, materials and detailing. It further
highlights ten characteristics help which work together to create its physical Character, these are
context, identify, built forms, movement, nature, public spaces, uses, homes and buildings,

resources and life span.

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version

Issue Local Plan Policy

Appropriate Development In Green Belt and acceptable SP1, SP5
Impact on Green Belt

Design in Keeping with Character and Appearance of Area SP2, SP3

Housing Development HO1, HO2, HO5
Affordable Housing HO3

Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows NR2
Infrastructure Provision IF1

Sustainable Transport IF2

112



https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices

7.3

| Community Facilities | IF7

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version Proposed Changes (2019)

Issue Local Plan Policy
Appropriate Development In Green Belt and acceptable SP1, QP5
Impact on Green Belt
Design in keeping with character and appearance of area QP1,QP3
Housing Development HO1, HO2
Affordable Housing HO3
Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows NR3
Infrastructure Provision IF1
Sustainable Transport IF2
Community Facilities IF6

The NPPF sets out that decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans
according to their stage of preparation. The Borough Local Plan Submission Document was
published in June 2017. Public consultation ran from 30 June to 27 September 2017. Following
this process the Council prepared a report summarising the issues raised in the representations
and setting out its response to them. This report, together with all the representations received
during the representation period, the plan and its supporting documents was submitted to the
Secretary of State for independent examination in January 2018. The Submission Version of the
Borough Local Plan does not form part of the statutory development plan for the Borough.

In December 2018, the examination process was paused to enable the Council to undertake
additional work to address soundness issues raised by the Inspector. Following completion of
that work, in October 2019 the Council approved a series of Proposed Changes to the BLPSV
which are now out to public consultation until Sunday, 15 December 2019. All representations
received will be reviewed by the Council to establish whether further changes are necessary
before the Proposed Changes are submitted to the Inspector. In due course the Inspector will
resume the Examination of the BLPSV. The BLPSV and the BLPSV together with the Proposed
Changes are therefore material considerations for decision-making. However, given the above
both should be given limited weight.

These documents can be found at:
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/blp

Supplementary Planning Documents

o RBWM Interpretation of Policy F1
o Interpretation of Policies R2, R3, R4, R5 and R6

Other Local Strategies or Publications

Other Strategies or publications relevant to the proposal are:

° RBWM Parking Strategy
° RBWM Townscape Assessment
o Affordable Housing Planning Guidance

More information on these documents can be found at:
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/2004 14/local _development_framework/494/supplementary_planning

113


https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/blp
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning

CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Comments from interested parties

58 occupiers were notified directly of the application. The planning officer posted a notice
advertising the application at the site on 8 July 2019 and the application was advertised in the
Local Press on 11 July 2019. 42 letters were received objecting to the application, summarised
below. Following re-consultation on the 24 September 2019 an additional 13 letters were

received from consultees who reiterated their original concerns.

pollution and to the detriment of highway safety; transport
survey taken during summer holidays and therefore inaccurate

Comment Where in the report this is
considered

Inappropriate development in the Green Belt, encroachment Section i, X

into the countryside, harm to openness, no Very Special

Circumstances demonstrated to outweigh harm to the Green

Belt

Assumes Borough Local Plan will be adopted, application is Section i

premature

Insufficient parking resulting in increase in on-street parking Section vi

pressures

Location of access is dangerous Section vi

Density too high resulting in cramped development and Section iii

overdevelopment of the site to the detriment of amenity for

future occupiers and local character

Out of character with the locality as there are no other flatter Section iii

development or 3 storey buildings, and design is incongruous.

Height and design of buildings are out of character with the area | Section iii

and overly dominate with surrounding properties.

Increase in traffic resulting in congestion, increase in air Section vi

Land liable to flood, inadequate drainage; increase in pressure
on sewer network

Thames Water consultation
response and Section ii

Inadequate social infrastructure to support the development
e.g9.GP surgeries

Section 10

development resulting in harm wildlife

Harm to off-site trees, and insufficient landscaping Section iv
Harm to neighbouring amenity in terms of loss of view, loss of Section v
light, loss of privacy, increase in noise and disturbance

Decrease in open space and greenery, increase in built Section vii

Loss of local employment

The site is not within an
identified site where the use
is protected for employment.

Increase in crime

No evidence put forward that
the proposed residential use
is a crime generating
development.

114




Loss of community use e.g. local café and restaurant which was
by local residents to meet and socialise; development should
include some kind of community facility

The extant use of the site
(former garden centre with
ancillary cafe) falls under Al
(retail) and not D1
(community use). As such,
there is no objection in
principle to its loss nor a
requirement for a
replacement within the
scheme.

Consultees

Consultee

Comment

Where in the report this is
considered

Berkshire
Archaeology

No objection subjectto condition to secure
implementation of a programme of
archaeological works to be submitted and
approved by the local planning authority.

Section viii

Bray Parish
Council

Raises objection to the proposal for the
following reasons:

e Inappropriate development in the Green
Belt and Very Special Circumstances
has not been demonstrated

¢ No certainty that the BLP (and changes)
will be adopted

e Density too high with harmful visual

impact and lack of open space
Inadequate parking

Flood risk

Highway safety from new access
Increase in traffic adding to congestion
at peak times

Section i, ii, iii, iv, X

Ecology

No objection subject to conditions relating to a
construction environmental management plan;
removal of rhododendron; examination of the
bat feature by an ecologist prior to demolition
works and dismantling by hand; and biodiversity
enhancements, and informative relating to
breeding birds.

Section vii

Environment
Agency

Refers the Local Planning Authority to standing
advice.

Section ii

Highways

No objection in principle but further information
required in relation cycle parking.

Section vi

Lead Local
Flood
Authority

Additional information requested to address
concerns over the infiltration rates which were
based on above average infiltration rates while
best practice indicates that the lowest
determined infiltration rates should be used in
calculations, and how properties at plot 18-26
will be protected from internal flooding as the
submitted information indicates that
exceedance flows will be directed towards these
properties.

Section ii

Trees

Raises objections over the failures to secure the
long-term retention of off-site trees and the

Section iv

115




9.

9.1

landscaping scheme is insufficient to soften the
built form or provide a level of enhancement for
such a large and prominent development.

Thames
Water

No objection with regard to fowl water sewage
network infrastructure capacity based on the
information provided as the application indicates
that surface waters will not be discharged in to
the public network.

Section ii

Other Responses

Where in the report this is

Eton Society

reasons:
e Inappropriate development in the Green
Belt, loss of openness
e Prematurity in relation to the BLPSV
e Overdevelopment of the site
e Blocks of flats are imposing and overly

dominant, would detract from The
Willows

e Design out of keeping with sense of
place

e Loss of trees which are important along
the A308

e Over dominance of parking to the centre
of the site

e Inadequate surface water drainage

Group Comment .
considered
Access Insufficient information submitted. Noted.
Advisory
Forum
Oakley Raises objections for the following summarised | Section i, i, iii, vi, X
Green and reasons:
Fifield e Inappropriate development in the Green | The extant use of the site
Residents Belt, loss of openness, conflict with the | (former garden centre with
Association purposes of the Green Belt, no very | ancillary cafe) falls under Al
special circumstances (retail) and not D1
e Prematurity in relation to the BLPSV (community use). As such,
e Higher density, cramped layout, scale | there is no objection in
and massing is out of character with | Principle to its loss nor a
surrounds requirement for a
e Proposed access is unsafe replacement within the
o Insufficient on-site parking resulting in | Scheme.
increase in parking pressure off-site
e Flood risk
e Existing poor air quality and additional
vehicle use would add to this
e Loss of community asset and
employment (garden centre and café)
Windsorand | Raises objections for the following summarised | Section i, ii, iii, iv, Vi, X

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION

The key issues for consideration are:

116




9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

i Green Belt
ii Flood Risk

i Character and Appearance

iv Trees

v Residential Amenity
Vi Highways

Vi Ecology

viii Archaeology

X Affordable Housing

X The Case for Very Special Circumstances
Xi Planning Balance
[ Green Belt

The entire site lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt and the fundamental aim of Green Belt
policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open. Paragraph 145 of the NPPF
states that new buildings in the Green Belt should be regarded as inappropriate development with
some exceptions. Local Plan policy GB1 and BLPSV policy SP5 also sets out appropriate
development in the Green Belt. However, the Local Plan was prepared in accordance with the
cancelled PPG2 Green Belts and therefore not entirely consistent with the NPPF. As such, GB1
is not given full weight for the purposes of this assessment. Under transitional arrangements the
BLPSV is assessed against the NPPF (2012) and therefore policy SP5 is considered to be
consistent in this respect, but due to unresolved objections policy SP5 should only be given
limited weight as a material consideration. The NPPF is considered to be a more up-to-date
expression of Government intent and a material consideration of significant weight.

In this context, paragraph 145 (g) of the NPPF states that limited infilling or the partial or
complete redevelopment of previously developed land, whether redundant or in continuing use
(excluding temporary buildings), need not be inappropriate development in the Green Belt. This is
subject to the development not having a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than
the existing development; or not causing substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt
where the development would re-use previously development land and contribute towards
meeting an identified affordable housing need within the area of the local planning authority. It is
considered that the proposal would not clearly fall under any of the other exceptions.

In this case, the site would fall under the definition of previously developed land given in the
Appendix 2 of the NPPF as the site is entirely occupied by a former garden centre with a main
building and associated hardstanding that was used for storage, display area and a car park.

Turning to the impact on openness, the concept of openness relates to the lack of development
or built form, however Turner v SSCLG and East Dorset Council [2016] and Goodman v SSCLG
[2017] established that the impact of openness of the Green Belt should be assessed taking into
account both its spatial and visual impact, while Euro Garages Limited v SSCLG [2018]
establishes that greater floor area and/or volume does not necessarily mean that there is a
greater impact. It is also necessary to consider “the impact or harm, if any, wrought by the

117



9.6

9.7

9.8

9.6.1

9.7

9.8

change”. This Case Law is a material consideration. In response to this case law the National
Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) which supports the NPPF (2019) advises that in addition to
volume the visual impact of the proposal may also be relevant.

The proposed housing development would equate to a footprint of approximately 1725.5sgm
which represents an increase from the existing footprint that measures approximately 1652sgm.
However, the existing building is single storey measuring approximately 4.5m in height and has a
much lower profile than the proposed two-storey houses measuring approximately 8.5m to 10.5m
in height and the two to three storey blocks of flats measuring 8.2 to 12.5m. Furthermore the
blocks of flats have significant width and are very prominently located. The existing building is
significantly lower in height than the proposals and is concentrated in a visually less prominent
position in the north-western corner of the site. The residential dwellings would visually spread
across the entire site including to areas previously used for storage, plant displays, car parking.
While the extent of which these areas remain open and free from development is dependent on
the intensity of use at a particular time, it is considered that the erection of taller permanent two to
three storey buildings would have a substantially greater volumetric and visual impact on
openness than the existing development.

Furthermore, the existing buildings being single storey in nature, glass houses and the other
open storage and hard surfacing have a reduced physical and visual presence, a liken to an
agricultural character. Compared with this would be markedly taller and solid buildings and the
subdivision of the area into individual curtilages. It is considered that the quantum and amount of
the more urban form of residential development proposed would substantially reduce openness
of the Green Belt. While there would be some modest screening from trees, the increased
amount of development and its visual impact in Green Belt terms would be very apparent from
Maidenhead Road, the A308 (Maidenhead Road and Windsor Road), the roundabout junction,
nearby residential properties, and Ruddlesway, in particular with the higher density of
development (the blocks of flats) located towards the A308 and the roundabout junction.

Consequently, taking into account the footprint, height, scale and siting of the proposed
development it is considered that the proposed development would have a greater impact on the
openness of the Green Belt than the existing development and would lead to substantial harm to
openness. Therefore, it is not considered that the proposal falls under exceptions in paragraph
145 of the NPPF and considered to be inappropriate development in the Green Belt.

For the reasons above the proposal is considered to constitute inappropriate development in the
Green Belt. Paragraph 144 of the NPPF states that inappropriate development is, by definition,
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances
(VSC). The applicant considered that proposal to be appropriate development, but has also put
forward a case for VSC within the submitted Planning Statement which is assessed below.

In terms of any other harm to the Green Belt, as inappropriate development in the Green Belt the
proposal is by definition harmful to its openness. The more formalised and urban form of
development spread across this site is considered to conflict with one of the purposes of the
Green Belt, namely to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment’ which forms the
third purpose outlined in paragraph 134 of the NPPF.

In the emerging Borough Local Plan (BLPSV) the Green Belt boundary is proposed to be
amended through the BLPSV and the site forms part of a larger parcel of land allocated for
housing (ref: HA11l Land West of Windsor, north and south of the A308). In the Proposed
Changes to the BLPSYV, the site is separated from the larger parcel of land and forms its own
allocation for housing (ref: AL22 Squires Garden Centre, Maidenhead Road). However, as stated
in Section 7 of this report both the BLPSV and Proposed Changes to the BLPSV are given limited
weight as a material consideration.

i Flood Risk

118



9.12

9.13

9.14

9.15

9.16

Part of the block of flats comprising of plot 27 to 37 is sited in Flood Zone 2 while the remainder
of the site lies in Flood Zone 1. However, following a more detailed model undertaken by the EA
shows that the site is elevated above the EA calculated Flood Zone 2 level. NPPG advises that it
is not normally necessary to apply the Sequential Test, which aims to steer development away
from areas at highest risk, to development proposals in Flood Zone 1. The Exception Test is not
considered to be applicable as housing is considered to be ‘more vulnerable’ development in
accordance with Table 2: Flood Risk Vulnerability Classification, which is appropriate
development in Flood Zone 1 in accordance with NPPG Table 3: Flood Risk Vulnerability
Classification. With reference to paragraph 163 of the NPPF, footnote 50 advises that a site
specific flood risk assessment is not required in this case, and given its location in Flood Zone 1 it
is not considered that the proposed development would increase flood risk elsewhere.

To accord with paragraph 165 of the NPPF, as the proposal falls into the category of major
development (10 units or more), a sustainable drainage system should be incorporated unless
there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate. The submitted sustainable drainage
strategy proposes to attenuate the additional surface water from the development by
incorporating permeable paving within all drives and carriageways, two storage tanks on site, and
a hydrobrake at the outflows into the Thames Water assess. This is acceptable in principle, but
further information is required on infiltration rates or alternatively details on how to prevent
siltation of the soakaways; and how properties on plot 18-26 are protected from internal flooding.
Further information to address these issues has been submitted by the applicant, and comments
from the Lead Local Flood Authority will be reported in an update.

i Character and Appearance

Local Plan policy H10 states that new residential schemes will be required to display a high
standard of design and landscaping and where possible enhance the existing environment, while
policy DG1 resists development which is cramped or which results in the loss of important
features which contributes local character, and policy H11 resists development would introduces
a scale or density which would be in incompatible with or cause damage to the character of the
area. These policies accord with the NPPF which states that good design is a key aspect of
sustainable development and indivisible from good planning, and planning permission should be
refused for development of poor design that fails to take the opportunity available for improving
the character and quality of an area and the way it functions. The recently published National
Design Guide sets out the characteristics of well-designed places and what good design means
in practice.

To the west is a group of individual houses set in spacious plots along a linear cul-de-sac. To the
north is Willows Riverside Park, which comprises of detached, bungalow-style park homes on
regular plots laid out in a predominately linear rows on both sides of the internal access road. To
the north-east are mew houses generally arranged around a shared courtyard with long back
gardens leading to the riverside. While the character of built development within the locality is
diverse, the experience of the area is a verdant, semi-rural settlement with domestic scale
development. Denser 1960s style residential development lies to the south-east within the
Windsor settlement which is separated from the application site by the roundabout junction and
the A308.

The proposed development would result in a density of approximately 53 dwellings per hectare
(dph), which would be a significant uplift from the density of the existing locality which is around
20-35 dph. However, there are no objections to this increase in principle as it would represent an
efficient use of land which is supported by paragraph 123 of the NPPF. Paragraph 123 of the
NPPF states that where there is an existing shortage of land for meeting identified housing need
planning decisions should avoid homes being built at low densities and ensure that developments
make optimal use of each site. Furthermore, the National Design Guide advises that appropriate
density will result from building types, form and character of the development as well the context.

119



9.17

9.18

9.19

9.20

9.21

9.22

9.23

9.24

The density of the proposed properties would increase from west to south-east with 13 x two and
half storey detached and semi-detached houses towards the western and northern boundary of
the site, that give way to 4-house terrace towards the centre and then 2 x two to three storey
blocks of flats towards the south-eastern and eastern boundary of the site. This approach is
considered to be appropriate, moving from the existing low density development to the west and
higher density to the south-east. It is also considered that the higher density blocks of flats would
provide a strong frontage to the site. Overall, with the reduction in units and a revised layout from
the previous withdrawn scheme under 18/03754/FULL, it is considered that the proposal
achieves sufficient space around buildings to provide adequate setting for each and intervening
green space, which avoids a cramped overdeveloped appearance.

Concerns from local representations have been raised that the blocks of flats would be out of
keeping as there is no other flatted development within the locality, and the height and scale
would be visually dominant. The National Design Guide advises that a well-designed
neighbourhood should provide a variety and choice of homes to suit all needs and so there is no
objection in principle to flatted development in the area. However, the National Design Guide
goes on to advice that different types need to be well integrated. It is considered that the success
of integration is derived from the relationship with neighbouring development. In this case, the
block of flats sited at plot 27-37 would be seen in context from many public vantage points with
The Willows. However, the 2 storey section of the block of flats at plot 27-37 would be the nearest
element to the Willows before stepping up to 3 storey. The 2 storey element is considered to
reflect the domestic proportions the Willows and therefore, together with the intervening distance
of approximately 17.5m and 25m to the two storey and three storey element respectively, would
result in an acceptable visual transition.

Overall, the flatted development at plot 27-37 would be substantial building, but its form, detailing
and materials have been designed to visually break up its mass and bulk. It is considered that
there would have been a benefit by increasing the set back between the north-eastern corner of
the building and the site boundary, but on balance the space around the building would provide
an adequate setting.

The block of flats at plot 18-26 would be seen in context with the block of flats at plot 27-37 and
the houses at plot 11-12, but there is sufficient separation distance from both to the extent that
the proposed building at plot 18-26 to read as its own entity and not appear overbearing to the
houses at plot 11-12.

The housing fronting Maidenhead Road are considered to reflect the form, detailing and materials
of the houses to the opposite side of the road. The flatted development also incorporates
reflective forms, detailing and materials including gable features with timber barge board
detailing, brick headers over the window and render. Within the site, the form, detailing and
materials are considered to diverge but it is considered within the site there can be more flexibility
as the buildings seen within its own context.

Overall, it is considered that the proposed development would not harm the character and
appearance of the streetscene and wider area.

iv Trees

Local Plan policy N6 requires new development to allow for the retention of existing suitable tree
wherever practicable, should include protection measures necessary to protect trees during
development and an appropriate tree planning and landscaping scheme, and where the amenity
value of trees outweigh the justification for development then planning permission may be
refused.

T1 (Yew), T23 (Ash) and T28 (Japanese maple) are shown to be removed on the submitted Tree
Protection Plan ref: BEW21784-03C. In addition to these trees it is also considered that the
proposal would also likely result in the loss of T16 (Cherry Plum) due to the encroachment of the

120



9.25

9.26

9.27

9.28

9.29

9.30

block of flats at plot 18-26 into the root protection area (RPA) and potential conflict between the
resultant building and the future crown of the tree. As such, the viability of this tree cannot be
assured and it should be assumed it would be lost as a consequence of the development.
However, T1, T16 and T28 are identified as category C trees and in general category C trees
should not impose a constraint on the development provided that their loss is adequately
mitigated with replacement planting. T23 is identified as a category B tree, which is a tree of
moderate quality with an estimated life expectancy of at least 20 years, but due to its unstainable
location along the western boundary of the site there are also no objections to its loss subject to
adequate replacement planting

In relation to the impact on off-site trees, there are a number of significant trees located around
the perimeter of the site on the adopted highway. Being the main road between Maidenhead and
Windsor and the junction with Ruddlesway, the trees are highly visible and make a significant
contribution to the verdant character of this section of the A308. The block of flats forming plot 27-
37 would be in close proximity to the edge of the RPA of T11 (Common oak) and T12 (Cherry
plum) while the house at plot 12 would be in close proximity to the edge of the RPA of T20 (Ash),
but while this only allows for a slim margin of error in the construction process and siting of the
build this is not considered to warrant refusal in terms of undue harm to the health and longevity
of these tree. Additional concerns were also raised by the Council's Arboriculture Officer on
potential conflict with T11 and the proposed flats at plot 27-37, including shading to rooms from
the future growth of T11, leading to pressure from future owners/occupiers to prune or fell to the
detriment of their health and longevity. However, the affected windows would not be the sole
source of outlook and light and therefore also not considered to warrant refusal in terms of undue
harm to its health and longevity.

A Landscape Masterplan was submitted ref: BEW2178410 rev. G. There are issues over the type
trees, siting and rooting areas, but it is considered that in general the Landscape Masterplan
demonstrates that there is sufficient room for adequate planting to mitigate the proposed loss of
trees and to enhance the development. Therefore, if minded to approve a satisfactory landscape
strategy can be secured by condition.

v Residential Amenity

Local Plan policy H11 states that planning permission will not be granted for schemes which
introduce a scale or density of new development which would cause damage to the amenity of
the area. As a material consideration of significant weight, paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that
planning decisions should create a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.

The nearest residential properties are Willows Cottage, Willow House, Fold Cottage, Westlodge
Cottage and Westwind Manor to the west, and nos. 1 and 2 Park Cottage, and nos. 1, 5 and 14
The Willows which are sited to the north on the opposite side of Maidenhead Road.

There would be a separation distance of approximately 20m between the proposed houses on
plot no. 1-9 and Willow House and Fold Cottage. There is a lesser separation distance of
approximately 16m between Willows Cottage and the proposed house on plot no. 11, but due to
its orientation the proposed house would be angled away from Willows Cottage. As such, it is
considered that there would be no undue impact in terms of loss of light, loss of privacy and
visual intrusion to these neighbouring properties. It is noted that there would be garages sited
within the rear garden of plot no. 1, 2, 5 and 8, close to the shared boundary. However, the
garages would be single storey with an eaves height of approximately 2.2m at the eaves and
hipped roof sloping away from the shared boundary. As such, the proposed garages are not
considered to result in undue loss of light or visual intrusion.

The house at plot 1 would be sited opposite the entrance to Willows Riverside Park and so would
have little to no impact to residential amenity for the existing properties to the north. The house at
plot 13 would have a front-to-side relationship with no.1 and 2 Park Cottage. The side elevation of
nos. 1 and 2 Park Cottage does not have any ground floor windows but there are 2 first floor

121



9.31

9.32

9.33

9.34

windows that appear to be primary windows serving habitable rooms. However, it is considered
that there would be no undue loss of daylight to the windows as the proposed house at plot 13
would subtend a 25 degree line taken from the mid-point of each first floor window. The proposed
house at plot 13 would result in an increase in visual presence of building development when
viewed from no. 1 and 2 Park Cottage but houses sited on opposite sides of the road are not an
uncommon relationship and there would be a separation distance of approximately 11m. The
proposed house at plot 13 would also have a first floor window which would approximately align
with a first floor window at nos. 1 and 2 Park Cottage, both of which serve a habitable room.
However, it is considered that there should be less expectation of total privacy for windows facing
a public highway and mutual overlooking between houses on opposite sides of the road is not
exceptional. In relation to no. 1 The Willows, a proposed substation is sited opposite, but given
the proposed scale of the substation and the approximate distance of 16.5m from no. 1 The
Willows it is considered that there would be no loss of light or visual intrusion as a result.

The block of plot 27-37 would have a side-to-side relationship with no. 5 The Willows, sited on the
opposite side of Maidenhead Road at a distance of approximately 17m. There are 3 ground floor
and 2 first floor windows to the side elevation of no. 5 The Willows. Taking a 25 degree line taken
from the mid-point of each ground floor window at no. 5 The Willows, the proposed building would
subtend this line and so not considered to result in an undue loss of daylight to this neighbouring
property. While the proposed building would be substantial in size, it is considered that the
separation distance would be sufficient to mitigate any undue visual intrusion or overbearing
when viewed from no. 5 the Willows. The distance is also considered to sufficiently mitigate any
undue overlooking from proposed windows to existing windows at no. 5 The Willows.

In relation to residential amenity for future occupants, the proposed floor plans with furniture
layout demonstrate that all rooms are of sufficient size and shape to function for the purposes
which they are intended and all habitable rooms benefit from natural light and outlook. The
proposed houses have private garden space, while the flats have a private balcony with the
exception of the ground floor flats and access to an area of communal space.

Vi Highways
Local Plan policy T5 requires all development proposals to comply with adopted highway design
standards, policy P4 requires all development proposals to accord with adopted car parking

standards, while policy T7 seeks to ensure that new development makes appropriate provision
for cyclists including cycle parking.

Trip Generation

The submitted Transport Assessment compares the vehicular two-way trips generated by the
existing development (travel survey) with the proposed development (TRICS), which is
summarised in the table below. It is noted that the travel survey was undertaken during the
summer holidays, which is normally advised against under best practice advises, but given the
seasonal nature of the existing development the timing of the survey is considered to be
sufficiently robust.

AM Peak PM Peak Daily Saturday Peak
Arr. Dep. | Arr. Dep. Arr. Dep. Arr. Dep.
Existing 18 0 2 15 112 122 53 53
Proposed 5 21 16 7 106 110 4 10
Net Change | -13 +21 +14 -8 -6 -12 -49 -43

122



9.35

9.36

9.37

9.38

9.39

9.40

Overall, there would be an increase of 8 in vehicular trips during the morning peak and 6
vehicular trips during the evening peak, an overall decrease of 18 vehicular trips daily, and a
significant decrease of 92 vehicular trips during the Saturday Peak. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF
states that development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would
be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road
network would be severe. On this basis it is considered that the trip generation of the proposal
upon the local highway network and air pollution would be acceptable.

Access

A relocated access into the site has been proposed. As shown on drawing ref: 1903077-02 within
the Transport Statement, the access can provide viability splays in both directions of 2.4m x 43m
in accordance with the RBWM Highway Design Standards.

Parking

To facilities the new access, 2 on-street parking spaces will need to be relocated. There is no
objection to this in principle, but the applicant will need to amend the existing Traffic Regulation
Order in the event of any planning permission being granted and if minded to approve it is
recommended that this is secured by condition.

The Council’'s adopted Parking Strategy requires a maximum provision of 1 car parking space per
1-bed unit, 2 car parking spaces per 2-3 bed unit, and 3 car parking spaces for a unit with 4 or
more bedrooms. Based on the accommodation schedule in Appendix 1 of the Design and Access
Statement, this equates to a maximum provision of 75 spaces for the proposal. The proposal
would provide 73 on-site car parking spaces which is in compliance. The spaces also confirm to
RBWM parking design standards. If minded to approve it is recommended that the on-site
parking provision is secured by condition.

Cycle parking for the flats will be provided in communal cycle stores on the ground floor, while
residents of the houses will be able to store bicycles within the curtilage of the dwelling. To
ensure that the proposed provision of cycle parking at the site is in accordance with RBWM
details of the cycle parking layout can be secured by condition.

Refuse Provision

A swept path analysis, drawing ref: 1803077-TKO1 B in Appendix G of the Transport Statement,
demonstrates that a RBWM refuse vehicle can successfully enter, turn and exit the site in forward
gear. Therefore, the servicing and refuse arrangements are considered to be satisfactory.

Sustainable Transport

Drawing ref: 190377-03 there is a new footpath from the A308 Windsor Road to the bus stop on
Ruddlesway which has been recently been installed along this route. This provides a direct route
from the site to the bus stop. However, there is no natural surveillance from nearby residential
properties or passing cars as the footpath is screened by trees and vegetation, and while fully lit it
is acknowledged that this may be an issue for some pedestrians in hours of darkness including in
the afternoon and early evening during the autumn and winter periods. To adhere to paragraph
103 of the NPPF, which states that development should offer a genuine choice of transport
modes and maximise opportunities for sustainable transport, the applicant has proposed to
improve a second route from the A308 to the bus stop to the east of the roundabout on
Maidenhead Road, which is overlooked by residential properties but indirect, by installing
dropped kerbs and tactile paving at pedestrian crossing points. This is considered to be
acceptable. However, while the applicant has advised that a unilateral undertaking is being
prepared to secure the above, at the time of writing this has not yet been submitted. In the
absence of a satisfactory unilateral undertaking, the highway improvements to support

123



9.41

9.42

9.43

9.44

9.45

sustainable modes of transport (walking) is not secured. The proposal therefore fails to make
adequate provision contrary paragraph 103 of the NPPF.

vii Ecology

As a material consideration Paragraph 175 states that if significant harm to biodiversity resulting
from a development cannot be avoided, adequately mitigated or as a last resort compensated for
then planning permission should be refused. Furthermore, protecting and enhancing the natural
environment forms part of the ‘Environmental’ dimension of ‘Sustainable Development’ and
paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should minimise impacts on and
provide net gains for biodiversity

Habitats

The site lies within 5km and within the zone of influence of Windsor Forest and Great Park, a
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) which is a European Designated site. The primary reason for
designation is the significance of old acidophilous oak woods, range and diversity of saprxylic
invertebrates, and fungal assemblages. The Natura 2000 data form for Windsor Forest and Great
Park reports that the main threats relate to forest and plantation management and use; air
pollution, invasive non-native species; and interspecific floral relations. Where any proposal is
likely to have a significant effect on a European site either alone or in combination with other
plans or projects, the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 requires an
appropriate assessment to be made in view of that site’s conservation objectives. Paragraphs
175 and 176 of the NPPF state that development resulting in the loss or deterioration of Special
Areas of Conservation should be refused unless there are wholly exceptional reasons and a
suitable compensation strategy exists. In this case the proposed development, along and in
combination with the linked proposals, is not considered to have a significant effect on Windsor
Forest and Great Park, due to the distance of the proposal from the SAC and therefore an
appropriate assessment is not required.

The nearby river and woodland may also constitute Habitats of Principle Importance under
Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (2006). Sutherland Grange, is
a designated as a Local Nature Reserve and Local Wildlife Site located 405m east. However, as
the application site is largely isolated from Sutherland Grange by main roads and existing
development it is unlikely that the proposed works would significantly impact the Priority Habitats,
Local Nature Reserve and Local Wildlife Site provided standard measures to reduce the risk of
pollution are adhered to. Therefore if minded to approve, a Construction Environmental
Management Plan should be prepared to include measures to reduce the effect of noise,
vibration, dustand site lighting. This can be secured by condition.

Bats

The trees and buildings were assessed as having negligible to low potential to host roosting bats
and no evidence of bats were observed. The summer house on site, identified as building no. 4 in
the submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, was noted to have a single potential bat entrance
feature, which did not lead to a suitable roost space, but nevertheless the Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal recommended that this feature if examined with an endoscope by an ecologist
immediately prior to demolition works and subsequently dismantled by hand. If minded to
approve this can be secured by condition.

Other Wildlife
Given the extent of habitats present and lack of nearby accessible ponds it is considered unlikely

that great crested newts, reptiles, water vole and dormice are present on site, and no evidence of
badgers were observed.

124



9.46

9.47

9.48

9.49

9.50

9.51

9.52

The site may be used by nesting birds. Breeding birds, their eggs and active nests are protected
by the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and therefore if minded to approve than it
is recommended an informative is added to advise that works to building roofs should be taken
outside of the bird nesting season, or if it is not practical then such areas should be checked by a
gualified ecologist immediately prior to clearance.

Biodiversity Enhancement

In line with paragraph 175 of the NPPF, development should incorporate opportunities for wildlife.
To the area to the northern site boundary includes rhododendron, which if Rhododendron
ponticum species is listed under Schedule 9 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as
amended) which is illegal to plant or cause it to grow in the wild. As per the Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal it is recommended that the rhododendron is removed in accordance with best practice.
The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal also recommends that a biodiversity enhancement scheme
is designed, which should include bat and bird boxes, hedgehog friendly fencing (there are
records of hedgehogs in the surrounding area) and log piles etc. If minded to approve, it is
considered that these measures are secured by condition.

Viii Archaeology

Local Plan policy ARCH 3 states that planning permission will not be granted for proposals which
appear likely to adversely affect archaeological sites of unknown importance unless adequate
evaluation enabling the full implications of the development on archaeological interests is carried
out prior to the determination of the application. This is supported by paragraph 189 of the NPPF
which states that where a development site has the potential to include heritage assets with
archaeological interest, local planning authorities should require developers to submit an
appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation.

The site lies within the Thames Valley which have been a focus of settlement, agriculture and
burial from the earlier prehistoric period to the present day and important prehistoric finds have
been recorded close to the application site. Therefore, the application site falls within an area of
potential archaeological significance. If minded to approve, a programme of archaeological field
evaluation in accordance with a written scheme of investigation, and any subsequent mitigation
strategy, can be secured by condition. It is considered that this requirement can be secured post-
permission in this particular case as there has been some previous development on the site.

IX Affordable Housing

The proposal includes 11 affordable units on site which accords with Local Plan policy H3 which
requires that this development provides 30% affordable housing on site.

As material condition, paragraph 63 of the NPPF states that where major development involving
housing, at least 10% of the homes are expected to be available for affordable home ownership,
as part of the overall affordable housing contribution from the site unless this would exceed the
level of affordable housing required in the area or prejudice the ability to meet the identified
affordable housing need within the Borough. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA)
highlights needs of the Borough and sets out a tenure of 80% of social/affordable rented and 20%
intermediate housing, but tenure mix is not specified in adopted policy and therefore it is
considered that the NPPF should be a material consideration of more significant weight in this
respect. In this case the proposal is for 6 units of shared ownership (units 29, 30, 33, 34, 36 and
37) and 5 units of affordable rent (units 27, 28, 31, 32 and 35), which would accord with the
NPPF.

While the applicant is willing for the proposal to be policy compliant and has advised that a
unilateral undertaking is being prepared to secure the above, at the time of writing this has not yet
been submitted. In the absence of a satisfactory unilateral undertaking, the affordable housing
contribution is not secured and the proposal therefore fails to make adequate provision for

125



9.53

9.54

9.55

9.56

affordable housing and is contrary to Local Plan policy H3 and paragraph 63 of the NPPF.
However in the weight attributed to having a policy compliant affordable housing scheme will be
considered further below as part of the wider planning balance.

X The Case for Very Special Circumstances

It has been demonstrated that in accordance with paragraph 143 of the NPPF the proposal is
inappropriate development in the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special
circumstances (VSC). Paragraph 144 of the NPPF goes on to state that VSC would not existing
unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm
resulting from the proposal is clearly outweighed by other considerations.

The decision-taker has to exercise a qualitative judgment and ask whether the circumstances,
taken together, are very special. The Courts have not defined ‘very special’, beyond confirming
that the words must be given their ordinary and natural meaning. The Green Belt balancing
exercise therefore needs to be if ‘other considerations’ put forward as part of this planning
application equate to VSC which exists to outweigh the harm and any other harm.

In accordance with Paragraph 144 of the NPPF substantial weight against the proposal should
be given to any harm to the Green Belt. This includes inappropriateness and conflict with one of
the purposes of the Green Belt. In relation to other harm, significant weight against the
development is given due to lack of affordable housing provision, and significant weight to the
highway improvements to support sustainable modes of transport which are necessary to make
the development acceptable in planning terms.

In terms of benefits, the applicant has put forward the following case for ‘VSC’. Officers have
assessed eachin turn and then carried out a balancing exercise as required.

VSC put forward by the Applicant Weight attributed by Officers

Housing Need Benefits
Provision of 37 dwellings to meet exceptional | At the time of writhng RBWM cannot
need for both market and affordable housing | demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply,
therefore significant weight is given to the
provision of housing as part of this scheme.
Provision of affordable homes (30%) of a | Affordable housing provision is simply
mixed type and tenure seeking to comply with planning policy and
no provision above and beyond that is
proposed by the Appellants. Nonetheless in
principle this does form a benefit to the
proposed development which would go
towards meeting the affordable needs of the
Borough. The principle of providing 30%
affordable housing can therefore be given
moderate weight. However at this stage
there is currently no legal agreement in place
to secure such delivery.

Sustainable Development (Economic)
Job creation at construction stage and | Not quantified and in any case due to the
operation stage. short-term nature of these benefits this can
be only given limited weight.

Increase in expenditure by residents on local | Not quantified and in any case as the scheme
services is for 37 units the impact of this additional
spend in the local economy would be limited
therefore given limited weight.

126



Increase in council tax revenue and New
Homes Bonus

Not quantified and in any case as the scheme
is for 37 units the impact would be limited
therefore given limited weight.

Sustainable Development (Social)

Would faciltate a more balanced local
demographic whereby younger people and
families will enjoy greater opportunities to live
locality with the supply of new homes,
including affordable homes

Open market housing would be available to
anyone, and affordable housing would be
available to those eligible also regardless of
age. The contribution of a particular tenure
and mix of housing does not advance the
matter any further. It is simply a contribution
to the particular housing need which has
been identified locally and therefore given no
weight.

Sustainable Development (Environmental)

Provision of green infrastructure and areas
for ecological enhancements and net gain of
biodiversity

Biodiversity gain as a result of biodiversity
enhancements is considered to be a benefit
of the scheme and therefore given limited
weight.

Provision of SUDS scheme

Does not constitute VSC as provision is a
policy requirement and therefore given no
weight.

Provision of a high quality and attractive
development on a redundant and vacant site,
including new landscaping.

Does not constitute VSC as provision is a
policy requirement and in any case all
residential scheme irrespective of their
location should be of a high quality design.
Therefore given no weight.

Other Considerations

The site forms part of the emerging allocation
within the RBWM Borough Local Plan which
has been submitted to Examination. The
evidence base justifies the allocation.

For reasons set out above given the current
status of the BLPSV Ilimited weight is
currently attributed to policies contained
within this document. The emerging Local
Plan is seeking to allocate a number of sites
for Green Belt release, it is from the Inspector
of the Local Plan to reach a decision on the
test of soundness for such a release.

An assessment of the impact on ‘openness’
for a particular planning application is
materially different to that undertaken as part
of a wider Green Belt Assessment forming
justification for a green belt release in the
context of a Local Plan. The test for
considering the appropriateness of a
proposed development in the context of a
planning application are set in 145 of the
NPPF, these are different from the Local Plan
tests relating to the review of boundaries.
Limited to no weight can be given to this as
part of VSC

Site constitutes previously development and
other than Green Belt does not have any
other designated constraints.

The application has been considered in the
relevant context for such land and officers
have clearly conclude that the development
would result in substantial harm to the

127




9.57

9.58

9.59

openness of the Green Belt. This clearly does
not constitute VSC and therefore given no
weight.

Site represents a suitable location for
development as situated in main urban
centres within the Borough and in proximity to
a number of local services. Furthermore, the
proposed allocation HAL1l is identified to
deliver open space, sports pitches,
educational facilities and community hub.

Proposed allocation under HA1l in the
BLPSV and AL22 in the Proposed Changes
to the BLPSV is given limited weight given
the extent of unresolved objections to and
there is no certainty if or when this may
transpire; and it is not considered that the site
lies within the main urban centre (Windsor or

Maidenhead).

The proposed scheme does not delivery any
of community facilities as part of this scheme.

For the scheme to be ‘suitable’ it should be
located in a sustainable location. Para 11 of
the NPPF is clear that this development
would not be sustainable development as
Green Belt policies provide a clear reason for
refusing the development.

Whilst the NPPF (2019) also requires LPA’s
to support the development of windfall sites
through their policies and decisions — giving
great weight to the benefits of using suitable
sites (our emphasis) within  existing
settlements for homes. This development is
not in a within existing settlement and
therefore not considered to be a suitable site
for windfall development

Therefore limited weight can be given to this
as a VSC.

The overall harm to the Green Belt own its own is considered to equate to very substantial
harm, the highest level of harm. The case of VSC put forward by the applicant would not clearly
outweigh harm to the Green Belt and any other harm, therefore the proposal would be contrary
to Local Plan policy GB1, GB2(a) and paragraph 145 of the NPPF.

Xi Planning Balance

Paragraphs 10 and 11 of the NPPF set out that there will be a presumption in favour of
Sustainable Development. The latter paragraph states that:

For decision-taking this means: approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date
development plan without delay; or where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the
policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting
permission unless:
o the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

Footnote 7 of the NPPF (2019) clarifies that:

128



9.60

9.61

10.

10.1

11.

111

11.2

11.3

114

‘out-of-date policies include, for applications involving the provision of housing, situations
where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable
housing sites (with the appropriate buffer)’

The BLPSV is not yet adopted planning policy and the Council’'s adopted Local Plan is more than
five years old. Therefore, for the purposes of decision making, currently the starting point for
calculating the 5 year housing land supply (5hyr hls) is the ‘standard method’ as set out in the
NPPF (2019). At the time of writing, the Council is able to demonstrate 4.08 years of housing land
supply. Therefore, for the purpose of this planning application the LPA currently cannot
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer).

However footnote 6 of the NPPF then further clarifies that section d(i) of paragraph 11 of the
NPPF is not applied where ‘policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed’. This includes land
designated as Green Belt. For reasons set out in Section 9(i) it is considered that section d(i) of
paragraph 11 is engaged as Green Belt policies in the NPPF, which protect areas or assets of
particular importance, provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed. As such,
the tilted balance is not engaged and the planning balance is carried out in the ordinary way,
having regard to the statutory test in section 38(6) of the 2004 Act. This is set out below in the
conclusion.

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)

The Community Infrastructure Levy is a charge which can be levied by local authorities on new
development in their area and an important tool for local authorities to use to help them deliver
the infrastructure needed to support development in their area. In accordance with the Council’s
adopted CIL charging schedule the development is CIL liable at a rate of £240 per square metre
(plus indexation) of chargeable floor space.

CONCLUSION

The proposed development constitutes an inappropriate form of development in the Green Belt,
would result in substantial harm to the openness of the Green, and would be contrary to one of
the purposes of the Green Belt. This harm to the Green Belt is afforded substantial weight
against the development. The case of VSC put forward by the applicant would not clearly
outweigh this harm and the harm to the character and appearance of the streetscene and locality.
As such the proposal is contrary to Local Plan Policy GB1 and GB2(a), and paragraph 133,
134,143, 144 and 145 of the NPPF.

The proposed sustainable drainage system is acceptable in principle, but additional information
has been submitted on infiltration rates and how properties will be protected from internal
flooding. Further comments from the Lead Local Flood Authority will be reported in an update.

The proposed development would represent a significant uplift in density and the blocks of flats
would be buildings which are larger in terms of height and mass than existing buildings in the
locality. However, due to the proposed number of units, layout, building type, form and character,
the proposal is not considered to be cramped within the site, visually dominant nor unduly
incongruous. The proposal is considered to be in accordance with Local Plan policy H10, H11
and DGL.

There are no objections proposed loss of on-site trees which are of poor quality nor is it
considered there would be undue conflict with retained trees and the proposed development. In
terms of mitigation, it is considered that an acceptable landscaping scheme could be achieved to

129



11.5

11.6

11.7

11.8

11.9

12.

13.

mitigate for the loss of existing trees, soften the built form or provide an appropriate level of
enhancement. The proposal is considered in accordance with Local Plan policy N6

The proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of impact on neighbouring amenity. The
proposed development would not have a significantly detrimental impact on the daylighting levels
currently received by the nearby residential properties and would not result in significant
increased overlooking or visual intrusion. The proposal is considered to accord with Local Plan
policy H11 and paragraph 127 of the NPPF.

The proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of highway safety and impact on local
infrastructure. An acceptable level of parking provision is provided on site. The relocation of on-
street parking and cycle storage can be secured by condition. However, the proposal fails to
secure highway improvements to support sustainable modes of transport, contrary to paragraph
103 of the NPPF.

The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in terms of impact on ecology subject
to conditions in accordance with paragraphs 170 and 175 of the NPPF.

The impact of the proposed development on archaeological sites of unknown importance is
considered to be acceptable in accordance with Local Plan policy ARCH3 and paragraph 189 of
the NPPF subject to a condition to requiring a programme of archaeological field evaluation in
accordance with an approved written scheme of investigation, and any subsequent mitigation as
necessary. It is considered that this requirement can be secured post-permission in this particular
case as there has been some previous development on the site.

The proposal includes 30% of the proposed residential units as affordable housing, in the
absence of a S106 legal agreement the development fails to secure an acceptable level. This
would be contrary to Local Plan policy H3 and paragraph 62, 63 and 64 of the NPPF.

APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

e Appendix A — Site Location Plan and Site Layout
e Appendix B — Proposed Plan and Elevation Drawings

REASONS RECOMMENDED FOR REFUSAL IF PERMISSION IS NOT GRANTED

The proposal represents inappropriate development in Green Belt, which is by definition harmful
to the Green Belt, would be substantially harmful to the openness of the Green Belt, and would
conflict with one of the purposes of the Green Belt, namely 'to assist in safeguarding the
countryside from encroachment'. Very Special Circumstances that clearly outweighs the harm to
the Green Belt and any other harm has not been demonstrated. The proposal is therefore
contrary to the provisions of saved policies GB1 and GB2(a) of the Royal Borough of Windsor
and Maidenhead Local Plan 1999 (Incorporating Alterations Adopted in June 2003), and
paragraphs 133, 134 ,143, 144 and 145 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019),

In the absence of a completed legal agreement the proposed development has failed to secure
the provision of the necessary infrastructure needed to make this development acceptable in
planning terms. The proposed development is therefore to paragraph 103 of the National
Planning Policy Framework (2019).

In the absence of a completed legal agreement the proposed development has failed to secure
the provision of 11 affordable housing units (30% on site provision) to meet local needs. The
proposed development is therefore contrary to policy H3 of the Royal Borough of Windsor and
Maidenhead Local Plan 1999 (incorporating alterations made in 2003) and the National Planning
Policy Framework (2019).

130



Appendices for planning application 19/01714

Appendix A — Site Location Plan

131



Appendices for planning application 19/01714

Appendix B — Proposed Site Layout Plan

Mrs | Wixon-jones,
Mahjacks Ltd

61-63 Dedworth Road, Windsor

Location and Block Plans
Proposed Site Plan

S traamas = 11120 . 25 ¢

Mrs ] Vixon-jones,
Mahjacks Ltd

61-63 Dedwarth Road. Windsor
Fioor Plans

61-63 Dedworth Road, UWindsor S e 28

132



Appendices for planning application 19/01714

Appendix D — Proposed Elevation Plan

MNorth Elewerion

— . Mrs | WixonJones,
West Elevation htemol North Elevotion Mahjacks Ltd

&1-63 Dedworth Road, Windsor

Intesncl South Elewation

61-63 Dedworth Road, Windsor

momtEE 20,278

133



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 8

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

4 December 2019 Item: 8
Application 19/01755/FULL

No.:

Location: Squires Garden Centre Maidenhead Road Windsor SL4 5UB

Proposal: Erection of 37 dwellings including the re-location of existing access along Maidenhead

Road with associated parking, internal circulation, public open space, landscaping and
related infrastructure

Applicant: Bewley Homes Plc And Square Bay (no5) LLP

Agent: Mrs Hannah Knowles

Parish/Ward: Bray Parish/Clewer And Dedworth West

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Antonia Liu on 01628 796034 or at
antonia.liu@rbwm.gov.uk

1. SUMMARY

11 The proposal is for the erection of 37 dwellings including the relocation of the existing access
along Maidenhead Road with associated parking, internal circulation, landscaping and related
infrastructure.

1.2 The site lies in Green Belt and the proposed development is considered to be an inappropriate
form of development in the Green Belt, would cause substantial harm to the openness of the
Green Belt and would be contrary to one of its purposes. No case of Very Special Circumstances
(VSC) has been demonstrated to outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and any other harm.

1.3 The Green Belt boundary is proposed to be amended and the site forms part of a larger parcel of
land allocated for housing, ref: HA11 Land West of Windsor, north and south of the A308 in the
BLPSV, and land allocation ref: AL22 Squires Garden Centre, Maidenhead Road in the Proposed
Changes to the BLPSV. There are significant unresolved objections with regards the housing
land allocations proposed in the BLPSV and as a result all proposed allocations are given limited
weight as a material consideration at this time.

14 The proposal includes highway improvements including dropped kerbs and tactile paving at
crossing points along a route from the site to a bus stop on Ruddlesway to support sustainable
modes of travel (walking). However, in the absence of a completed legal agreement the
development fails to secure the required infrastructure to make this development acceptable in
planning terms.

15 The proposal includes 30% of the proposed residential units as affordable housing, but in the
absence of a completed legal agreement the development fails to secure the required affordable
housing units this constitutes a reason for refusal.

1.6 Additional information has been submitted to address concerns raised on sustainable drainage,
and further comments from the Lead Local Flood Authority. Any comments received will be
reported in an update.

It is recommended the Panel refuses planning permission for the following summarised
reasons (the full reasons are identified in Section 13 of this report):

1. | The proposal represents inappropriate development in Green Belt, which is by definition
harmful to the Green Belt and would conflict with one of the purposes of the Green Belt,
namely 'to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment'. The development
causes substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt. Very Special Circumstances
that clearly outweighs the harm to the Green Belt and any other harm has not been

135



3.1

4.1

5.1

5.2

5.3

54

demonstrated.

2. | In the absence of a completed legal agreement the development fails to provide the
necessary infrastructure needed to make this development acceptable in planning terms.

3. | In the absence of a completed legal agreement the development fails to secure 30%
Affordable Housing to make this development acceptable in planning terms with regards
affordable housing provision.

REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION

o The Council's Constitution does not give the Head of Planning delegated powers to
determine the application in the way recommended; such decisions can only be made by
the Panel

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

The site comprises land bounded by Maidenhead Road to the north; the A308/Maidenhead Road
roundabout to the east; the A308 to the south and the residential dwellings to the west beyond
which is open land; ‘Willows Park Homes’ site to the north west; and The Willows to the north —a
former mansion house dating from 1850 which has been divided into a number of individual
properties. The site was occupied by Squires Garden Centre which includes a car park, a single
storey retail building and an open air plant display area, but has been vacated. The site is
bounded by a red brick wall that forms part of the garden centre building to the north; a wrought
iron fence to the east; trees/shrubs on the boundary with the A308 to the south; and a
combination of close board fencing and trees to the west.

KEY CONSTRAINTS

The entire site lies in Green Belt, and in accordance with the accordance with the Environment
Agency Flood Map for Planning the eastern corner of the site lies in Flood Zone 2

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

The proposal is for the erection of 37 dwellings including the relocation of the existing access
along Maidenhead Road with associated parking, internal circulation, landscaping and related
infrastructure.

The proposal includes two blocks of flats, one located at the inward curve of the site at the
roundabout junction of A308 and Maidenhead Road (plot 27-37) and the other located to its west
adjacent to the A308 (plot 18-26). The remaining dwellings comprise of 2 detached houses and 4
pairs of semi-detached houses along the western boundary of the site (plot 2-12), 2 detached
dwellings fronting Maidenhead Road (plot 1 and 13), and a terrace of 4 houses within the site
(plot 14-17). The blocks of flats are 2 to 3 storey in height, while the houses are 2 to 2 and half
storey in height. Access is via Maidenhead Road and the internal road layout terminates in a cul-
de-sac.

Following negotiation during the course of the application, design changes were made to the
scheme and revised plans were received on the 20 September 2019. The main changes relate to
the roof form and architectural detailing on the blocks of flats. Further changes to the architectural
detailing were to the blocks of flats were received on the 14 November 2019.

There is extensive planning history for the site associated with the operation of the garden centre.

In terms of relevant planning history for the redevelopment of the site for residential, there was an
application for the erection of 39 dwellings, creation of a new access of Maidenhead Road,

136



6.1

provision of parking, internal circulation, public open space, landscaping and related
infrastructure that was withdrawn by the applicant on 13 March 2019, ref: 18/03754/FULL.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN
Adopted Royal Borough Local Plan (2003)

The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are:

Issue Adopted Local Plan Policy
Green Belt GB1
Design character and appearance of area DG1, H10,H11
Affordable Housing H3
Highways P4, 15, T7
Flooding F1

These policies can be found at
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local plan documents and appendices

MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
National Planning Policy Framework Sections (NPPF) (2019)

Section 2 — Achieving Sustainable Development

Section 4 — Decision Making

Section 5 — Delivering a Sufficient Supply of Homes

Section 8 — Promoting Healthy and Safe Communities

Section 9 — Promoting Sustainable Transport

Section 11 — Making Effective Use of Land

Section 12 — Achieving Well-Designed Places

Section 13 — Protecting Green Belt Land

Section 14 — Meeting the Challenges of Climate Change, Flooding and Coastal Change
Section 15 — Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment

National Design Guide

This document was published in October 2019 and seeks to illustrate how well-designed places
that are beautiful, enduring and successful can be achieved in practice. It forms part of the
Government’s collection of planning practice guidance and should be read alongside the
separate planning practice guidance on design process and tools. The focus of the design guide
is lo tool at layout, from, scale, appearance, landscape, materials and detailing. It further
highlights ten characteristics help which work together to create its physical Character, these are
context, identify, built forms, movement, nature, public spaces, uses, homes and buildings,
resources and life span.

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version

Issue Local Plan Policy

Appropriate Development In Green Belt and acceptable SP1, SP5
Impact on Green Belt

Design in Keeping with Character and Appearance of Area SP2, SP3

Housing Development HO1, HO2, HO5

Affordable Housing HO3

137



https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices

7.3

Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows NR2
Infrastructure Provision IF1
Sustainable Transport IF2
Community Facilities IF7

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version Proposed Changes (2019)

Issue Local Plan Policy
Appropriate Development In Green Belt and acceptable SP1, QP5
Impact on Green Belt
Design in keeping with character and appearance of area QP1,QP3
Housing Development HO1, HO2
Affordable Housing HO3
Trees, Woodlands and Hedgerows NR3
Infrastructure Provision IF1
Sustainable Transport IF2
Community Facilities IF6

The NPPF sets out that decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans
according to their stage of preparation. The Borough Local Plan Submission Document was
published in June 2017. Public consultation ran from 30 June to 27 September 2017. Following
this process the Council prepared a report summarising the issues raised in the representations
and setting out its response to them. This report, together with all the representations received
during the representation period, the plan and its supporting documents was submitted to the
Secretary of State for independent examination in January 2018. The Submission Version of the
Borough Local Plan does not form part of the statutory development plan for the Borough.

In December 2018, the examination process was paused to enable the Council to undertake
additional work to address soundness issues raised by the Inspector. Following completion of
that work, in October 2019 the Council approved a series of Proposed Changes to the BLPSV
which are now out to public consultation until Sunday, 15 December 2019. All representations
received will be reviewed by the Council to establish whether further changes are necessary
before the Proposed Changes are submitted to the Inspector. In due course the Inspector will
resume the Examination of the BLPSV. The BLPSV and the BLPSV together with the Proposed
Changes are therefore material considerations for decision-making. However, given the above
both should be given limited weight.

These documents can be found at:
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/blp

Supplementary Planning Documents

. RBWM Interpretation of Policy F1
. Interpretation of Policies R2, R3, R4, R5 and R6

Other Local Strategies or Publications

Other Strategies or publications relevant to the proposal are:

. RBWM Parking Strategy
° RBWM Townscape Assessment
o Affordable Housing Planning Guidance

138


https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/blp

More information on these documents can be found at:

https://www3.rbwm.qgov.uk/info/2004 14/local _development_framework/494/supplementary planning

CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Comments from interested parties

58 occupiers were notified directly of the application. The planning officer posted a notice
advertising the application at the site on 8 July 2019 and the application was advertised in the
Local Press on 11 July 2019. 42 letters were received objecting to the application, summarised
below. Following re-consultation on the 24 September 2019 an additional 13 letters were

received from consultees who reiterated their original concerns.

Comment

Where in the report this is
considered

pollution and to the detriment of highway safety; transport
survey taken during summer holidays and therefore inaccurate

Inappropriate development in the Green Belt, encroachment Section i, X
into the countryside, harm to openness, no Very Special

Circumstances demonstrated to outweigh harm to the Green

Belt

Assumes Borough Local Plan will be adopted, application is Section i
premature

Insufficient parking resulting in increase in on-street parking Section vi
pressures

Location of access is dangerous Section vi
Density too high resulting in cramped development and Section iii
overdevelopment of the site to the detriment of amenity for

future occupiers and local character

Out of character with the locality as there are no other flatter Section iii
development or 3 storey buildings, and design is incongruous.

Height and design of buildings are out of character with the area | Sectioniii
and overly dominate with surrounding properties.

Increase in traffic resulting in congestion, increase in air Section vi

Land liable to flood, inadequate drainage; increase in pressure
on sewer network

Thames Water consultation
response and Section ii

Inadequate social infrastructure to support the development
e.9.GP surgeries

Section 10

development resulting in harm wildlife

Harm to off-site trees, and insufficient landscaping Section iv
Harm to neighbouring amenity in terms of loss of view, loss of Section v
light, loss of privacy, increase in noise and disturbance

Decrease in open space and greenery, increase in built Section vii

Loss of local employment

The site is not within an
identified site where the use
is protected for employment.

Increase in crime

No evidence put forward that
the proposed residential use
is a crime generating
development.

139



https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning

Loss of community use e.g. local café and restaurant which was
by local residents to meet and socialise; development should
include some kind of community facility

The extant use of the site
(former garden centre with
ancillary cafe) falls under Al
(retail) and not D1
(community use). As such,
there is no objection in
principle to its loss nor a
requirement for a
replacement within the
scheme.

Consultees

Consultee

Comment

Where in the report this is
considered

Berkshire
Archaeology

No objection subjectto condition to secure
implementation of a programme of
archaeological works to be submitted and
approved by the local planning authority.

Section viii

Bray Parish
Council

Raises objection to the proposal for the
following reasons:

e Inappropriate development in the Green
Belt and Very Special Circumstances
has not been demonstrated

¢ No certainty that the BLP (and changes)
will be adopted

e Density too high with harmful visual

impact and lack of open space
Inadequate parking

Flood risk

Highway safety from new access
Increase in traffic adding to congestion
at peak times

Section i, ii, iii, iv, X

Ecology

No objection subject to conditions relating to a
construction environmental management plan;
removal of rhododendron; examination of the
bat feature by an ecologist prior to demolition
works and dismantling by hand; and biodiversity
enhancements, and informative relating to
breeding birds.

Section vii

Environment
Agency

Refers the Local Planning Authority to standing
advice.

Section ii

Highways

No objection in principle but further information
required in relation cycle parking.

Section vi

Lead Local
Flood
Authority

Additional information requested to address
concerns over the infiltration rates which were
based on above average infiltration rates while
best practice indicates that the Ilowest
determined infiltration rates should be used in
calculations, and how properties at plot 18-26
will be protected from internal flooding as the
submitted information indicates that
exceedance flows will be directed towards these
properties.

Section ii

Trees

Raises objections over the failures to secure the
long-term retention of off-site trees and the

Section iv

140




9.

9.1

landscaping scheme is insufficient to soften the
built form or provide a level of enhancement for
such a large and prominent development.

Thames
Water

No objection with regard to fowl water sewage
network infrastructure capacity based on the
information provided as the application indicates
that surface waters will not be discharged in to
the public network.

Section ii

Other Responses

Where in the report this is

Eton Society

reasons:
e Inappropriate development in the Green
Belt, loss of openness
e Prematurity in relation to the BLPSV
e Overdevelopment of the site
o Blocks of flats are imposing and overly

dominant, would detract from The
Willows

e Design out of keeping with sense of
place

e Loss of trees which are important along
the A308

e Over dominance of parking to the centre
of the site

e Inadequate surface water drainage

Group Comment .
considered
Access Insufficient information submitted. Noted.
Advisory
Forum
Oakley Raises objections for the following summarised | Section i, i, iii, vi, X
Green and reasons:
Fifield e Inappropriate development in the Green | The extant use of the site
Residents Belt, loss of openness, conflict with the | (former garden centre with
Association purposes of the Green Belt, no very | ancillary cafe) falls under Al
special circumstances (retail) and not D1
e Prematurity in relation to the BLPSV (community use). As such,
e Higher density, cramped layout, scale | there is no objection in
and massing is out of character with | Principle to its loss nor a
surrounds requirement for a
e Proposed access is unsafe replacement within the
o Insufficient on-site parking resulting in | SCheme.
increase in parking pressure off-site
e Flood risk
e Existing poor air quality and additional
vehicle use would add to this
e Loss of community asset and
employment (garden centre and café)
Windsorand | Raises objections for the following summarised | Section i, ii, iii, iv, Vi, X

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION

The key issues for consideration are:

141




9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

i Green Belt
ii Flood Risk

i Character and Appearance

iv Trees

v Residential Amenity
Vi Highways

Vi Ecology

viii Archaeology

X Affordable Housing

X The Case for Very Special Circumstances
Xi Planning Balance
[ Green Belt

The entire site lies within the Metropolitan Green Belt and the fundamental aim of Green Belt
policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land permanently open. Paragraph 145 of the NPPF
states that new buildings in the Green Belt should be regarded as inappropriate development with
some exceptions. Local Plan policy GB1 and BLPSV policy SP5 also sets out appropriate
development in the Green Belt. However, the Local Plan was prepared in accordance with the
cancelled PPG2 Green Belts and therefore not entirely consistent with the NPPF. As such, GB1
is not given full weight for the purposes of this assessment. Under transitional arrangements the
BLPSV is assessed against the NPPF (2012) and therefore policy SP5 is considered to be
consistent in this respect, but due to unresolved objections policy SP5 should only be given
limited weight as a material consideration. The NPPF is considered to be a more up-to-date
expression of Government intent and a material consideration of significant weight.

In this context, paragraph 145 (g) of the NPPF states that limited infilling or the partial or
complete redevelopment of previously developed land, whether redundant or in continuing use
(excluding temporary buildings), need not be inappropriate development in the Green Belt. This is
subject to the development not having a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than
the existing development; or not causing substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt
where the development would re-use previously development land and contribute towards
meeting an identified affordable housing need within the area of the local planning authority. It is
considered that the proposal would not clearly fall under any of the other exceptions.

In this case, the site would fall under the definition of previously developed land given in the
Appendix 2 of the NPPF as the site is entirely occupied by a former garden centre with a main
building and associated hardstanding that was used for storage, display area and a car park.

Turning to the impact on openness, the concept of openness relates to the lack of development
or built form, however Turner v SSCLG and East Dorset Council [2016] and Goodman v SSCLG
[2017] established that the impact of openness of the Green Belt should be assessed taking into
account both its spatial and visual impact, while Euro Garages Limited v SSCLG [2018]
establishes that greater floor area and/or volume does not necessarily mean that there is a
greater impact. It is also necessary to consider “the impact or harm, if any, wrought by the

142



9.6

9.7

9.8

9.6.1

9.7

9.8

change”. This Case Law is a material consideration. In response to this case law the National
Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) which supports the NPPF (2019) advises that in addition to
volume the visual impact of the proposal may also be relevant.

The proposed housing development would equate to a footprint of approximately 1725.5sqm
which represents an increase from the existing footprint that measures approximately 1652sgm.
However, the existing building is single storey measuring approximately 4.5m in height and has a
much lower profile than the proposed two-storey houses measuring approximately 8.5m to 10.5m
in height and the two to three storey blocks of flats measuring 8.2 to 12.5m. Furthermore the
blocks of flats have significant width and are very prominently located. The existing building is
significantly lower in height than the proposals and is concentrated in a visually less prominent
position in the north-western corner of the site. The residential dwellings would visually spread
across the entire site including to areas previously used for storage, plant displays, car parking.
While the extent of which these areas remain open and free from development is dependent on
the intensity of use at a particular time, it is considered that the erection of taller permanent two to
three storey buildings would have a substantially greater volumetric and visual impact on
openness than the existing development.

Furthermore, the existing buildings being single storey in nature, glass houses and the other
open storage and hard surfacing have a reduced physical and visual presence, a liken to an
agricultural character. Compared with this would be markedly taller and solid buildings and the
subdivision of the area into individual curtilages. It is considered that the quantum and amount of
the more urban form of residential development proposed would substantially reduce openness
of the Green Belt. While there would be some modest screening from trees, the increased
amount of development and its visual impact in Green Belt terms would be very apparent from
Maidenhead Road, the A308 (Maidenhead Road and Windsor Road), the roundabout junction,
nearby residential properties, and Ruddlesway, in particular with the higher density of
development (the blocks of flats) located towards the A308 and the roundabout junction.

Consequently, taking into account the footprint, height, scale and siting of the proposed
development it is considered that the proposed development would have a greater impact on the
openness of the Green Belt than the existing development and would lead to substantial harm to
openness. Therefore, it is not considered that the proposal falls under exceptions in paragraph
145 of the NPPF and considered to be inappropriate development in the Green Belt.

For the reasons above the proposal is considered to constitute inappropriate development in the
Green Belt. Paragraph 144 of the NPPF states that inappropriate development is, by definition,
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances
(VSC). The applicant considered that proposal to be appropriate development, but has also put
forward a case for VSC within the submitted Planning Statement which is assessed below.

In terms of any other harm to the Green Belt, as inappropriate development in the Green Belt the
proposal is by definition harmful to its openness. The more formalised and urban form of
development spread across this site is considered to conflict with one of the purposes of the
Green Belt, namely to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment’ which forms the
third purpose outlined in paragraph 134 of the NPPF.

In the emerging Borough Local Plan (BLPSV) the Green Belt boundary is proposed to be
amended through the BLPSV and the site forms part of a larger parcel of land allocated for
housing (ref: HA1l Land West of Windsor, north and south of the A308). In the Proposed
Changes to the BLPSYV, the site is separated from the larger parcel of land and forms its own
allocation for housing (ref: AL22 Squires Garden Centre, Maidenhead Road). However, as stated
in Section 7 of this report both the BLPSV and Proposed Changes to the BLPSV are given limited
weight as a material consideration.

i Flood Risk

143



9.12

9.13

9.14

9.15

9.16

Part of the block of flats comprising of plot 27 to 37 is sited in Flood Zone 2 while the remainder
of the site lies in Flood Zone 1. However, following a more detailed model undertaken by the EA
shows that the site is elevated above the EA calculated Flood Zone 2 level. NPPG advises that it
is not normally necessary to apply the Sequential Test, which aims to steer development away
from areas at highest risk, to development proposals in Flood Zone 1. The Exception Test is not
considered to be applicable as housing is considered to be ‘more vulnerable’ development in
accordance with Table 2: Flood Risk WVulnerability Classification, which is appropriate
development in Flood Zone 1 in accordance with NPPG Table 3: Flood Risk Vulnerability
Classification. With reference to paragraph 163 of the NPPF, footnote 50 advises that a site
specific flood risk assessment is not required in this case, and given its location in Flood Zone 1 it
is not considered that the proposed development would increase flood risk elsewhere.

To accord with paragraph 165 of the NPPF, as the proposal falls into the category of major
development (10 units or more), a sustainable drainage system should be incorporated unless
there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate. The submitted sustainable drainage
strategy proposes to attenuate the additional surface water from the development by
incorporating permeable paving within all drives and carriageways, two storage tanks on site, and
a hydrobrake at the outflows into the Thames Water assess. This is acceptable in principle, but
further information is required on infiltration rates or alternatively details on how to prevent
siltation of the soakaways; and how properties on plot 18-26 are protected from internal flooding.
Further information to address these issues has been submitted by the applicant, and comments
from the Lead Local Flood Authority will be reported in an update.

i Character and Appearance

Local Plan policy H10 states that new residential schemes will be required to display a high
standard of design and landscaping and where possible enhance the existing environment, while
policy DG1 resists development which is cramped or which results in the loss of important
features which contributes local character, and policy H11 resists development would introduces
a scale or density which would be in incompatible with or cause damage to the character of the
area. These policies accord with the NPPF which states that good design is a key aspect of
sustainable development and indivisible from good planning, and planning permission should be
refused for development of poor design that fails to take the opportunity available for improving
the character and quality of an area and the way it functions. The recently published National
Design Guide sets out the characteristics of well-designed places and what good design means
in practice.

To the west is a group of individual houses set in spacious plots along a linear cul-de-sac. To the
north is Willows Riverside Park, which comprises of detached, bungalow-style park homes on
regular plots laid out in a predominately linear rows on both sides of the internal access road. To
the north-east are mew houses generally arranged around a shared courtyard with long back
gardens leading to the riverside. While the character of built development within the locality is
diverse, the experience of the area is a verdant, semi-rural settlement with domestic scale
development. Denser 1960s style residential development lies to the south-east within the
Windsor settlement which is separated from the application site by the roundabout junction and
the A308.

The proposed development would result in a density of approximately 53 dwellings per hectare
(dph), which would be a significant uplift from the density of the existing locality which is around
20-35 dph. However, there are no objections to this increase in principle as it would represent an
efficient use of land which is supported by paragraph 123 of the NPPF. Paragraph 123 of the
NPPF states that where there is an existing shortage of land for meeting identified housing need
planning decisions should avoid homes being built at low densities and ensure that developments
make optimal use of each site. Furthermore, the National Design Guide advises that appropriate
density will result from building types, form and character of the development as well the context.

144



9.17

9.18

9.19

9.20

9.21

9.22

9.23

9.24

The density of the proposed properties would increase from west to south-east with 13 x two and
half storey detached and semi-detached houses towards the western and northern boundary of
the site, that give way to 4-house terrace towards the centre and then 2 x two to three storey
blocks of flats towards the south-eastern and eastern boundary of the site. This approach is
considered to be appropriate, moving from the existing low density development to the west and
higher density to the south-east. It is also considered that the higher density blocks of flats would
provide a strong frontage to the site. Overall, with the reduction in units and a revised layout from
the previous withdrawn scheme under 18/03754/FULL, it is considered that the proposal
achieves sufficient space around buildings to provide adequate setting for each and intervening
green space, which avoids a cramped overdeveloped appearance.

Concerns from local representations have been raised that the blocks of flats would be out of
keeping as there is no other flatted development within the locality, and the height and scale
would be visually dominant. The National Design Guide advises that a well-designed
neighbourhood should provide a variety and choice of homes to suit all needs and so there is no
objection in principle to flatted development in the area. However, the National Design Guide
goes on to advice that different types need to be well integrated. It is considered that the success
of integration is derived from the relationship with neighbouring development. In this case, the
block of flats sited at plot 27-37 would be seen in context from many public vantage points with
The Willows. However, the 2 storey section of the block of flats at plot 27-37 would be the nearest
element to the Willows before stepping up to 3 storey. The 2 storey element is considered to
reflect the domestic proportions the Willows and therefore, together with the intervening distance
of approximately 17.5m and 25m to the two storey and three storey element respectively, would
result in an acceptable visual transition.

Overall, the flatted development at plot 27-37 would be substantial building, but its form, detailing
and materials have been designed to visually break up its mass and bulk. It is considered that
there would have been a benefit by increasing the set back between the north-eastern corner of
the building and the site boundary, but on balance the space around the building would provide
an adequate setting.

The block of flats at plot 18-26 would be seen in context with the block of flats at plot 27-37 and
the houses at plot 11-12, but there is sufficient separation distance from both to the extent that
the proposed building at plot 18-26 to read as its own entity and not appear overbearing to the
houses at plot 11-12.

The housing fronting Maidenhead Road are considered to reflect the form, detailing and materials
of the houses to the opposite side of the road. The flatted development also incorporates
reflective forms, detailing and materials including gable features with timber barge board
detailing, brick headers over the window and render. Within the site, the form, detailing and
materials are considered to diverge but it is considered within the site there can be more flexibility
as the buildings seen within its own context.

Overall, it is considered that the proposed development would not harm the character and
appearance of the streetscene and wider area.

iv Trees

Local Plan policy N6 requires new development to allow for the retention of existing suitable tree
wherever practicable, should include protection measures necessary to protect trees during
development and an appropriate tree planning and landscaping scheme, and where the amenity
value of trees outweigh the justification for development then planning permission may be
refused.

T1 (Yew), T23 (Ash) and T28 (Japanese maple) are shown to be removed on the submitted Tree
Protection Plan ref: BEW21784-03C. In addition to these trees it is also considered that the
proposal would also likely result in the loss of T16 (Cherry Plum) due to the encroachment of the

145



9.25

9.26

9.27

9.28

9.29

9.30

block of flats at plot 18-26 into the root protection area (RPA) and potential conflict between the
resultant building and the future crown of the tree. As such, the viability of this tree cannot be
assured and it should be assumed it would be lost as a consequence of the development.
However, T1, T16 and T28 are identified as category C trees and in general category C trees
should not impose a constraint on the development provided that their loss is adequately
mitigated with replacement planting. T23 is identified as a category B tree, which is a tree of
moderate quality with an estimated life expectancy of at least 20 years, but due to its unstainable
location along the western boundary of the site there are also no objections to its loss subject to
adequate replacement planting

In relation to the impact on off-site trees, there are a number of significant trees located around
the perimeter of the site on the adopted highway. Being the main road between Maidenhead and
Windsor and the junction with Ruddlesway, the trees are highly visible and make a significant
contribution to the verdant character of this section of the A308. The block of flats forming plot 27-
37 would be in close proximity to the edge of the RPA of T11 (Common oak) and T12 (Cherry
plum) while the house at plot 12 would be in close proximity to the edge of the RPA of T20 (Ash),
but while this only allows for a slim margin of error in the construction process and siting of the
build this is not considered to warrant refusal in terms of undue harm to the health and longevity
of these tree. Additional concerns were also raised by the Council’'s Arboriculture Officer on
potential conflict with T11 and the proposed flats at plot 27-37, including shading to rooms from
the future growth of T11, leading to pressure from future owners/occupiers to prune or fell to the
detriment of their health and longevity. However, the affected windows would not be the sole
source of outlook and light and therefore also not considered to warrant refusal in terms of undue
harm to its health and longevity.

A Landscape Masterplan was submitted ref: BEW2178410 rev. G. There are issues over the type
trees, siting and rooting areas, but it is considered that in general the Landscape Masterplan
demonstrates that there is sufficient room for adequate planting to mitigate the proposed loss of
trees and to enhance the development. Therefore, if minded to approve a satisfactory landscape
strategy can be secured by condition.

v Residential Amenity

Local Plan policy H11 states that planning permission will not be granted for schemes which
introduce a scale or density of new development which would cause damage to the amenity of
the area. As a material consideration of significant weight, paragraph 127 of the NPPF states that
planning decisions should create a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.

The nearest residential properties are Willows Cottage, Willow House, Fold Cottage, Westlodge
Cottage and Westwind Manor to the west, and nos. 1 and 2 Park Cottage, and nos. 1, 5 and 14
The Willows which are sited to the north on the opposite side of Maidenhead Road.

There would be a separation distance of approximately 20m between the proposed houses on
plot no. 1-9 and Willow House and Fold Cottage. There is a lesser separation distance of
approximately 16m between Willows Cottage and the proposed house on plot no. 11, but due to
its orientation the proposed house would be angled away from Willows Cottage. As such, it is
considered that there would be no undue impact in terms of loss of light, loss of privacy and
visual intrusion to these neighbouring properties. It is noted that there would be garages sited
within the rear garden of plot no. 1, 2, 5 and 8, close to the shared boundary. However, the
garages would be single storey with an eaves height of approximately 2.2m at the eaves and
hipped roof sloping away from the shared boundary. As such, the proposed garages are not
considered to result in undue loss of light or visual intrusion.

The house at plot 1 would be sited opposite the entrance to Willows Riverside Park and so would
have little to no impact to residential amenity for the existing properties to the north. The house at
plot 13 would have a front-to-side relationship with no.1 and 2 Park Cottage. The side elevation of
nos. 1 and 2 Park Cottage does not have any ground floor windows but there are 2 first floor

146



9.31

9.32

9.33

9.34

windows that appear to be primary windows serving habitable rooms. However, it is considered
that there would be no undue loss of daylight to the windows as the proposed house at plot 13
would subtend a 25 degree line taken from the mid-point of each first floor window. The proposed
house at plot 13 would result in an increase in visual presence of building development when
viewed from no. 1 and 2 Park Cottage but houses sited on opposite sides of the road are not an
uncommon relationship and there would be a separation distance of approximately 11m. The
proposed house at plot 13 would also have a first floor window which would approximately align
with a first floor window at nos. 1 and 2 Park Cottage, both of which serve a habitable room.
However, it is considered that there should be less expectation of total privacy for windows facing
a public highway and mutual overlooking between houses on opposite sides of the road is not
exceptional. In relation to no. 1 The Willows, a proposed substation is sited opposite, but given
the proposed scale of the substation and the approximate distance of 16.5m from no. 1 The
Willows it is considered that there would be no loss of light or visual intrusion as a result.

The block of plot 27-37 would have a side-to-side relationship with no. 5 The Willows, sited on the
opposite side of Maidenhead Road at a distance of approximately 17m. There are 3 ground floor
and 2 first floor windows to the side elevation of no. 5 The Willows. Taking a 25 degree line taken
from the mid-point of each ground floor window at no. 5 The Willows, the proposed building would
subtend this line and so not considered to result in an undue loss of daylight to this neighbouring
property. While the proposed building would be substantial in size, it is considered that the
separation distance would be sufficient to mitigate any undue visual intrusion or overbearing
when viewed from no. 5 the Willows. The distance is also considered to sufficiently mitigate any
undue overlooking from proposed windows to existing windows at no. 5 The Willows.

In relation to residential amenity for future occupants, the proposed floor plans with furniture
layout demonstrate that all rooms are of sufficient size and shape to function for the purposes
which they are intended and all habitable rooms benefit from natural light and outlook. The
proposed houses have private garden space, while the flats have a private balcony with the
exception of the ground floor flats and access to an area of communal space.

Vi Highways
Local Plan policy T5 requires all development proposals to comply with adopted highway design
standards, policy P4 requires all development proposals to accord with adopted car parking

standards, while policy T7 seeks to ensure that new development makes appropriate provision
for cyclists including cycle parking.

Trip Generation

The submitted Transport Assessment compares the vehicular two-way trips generated by the
existing development (travel survey) with the proposed development (TRICS), which is
summarised in the table below. It is noted that the travel survey was undertaken during the
summer holidays, which is normally advised against under best practice advises, but given the
seasonal nature of the existing development the timing of the survey is considered to be
sufficiently robust.

AM Peak PM Peak Daily Saturday Peak
Arr. Dep. | Arr. Dep. Arr. Dep. Arr. Dep.
Existing 18 0 2 15 112 122 53 53
Proposed 5 21 16 7 106 110 4 10
Net Change | -13 +21 +14 -8 -6 -12 -49 -43

147



9.35

9.36

9.37

9.38

9.39

9.40

Overall, there would be an increase of 8 in vehicular trips during the morning peak and 6
vehicular trips during the evening peak, an overall decrease of 18 vehicular trips daily, and a
significant decrease of 92 vehicular trips during the Saturday Peak. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF
states that development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would
be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road
network would be severe. On this basis it is considered that the trip generation of the proposal
upon the local highway network and air pollution would be acceptable.

Access

A relocated access into the site has been proposed. As shown on drawing ref: 1903077-02 within
the Transport Statement, the access can provide viability splays in both directions of 2.4m x 43m
in accordance with the RBWM Highway Design Standards.

Parking

To facilities the new access, 2 on-street parking spaces will need to be relocated. There is no
objection to this in principle, but the applicant will need to amend the existing Traffic Regulation
Order in the event of any planning permission being granted and if minded to approve it is
recommended that this is secured by condition.

The Council’'s adopted Parking Strategy requires a maximum provision of 1 car parking space per
1-bed unit, 2 car parking spaces per 2-3 bed unit, and 3 car parking spaces for a unit with 4 or
more bedrooms. Based on the accommodation schedule in Appendix 1 of the Design and Access
Statement, this equates to a maximum provision of 75 spaces for the proposal. The proposal
would provide 73 on-site car parking spaces which is in compliance. The spaces also confirm to
RBWM parking design standards. If minded to approve it is recommended that the on-site
parking provision is secured by condition.

Cycle parking for the flats will be provided in communal cycle stores on the ground floor, while
residents of the houses will be able to store bicycles within the curtilage of the dwelling. To
ensure that the proposed provision of cycle parking at the site is in accordance with RBWM
details of the cycle parking layout can be secured by condition.

Refuse Provision

A swept path analysis, drawing ref: 1803077-TKO1 B in Appendix G of the Transport Statement,
demonstrates that a RBWM refuse vehicle can successfully enter, turn and exit the site in forward
gear. Therefore, the servicing and refuse arrangements are considered to be satisfactory.

Sustainable Transport

Drawing ref: 190377-03 there is a new footpath from the A308 Windsor Road to the bus stop on
Ruddlesway which has been recently been installed along this route. This provides a direct route
from the site to the bus stop. However, there is no natural surveillance from nearby residential
properties or passing cars as the footpath is screened by trees and vegetation, and while fully lit it
is acknowledged that this may be an issue for some pedestrians in hours of darkness including in
the afternoon and early evening during the autumn and winter periods. To adhere to paragraph
103 of the NPPF, which states that development should offer a genuine choice of transport
modes and maximise opportunities for sustainable transport, the applicant has proposed to
improve a second route from the A308 to the bus stop to the east of the roundabout on
Maidenhead Road, which is overlooked by residential properties but indirect, by installing
dropped kerbs and tactile paving at pedestrian crossing points. This is considered to be
acceptable. However, while the applicant has advised that a unilateral undertaking is being
prepared to secure the above, at the time of writing this has not yet been submitted. In the
absence of a satisfactory unilateral undertaking, the highway improvements to support

148



9.41

9.42

9.43

9.44

9.45

sustainable modes of transport (walking) is not secured. The proposal therefore fails to make
adequate provision contrary paragraph 103 of the NPPF.

vii Ecology

As a material consideration Paragraph 175 states that if significant harm to biodiversity resulting
from a development cannot be avoided, adequately mitigated or as a last resort compensated for
then planning permission should be refused. Furthermore, protecting and enhancing the natural
environment forms part of the ‘Environmental’ dimension of ‘Sustainable Development’ and
paragraph 170 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should minimise impacts on and
provide net gains for biodiversity

Habitats

The site lies within 5km and within the zone of influence of Windsor Forest and Great Park, a
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) which is a European Designated site. The primary reason for
designation is the significance of old acidophilous oak woods, range and diversity of saprxylic
invertebrates, and fungal assemblages. The Natura 2000 data form for Windsor Forest and Great
Park reports that the main threats relate to forest and plantation management and use; air
pollution, invasive non-native species; and interspecific floral relations. Where any proposal is
likely to have a significant effect on a European site either alone or in combination with other
plans or projects, the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 requires an
appropriate assessment to be made in view of that site’s conservation objectives. Paragraphs
175 and 176 of the NPPF state that development resulting in the loss or deterioration of Special
Areas of Conservation should be refused unless there are wholly exceptional reasons and a
suitable compensation strategy exists. In this case the proposed development, along and in
combination with the linked proposals, is not considered to have a significant effect on Windsor
Forest and Great Park, due to the distance of the proposal from the SAC and therefore an
appropriate assessmentis not required.

The nearby river and woodland may also constitute Habitats of Principle Importance under
Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act (2006). Sutherland Grange, is
a designated as a Local Nature Reserve and Local Wildlife Site located 405m east. However, as
the application site is largely isolated from Sutherland Grange by main roads and existing
development it is unlikely that the proposed works would significantly impact the Priority Habitats,
Local Nature Reserve and Local Wildlife Site provided standard measures to reduce the risk of
pollution are adhered to. Therefore if minded to approve, a Construction Environmental
Management Plan should be prepared to include measures to reduce the effect of noise,
vibration, dustand site lighting. This can be secured by condition.

Bats

The trees and buildings were assessed as having negligible to low potential to host roosting bats
and no evidence of bats were observed. The summer house on site, identified as building no. 4 in
the submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, was noted to have a single potential bat entrance
feature, which did not lead to a suitable roost space, but nevertheless the Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal recommended that this feature if examined with an endoscope by an ecologist
immediately prior to demolition works and subsequently dismantled by hand. If minded to
approve this can be secured by condition.

Other Wildlife
Given the extent of habitats present and lack of nearby accessible ponds it is considered unlikely

that great crested newts, reptiles, water vole and dormice are present on site, and no evidence of
badgers were observed.

149



9.46

9.47

9.48

9.49

9.50

9.51

9.52

The site may be used by nesting birds. Breeding birds, their eggs and active nests are protected
by the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and therefore if minded to approve than it
is recommended an informative is added to advise that works to building roofs should be taken
outside of the bird nesting season, or if it is not practical then such areas should be checked by a
gualified ecologist immediately prior to clearance.

Biodiversity Enhancement

In line with paragraph 175 of the NPPF, development should incorporate opportunities for wildlife.
To the area to the northern site boundary includes rhododendron, which if Rhododendron
ponticum species is listed under Schedule 9 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as
amended) which is illegal to plant or cause it to grow in the wild. As per the Preliminary Ecological
Appraisal it is recommended that the rhododendron is removed in accordance with best practice.
The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal also recommends that a biodiversity enhancement scheme
is designed, which should include bat and bird boxes, hedgehog friendly fencing (there are
records of hedgehogs in the surrounding area) and log piles etc. If minded to approve, it is
considered that these measures are secured by condition.

Viii Archaeology

Local Plan policy ARCH 3 states that planning permission will not be granted for proposals which
appear likely to adversely affect archaeological sites of unknown importance unless adequate
evaluation enabling the full implications of the development on archaeological interests is carried
out prior to the determination of the application. This is supported by paragraph 189 of the NPPF
which states that where a development site has the potential to include heritage assets with
archaeological interest, local planning authorities should require developers to submit an
appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation.

The site lies within the Thames Valley which have been a focus of settlement, agriculture and
burial from the earlier prehistoric period to the present day and important prehistoric finds have
been recorded close to the application site. Therefore, the application site falls within an area of
potential archaeological significance. If minded to approve, a programme of archaeological field
evaluation in accordance with a written scheme of investigation, and any subsequent mitigation
strategy, can be secured by condition. It is considered that this requirement can be secured post-
permission in this particular case as there has been some previous development on the site.

IX Affordable Housing

The proposal includes 11 affordable units on site which accords with Local Plan policy H3 which
requires that this development provides 30% affordable housing on site.

As material condition, paragraph 63 of the NPPF states that where major development involving
housing, at least 10% of the homes are expected to be available for affordable home ownership,
as part of the overall affordable housing contribution from the site unless this would exceed the
level of affordable housing required in the area or prejudice the ability to meet the identified
affordable housing need within the Borough. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA)
highlights needs of the Borough and sets out a tenure of 80% of social/affordable rented and 20%
intermediate housing, but tenure mix is not specified in adopted policy and therefore it is
considered that the NPPF should be a material consideration of more significant weight in this
respect. In this case the proposal is for 6 units of shared ownership (units 29, 30, 33, 34, 36 and
37) and 5 units of affordable rent (units 27, 28, 31, 32 and 35), which would accord with the
NPPF.

While the applicant is willing for the proposal to be policy compliant and has advised that a
unilateral undertaking is being prepared to secure the above, at the time of writing this has not yet
been submitted. In the absence of a satisfactory unilateral undertaking, the affordable housing
contribution is not secured and the proposal therefore fails to make adequate provision for

150



9.53

9.54

9.55

9.56

affordable housing and is contrary to Local Plan policy H3 and paragraph 63 of the NPPF.
However in the weight attributed to having a policy compliant affordable housing scheme will be
considered further below as part of the wider planning balance.

X The Case for Very Special Circumstances

It has been demonstrated that in accordance with paragraph 143 of the NPPF the proposal is
inappropriate development in the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special
circumstances (VSC). Paragraph 144 of the NPPF goes on to state that VSC would not existing
unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm
resulting from the proposal is clearly outweighed by other considerations.

The decision-taker has to exercise a qualitative judgment and ask whether the circumstances,
taken together, are very special. The Courts have not defined ‘very special’, beyond confirming
that the words must be given their ordinary and natural meaning. The Green Belt balancing
exercise therefore needs to be if ‘other considerations’ put forward as part of this planning
application equate to VSC which exists to outweigh the harm and any other harm.

In accordance with Paragraph 144 of the NPPF substantial weight against the proposal should
be given to any harm to the Green Belt. This includes inappropriateness and conflict with one of
the purposes of the Green Belt. In relation to other harm, significant weight against the
development is given due to lack of affordable housing provision, and significant weight to the
highway improvements to support sustainable modes of transport which are necessary to make
the development acceptable in planning terms.

In terms of benefits, the applicant has put forward the following case for ‘VSC’. Officers have
assessed eachin turn and then carried out a balancing exercise as required.

VSC put forward by the Applicant Weight attributed by Officers

Housing Need Benefits
Provision of 37 dwellings to meet exceptional | At the time of writhng RBWM cannot
need for both market and affordable housing | demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply,
therefore significant weight is given to the
provision of housing as part of this scheme.
Provision of affordable homes (30%) of a | Affordable housing provision is simply
mixed type and tenure seeking to comply with planning policy and
no provision above and beyond that is
proposed by the Appellants. Nonetheless in
principle this does form a benefit to the
proposed development which would go
towards meeting the affordable needs of the
Borough. The principle of providing 30%
affordable housing can therefore be given
moderate weight. However at this stage
there is currently no legal agreement in place
to secure such delivery.

Sustainable Development (Economic)
Job creation at construction stage and | Not quantified and in any case due to the
operation stage. short-term nature of these benefits this can
be only given limited weight.

Increase in expenditure by residents on local | Not quantified and in any case as the scheme
services is for 37 units the impact of this additional
spend in the local economy would be limited
therefore given limited weight.

151



Increase in council tax revenue and New
Homes Bonus

Not quantified and in any case as the scheme
is for 37 units the impact would be limited
therefore given limited weight.

Sustainable Development (Social)

Would faciltate a more balanced local
demographic whereby younger people and
families will enjoy greater opportunities to live
locality with the supply of new homes,
including affordable homes

Open market housing would be available to
anyone, and affordable housing would be
available to those eligible also regardless of
age. The contribution of a particular tenure
and mix of housing does not advance the
matter any further. It is simply a contribution
to the particular housing need which has
been identified locally and therefore given no
weight.

Sustainable Development (Environmental)

Provision of green infrastructure and areas
for ecological enhancements and net gain of
biodiversity

Biodiversity gain as a result of biodiversity
enhancements is considered to be a benefit
of the scheme and therefore given limited
weight.

Provision of SUDS scheme

Does not constitute VSC as provision is a
policy requirement and therefore given no
weight.

Provision of a high quality and attractive
development on a redundant and vacant site,
including new landscaping.

Does not constitute VSC as provision is a
policy requirement and in any case all
residential scheme irrespective of their
location should be of a high quality design.
Therefore given no weight.

Other Considerations

The site forms part of the emerging allocation
within the RBWM Borough Local Plan which
has been submitted to Examination. The
evidence base justifies the allocation.

For reasons set out above given the current
status of the BLPSV Ilimited weight is
currently attributed to policies contained
within this document. The emerging Local
Plan is seeking to allocate a number of sites
for Green Belt release, it is from the Inspector
of the Local Plan to reach a decision on the
test of soundness for such a release.

An assessment of the impact on ‘openness’
for a particular planning application is
materially different to that undertaken as part
of a wider Green Belt Assessment forming
justification for a green belt release in the
context of a Local Plan. The test for
considering the appropriateness of a
proposed development in the context of a
planning application are set in 145 of the
NPPF, these are different from the Local Plan
tests relating to the review of boundaries.
Limited to no weight can be given to this as
part of VSC

Site constitutes previously development and
other than Green Belt does not have any
other designated constraints.

The application has been considered in the
relevant context for such land and officers
have clearly conclude that the development
would result in substantial harm to the

152




9.57

9.58

9.59

openness of the Green Belt. This clearly does
not constitute VSC and therefore given no
weight.

Site represents a suitable location for
development as situated in main urban
centres within the Borough and in proximity to
a number of local services. Furthermore, the
proposed allocation HAL1l is identified to
deliver open space, sports pitches,
educational facilities and community hub.

Proposed allocation under HA1l in the
BLPSV and AL22 in the Proposed Changes
to the BLPSV is given limited weight given
the extent of unresolved objections to and
there is no certainty if or when this may
transpire; and it is not considered that the site
lies within the main urban centre (Windsor or

Maidenhead).

The proposed scheme does not delivery any
of community facilities as part of this scheme.

For the scheme to be ‘suitable’ it should be
located in a sustainable location. Para 11 of
the NPPF is clear that this development
would not be sustainable development as
Green Belt policies provide a clear reason for
refusing the development.

Whilst the NPPF (2019) also requires LPA’s
to support the development of windfall sites
through their policies and decisions — giving
great weight to the benefits of using suitable
sites (our emphasis) within  existing
settlements for homes. This development is
not in a within existing settlement and
therefore not considered to be a suitable site
for windfall development

Therefore limited weight can be given to this
as a VSC.

The overall harm to the Green Belt own its own is considered to equate to very substantial
harm, the highest level of harm. The case of VSC put forward by the applicant would not clearly
outweigh harm to the Green Belt and any other harm, therefore the proposal would be contrary
to Local Plan policy GB1, GB2(a) and paragraph 145 of the NPPF.

Xi Planning Balance

Paragraphs 10 and 11 of the NPPF set out that there will be a presumption in favour of
Sustainable Development. The latter paragraph states that:

For decision-taking this means: approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date
development plan without delay; or where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the
policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting
permission unless:
o the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

Footnote 7 of the NPPF (2019) clarifies that:

153



9.60

9.61

10.

10.1

11.

111

11.2

11.3

114

‘out-of-date policies include, for applications involving the provision of housing, situations
where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable
housing sites (with the appropriate buffer)’

The BLPSV is not yet adopted planning policy and the Council’'s adopted Local Plan is more than
five years old. Therefore, for the purposes of decision making, currently the starting point for
calculating the 5 year housing land supply (5hyr his) is the ‘standard method’ as set out in the
NPPF (2019). At the time of writing, the Council is able to demonstrate 4.08 years of housing land
supply. Therefore, for the purpose of this planning application the LPA currently cannot
demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer).

However footnote 6 of the NPPF then further clarifies that section d(i) of paragraph 11 of the
NPPF is not applied where ‘policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed’. This includes land
designated as Green Belt. For reasons set out in Section 9(i) it is considered that section d(i) of
paragraph 11 is engaged as Green Belt policies in the NPPF, which protect areas or assets of
particular importance, provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed. As such,
the tilted balance is not engaged and the planning balance is carried out in the ordinary way,
having regard to the statutory test in section 38(6) of the 2004 Act. This is set out below in the
conclusion.

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)

The Community Infrastructure Levy is a charge which can be levied by local authorities on new
development in their area and an important tool for local authorities to use to help them deliver
the infrastructure needed to support development in their area. In accordance with the Council’s
adopted CIL charging schedule the development is CIL liable at a rate of £240 per square metre
(plus indexation) of chargeable floor space.

CONCLUSION

The proposed development constitutes an inappropriate form of development in the Green Belt,
would result in substantial harm to the openness of the Green, and would be contrary to one of
the purposes of the Green Belt. This harm to the Green Belt is afforded substantial weight
against the development. The case of VSC put forward by the applicant would not clearly
outweigh this harm and the harm to the character and appearance of the streetscene and locality.
As such the proposal is contrary to Local Plan Policy GB1 and GB2(a), and paragraph 133,
134,143, 144 and 145 of the NPPF.

The proposed sustainable drainage system is acceptable in principle, but additional information
has been submitted on infiltration rates and how properties will be protected from internal
flooding. Further comments from the Lead Local Flood Authority will be reported in an update.

The proposed development would represent a significant uplift in density and the blocks of flats
would be buildings which are larger in terms of height and mass than existing buildings in the
locality. However, due to the proposed number of units, layout, building type, form and character,
the proposal is not considered to be cramped within the site, visually dominant nor unduly
incongruous. The proposal is considered to be in accordance with Local Plan policy H10, H11
and DGL.

There are no objections proposed loss of on-site trees which are of poor quality nor is it
considered there would be undue conflict with retained trees and the proposed development. In
terms of mitigation, it is considered that an acceptable landscaping scheme could be achieved to

154



11.5

11.6

11.7

11.8

11.9

12.

13.

mitigate for the loss of existing trees, soften the built form or provide an appropriate level of
enhancement. The proposal is considered in accordance with Local Plan policy N6

The proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of impact on neighbouring amenity. The
proposed development would not have a significantly detrimental impact on the daylighting levels
currently received by the nearby residential properties and would not result in significant
increased overlooking or visual intrusion. The proposal is considered to accord with Local Plan
policy H11 and paragraph 127 of the NPPF.

The proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of highway safety and impact on local
infrastructure. An acceptable level of parking provision is provided on site. The relocation of on-
street parking and cycle storage can be secured by condition. However, the proposal fails to
secure highway improvements to support sustainable modes of transport, contrary to paragraph
103 of the NPPF.

The proposed development is considered to be acceptable in terms of impact on ecology subject
to conditions in accordance with paragraphs 170 and 175 of the NPPF.

The impact of the proposed development on archaeological sites of unknown importance is
considered to be acceptable in accordance with Local Plan policy ARCH3 and paragraph 189 of
the NPPF subject to a condition to requiring a programme of archaeological field evaluation in
accordance with an approved written scheme of investigation, and any subsequent mitigation as
necessary. It is considered that this requirement can be secured post-permission in this particular
case as there has been some previous development on the site.

The proposal includes 30% of the proposed residential units as affordable housing, in the
absence of a S106 legal agreement the development fails to secure an acceptable level. This
would be contrary to Local Plan policy H3 and paragraph 62, 63 and 64 of the NPPF.

APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

e Appendix A — Site Location Plan and Site Layout
e Appendix B — Proposed Plan and Elevation Drawings

REASONS RECOMMENDED FOR REFUSAL IF PERMISSION IS NOT GRANTED

The proposal represents inappropriate development in Green Belt, which is by definition harmful
to the Green Belt, would be substantially harmful to the openness of the Green Belt, and would
conflict with one of the purposes of the Green Belt, namely 'to assist in safeguarding the
countryside from encroachment'. Very Special Circumstances that clearly outweighs the harm to
the Green Belt and any other harm has not been demonstrated. The proposal is therefore
contrary to the provisions of saved policies GB1 and GB2(a) of the Royal Borough of Windsor
and Maidenhead Local Plan 1999 (Incorporating Alterations Adopted in June 2003), and
paragraphs 133, 134 ,143, 144 and 145 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2019),

In the absence of a completed legal agreement the proposed development has failed to secure
the provision of the necessary infrastructure needed to make this development acceptable in
planning terms. The proposed development is therefore to paragraph 103 of the National
Planning Policy Framework (2019).

In the absence of a completed legal agreement the proposed development has failed to secure
the provision of 11 affordable housing units (30% on site provision) to meet local needs. The
proposed development is therefore contrary to policy H3 of the Royal Borough of Windsor and
Maidenhead Local Plan 1999 (incorporating alterations made in 2003) and the National Planning
Policy Framework (2019).

155



Appendix A — Site Location Plan and Site Layout

|

00Ld1-8kler-£4i

ok oo

12

vy

¥ @ 0szLL

e

BLAYI :

ey

HOSANIM ‘avod aY3IHN3AIvIN
‘TJHINIO NIQHYD SIHINDS

WL

NY1d NOILYDO1 _

d11 (SON) AvE FHYNDS
01d SANOH AITM3E

(e

) ) 7 _ ]

aNSSIONINNYTd |

PR LR ey 50 ARG Byl
ey p ftcaa o

@iNjI811Y2ID SSR|BwW]]

NOIS3Ia LODSY

AR

ZePZZ000L dequinu ssusor tpaaasel syybu iy 107 Y

s

\\

-

<

9

|
| ssolllm |

aylL

| \6

o
—L7
\o ,//f\

311 d350d0yd

sbegon
\ E
JOUBR

asnoH
MOlIAR BUL

)

PUlA 359

abepog smoj|a

BSNOH WE|D

0g¢g1:L eless

Bufdon umoun (2) Lemng soubupu(

usq yey

£

‘{K.If

Ma|A BliseD

156



- ..__ T

_ T} : 6L A __ W Bosch _

7 1NOAYT3LIS 03804084

HOSONIM 'OVOH aYIHNITIVIN
'FUINID NIOEWD S3HINDS
e

o1 (gon) AvE SHVNDS
Dd SANOH AT W3

PUNIDBIIYII0 $89 0w |

NOIS3d 1028V

™

| INssIONINNYI] ]

il

Nt

P

et Ff

= ® e £ Sireces

£ HLNEE P
upons i SR, BRSNS
27 o1 9ja1 sennd W SupEeR Iy 3

“S10N

u..i.u!..L@r

assronas ;o
NI S B GO

R

A

L0

souey
PUIA 353

sBeyon smajy
L

asnoH ueld

ssnos
HOIA SUL

SMOIIAN
auy

157



Appendix B — Proposed Plans and Elevations

- T ?
z e al S 15[,
i [
Y oz ES1lw |
%] 18 5% al|l 22 || 2 g
[%] wz B (;,):' 8z 3 z
o ot Hi|lag| zE|| S, (L3
o s i g2 88| 52|«
5 — 1z — oW J3 =g Tao A0 =
I z of |85 33| 2E| ||a
il 5 o3 B | zul ezl =% 4l E
~ Lla 285 (3558|585 ¢S
Il ] <c & || Z3||ag |22 8|f.
BiH i oo |03 |z« IS
A | i ] i |l
T
]
e o
X z
=] ‘H” g
@ H“ @
- ||'| Il
E |
| }"hllhlhw'mhm | |2
B
Mﬂ'!l'”l'd = |iE]
; ‘ |'||| "f :
E || I I}
g i":\l\”ﬂlhl'ﬂ'l\llm :
T '|‘|||'|I z
£ I v I B

158

ha 2ropersy of Ascot Desion Limted

FIRST FLOOR
Qra-re e
Gia-cammane

GROUND FLOOR



£
z: 5
o> i W&
5 2% gs
7] >
12} w u?] s
) o 25| 22
)
S &g ae
=z ke Z> ga
Z o 25| o8
5 O rulles
L fo »E I gg =4
] < & 2
- @5 || B
i z|.8%5
b |

P

Farm [
1
==

prp——
o i

Eepe——rs

PLOTS 2, 5 & 8 FLOOR PLANS

& ELEVATIONS
11100 &1
17 - J2116 - 103

oA
=

SIDE ELEVATION
=
SIDE ELEVATION

ponoooyisaey
T

Et m_

REAR ELEVATION

FRONT ELEVATION

PLOTS 2,548

] ||||||||
||\ Wit e

159

= Sy

SECOND FLOOR  1%¢ swll (be
te ol
e

Whewr

FIRST FLOCR

GROUND FLOOR
ey
LR



Py

SICE ELEVATION
PLOTS 4.7, 10812

PLOTS 3,6,08 11

ERONT ELEVATIDNS

(]
=
2
o
g
&

SIDE ELEVATION

PLOTS .8, 9411

REAR ELEVATIONS

160

™=

PLANNING ISSUE

ASCOT DESIGN

Timeless

FLOOR PLANS & ELEVATIONS

w.:..\,w..“..
BEWLEY HOMES PLC

SQUARE BAY (No5) LLP

SQUIRES GARDEN CENTRE,
MAIDENHEAD ROAD, WINDSOR
PLOTS 3,4,6,7,9,10,11 & 12

Ty
o

=

FIRST FLOOR

g

GROUNE FLOOR

mavaa || er

1N DAL

ll“

T ——p e ——
T e S

17 -J2116 - 104

=




Z @ 3; K § gs
w o 2 5; g2l e |
—_ 0 'Y
& 5o if 5 < @
2 H 9 & |
2] wz Hilg2) o5l |3
) av B 128 83| gy |
W o it 1 2] oc|| 8z
= Fa B 2> EE% o9
2 O s ! 2E Il @ [y
:5 — i wll || oL
0% B8 B‘JII w2z N P
e v E i g || SW ||l =Yl g
N <t & || 83|32 |L,9T|| e
E ¥ a0 |62 |[fTee]||Z
8 e i i : i

| 2 IIIIIIIIIII'\

'IIIIIIIIIII.J
[ COwTECwT—
3 3
= =
: M‘H W 8
- il Wiy ’
N |
= 7 |
] O ,;-El
E:E i
] 5“@
3 z |
g 2 g I
:, . ]
W

161

IIm

ke groparty of Aseot Design Liid

I 17 - J2116 - 105

FIRST FLOOR
ara.a e

GiA-sazmemce

GROUND FLOOR



ze _§
w o2 Wa
2 . 2 || ES
v
po w
5 a% [l 33| 28
0] 2 8
|2 ,_ g2 gg
- =z @ = > Q
Z (024 05| 83
5 ok w83
i ||& ”nE .Jg e
<ir AIRE
oa |, B
i

ELEVATIONS

" pLOTS 14-17

|

T

[Farss ||

’1“ 1:100 @ A2

The copsTisht i Socumant end desgn s consdental 1o e

|17 - g2116 - 107

e proparty of Ascok Cesgn Liied

AT T T T
&
y

SIDE ELEVATION

PLOT 14

SIDE ELEVATION

PLOT 17

4lllllllllll llllllllllllu

""\l l'nl\ !} |U

IH il

———

! |||||| i

|| I I
w

PLOT 17

|n”|”|| —

PLOT 14

———
i |
i | )

PLOT 15

PLOT 16
=

mw :

1Illh

s
in ui

PLOT 15

PLOT 16

IMH H"l‘ |’ —

WH i WM o

\'I\ |||I\\ "

ﬁ

\H

FRONT ELEVATIONS

|\' |||H ‘l'l

PLOT 14

REAR ELEVATIONS

PLOT 17

162



e T |
I il i I I I I ]
Rl 90L-9LTr- Ll E E = = AFLS/ gL VD
12 BLAVI v @ 00kl S¥OOTH L5HId
g - - L1 1o7d gL 107d GL1o0d ¥l 107d
SNY1d 40014
/1 -+l S107d
- = [®
-t > . 2 A [—<
HOSANIM ‘QVOY QVIHNIAIVIA . == N vl aﬂ
‘JHLNZD NIQHYD S3HINDS . B Y
dT1(S0N) Avd VNS - S =S 8]
91d STNOH ATTM3E . : : D_
@iNnjdeilydIp sse|ewl|
NOISdd LODSY
INSSI ONINNY1d _
= — HSFEL MUSTL WIS
u.|..—mﬂm..|H {1074 HOVI) TYLOL
HLLE T WFET WD PG/ URLE VD
{0074 ANOD3S HOOT4d ANNOYD
211074 91 107d 1 107d ¥l 107d L 1o0d 9L 107d GLL1oTd ¥l 107d
| i ] [
SO0 _ SO EO _ \
L _| L _| /.r am L1 ] \ / oM oM \
7 - I A p— —— I NIHOLN . = g NIHOLN NIHOLIN s NSHOUN
= ST o == T T [ B N - g -
\ [ +me = __ . [ s oz = voms | =
> ] ‘._\.«ﬁm > | [ — i i
- L = L \ _@ u%,_ J/ N
o S o, SR o e :
] [ - 18 FES | IS | ) U I | IS | ) 18 [ - L . AT Ay
=] e _
(m O i
; Y f ‘
\ W W / b

163




|

architecture

et g 0 S i .

e 14k 9P e 5120k SPHEEY B -
ot e

PLANNING ISSUE
ASCOT DESIGN
SQUIRES GARDEN CENTRE,

SQUARE BAY (Nof) LLP

——

BEWLEY HOMES PLC

Timeless

Fo || esenrassscan

cr

|

8 it =

v |

MAIDENHEAD ROAD, WINDSOR
|
= et A Dt e

ELEVATIONS

PLOTS 18-26

I 17 - 42116 - 108

I 1:100@ At

E |’ "lll
!‘ )
|

SIDE ELEVATION

5% A RERe LD
LI lm'ﬂ‘:.t

1I||
i=
'ﬂﬂ" I ||\\] l'l'h'i
||| m “||| ) %
|| v
|I|l f =
!”l“H“{l RETERIRATY FINEnLoRTT)
||| || i {|| I %”
il |
}hl ﬂl U?h ,}L [
sl
| gt
il == =
Al J} H“\h: |Il !
I lﬂl!!hl}h %

164

REAR ELEVATION



——
e

_ L_ mo_.m__w_..m_al._

_ 10 __ Bl __ W@ oo _
SNY1d JO0Td
92 - 81 S107d
- e
-8l S107d S2-81 5107
HOSONIM "OVOH OVIHNIaNW Nv'd J00u

“FHIN3D NIOHVD STHINDS

|

T1 (5oN) AvE IUVNDs
O7d SINOH ATIM3E

LELTELIITEPL L ITITIN
N9153d 1LODSY

L

3INSSIONINNY D~ _|
|

52 -8l S107d S2-81 5107

165



PLOTS 27-37
ELEVATIONS

||mm9|‘m

166

il ] |
8 z ¢ al z
EI.IJ w_zil ME
gé ax il e EE
i 2% M35 3¢
| _oatlgz] B
HE AL
2 2ip | et g
B R -2
i i I
:
i
]
@
;
i
i

| 1:100 @ Al

17 - J2116- 111




OkL=aLizr=41

2 mberes

_ 19 _ [Twe __ B oKL i
= . =
SNYId HOO4
1£-12 8107d
.
HOSANIM 'O¥OH O¥IHNaII ey
JHLINID N2OHYD STHINDS

e

711 (50N] AvE IHVNDS
14 S3N0OH AZTMIR

cosse|aw|]

NO1S3a LOD2SY

s

-

3nss|oNINNYTd ]

I N | N

LT SO £ LT 5107d
HOOT INODES 00T ONNOHD

167



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 9

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

4 December 2019 ltem: 8

Application 19/01924/FULL

No.:

Location: 9 - 11 Imperial Road Windsor

Proposal: Construction of x2 houses and x14 apartments, following demolition of the existing
buildings

Applicant: Mr Collett

Agent: Not Applicable

Parish/Ward:  Windsor Unparished/Clewer East

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Charlotte Goff on 01628 685729 or at
charlotte.goff@rbwm.gov.uk

1. SUMMARY

11 This application seeks full planning permission for the demolition of Nos. 9 and 11 Imperial Road
and erection of 16 units, consisting of 2 x 2 bed dwellings and 14 x 2 bed flats.

1.2 Taking into account the planning history of the site, it is considered that the overall design, scale,
siting and layout of the proposed application is acceptable. It is not considered to have a
detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the surrounding area, general highway
safety conditions or residential amenity.

It is recommended the Panel grants planning permission with the conditions listed in
Section 13 of this report.

2. REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION

e The Council’s Constitution does not give the Head of Planning delegated powers to
determine the application in the way recommended; such decisions can only be made by the
Panel.

3. DESCRIPTIONOF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

3.1  The application site is located on the corner of the roundabout of Imperial Road and Goslar Way.
At present the frontage of the site onto the roundabout is elevated above an underpass and is
screened by dense vegetation. The site is irregular in shape and comprises two residential
dwellings and their gardens — 9-11 Imperial Road.

3.2  The surrounding area is predominantly suburban and residential in character comprising a variety
of housing types. Bungalows are located to the rear of the application site within Almond Close
and the streets beyond consist of largely 2 storey detached and semi-detached dwelling houses.
There are a number of high rise developments on the Goslar Way roundabout that vary in height
from 2-5 storeys and include blocks of flats

4. KEY CONSTRAINTS

4.1  The site lies within Flood Zone 1. There are no other planning constraints covering the site.

5. DESCRIPTIONOF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

5.1  This application seeks consent for the demolition of Nos. 9 and 11 Imperial Road and erection of

a building that varies in height from 1.5 to 3 storeys and would contain 2 x 2 bed dwellings and 14
x 2 bed flats. The building would have an L-shaped layout. The main part of the building would

169



5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

front onto Imperial Road and would contain the proposed flats. The two dwellings would front the
parking area within the site and would be close to the boundary with 4 Aimond Close. The houses
would have private amenity space to the rear.

Vehicular access to the site would be from Imperial Road. There are currently two access points
servicing each of the existing dwellings. The access point to the existing property at No. 9
Imperial Road would be stopped up and the access point to 11 Imperial Road would be widened
to provide access to the new development. Parking for 20 vehicles would be provided, part as
undercroft parking and the remaining as surface level parking.

The houses would have private amenity space to the rear, extending towards the boundary with
the roundabout. Communal amenity space for the flats is shown to the north west of the site.
Other areas of landscaping are shown surrounding the buildings, and bin and bike stores are also
shown within the site.

There has been an extensive planning history for this site which is summarised below:

9-11 Imperial Road and 3-4 Almond Close

Reference Description Decision & Date
16/03864/FULL Demolition of 3 existing dwellings on the site and Refused
the erection of 2 x 4 bed dwellings 1 x 2 bed 17th March 2017
dwellings, 12 x 2 bed apartments and 2 x 1 bed
apartments with vehicular access from Almond
Close, and part demolition and enlargement of No. 3
Almond Close.
17/01296/FULL Demolition of 9-11 Imperial Road & 3-4 Aimond Close. | Refused
Construction of 2 houses and 16 x 2-bed apartments, | 8" July 2017
along with access road and cycle/bin store Appeal Allowed
17/03740/0UT Outline application (access, layout and scale) for the | Permitted 2" July

construction of 2 x four bedroom dwellings and 16 x two
bedroom apartments, access road and cycle/bin store
following demolition of 9-11 Imperial Road and 3-4
Almond Close.

2018

9-11 Imperial Road

Reference Description Decision
18/00753/0UT Outline application (access, layout and scale) for the | Appeal against
construction of 2 x two bedroom dwellings, 10 x two | non-determination
bedroom apartments and 1 x one bedroom apartment | submitted 4t
following the demolition of 9-11 Imperial Road. August 2018
Panel Resolved
would have
approved 12t
September 2018
18/02637/0UT Outline application for access, layout, and scale to be | Permitted 20"

considered at this stage with all other matters reserved
for the construction of 2 x two bedroom dwellings, 14
apartments, associated parking and new vehicular
access following the demolition of 9-11 Imperial Road.

November 2018

The main differences between this current application and the previous approvals on the site
have been summarised in comparison drawings All, A12 and Al13. These show that the overall

170



6.1

scale and massing of the development has decreased significantly from application
17/01296/FULL. The scheme being considered under this application is of a similar scale and
layout to application 18/02637/OUT.

DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Adopted Royal Borough Local Plan (2003)

The main Development Plan policies applying to the site are:

Issue Adopted Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance | DG1, H10, H11

of area

Highways P4 and T5

Trees N6

Flooding F1

Affordable Housing H3

These policies can be found at
https://www3.rbwm.qgov.uk/downloads/download/154/local plan documents and appendices

MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

National Planning Policy Framework Sections (NPPF) (2019)

Section 2 — Achieving sustainable development

Section 4 - Decision—-making

Section 5 — Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Section 9 - Promoting Sustainable Transport

Section 11 — Making effective use of land

Section 12- Achieving well-designed places

Section 14- Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version

Issue Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance

of arga P i SP2, SP3
Sustainable Transport IF2

Housing mix and type HO?2

Affordable housing HO3

Housing Density HO5

Flood risk NR1

Pollution EP1, EP2, EP3, EP4

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version Proposed Changes (2019)

171


https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices

7.1

7.2

7.3

Issue Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance QP1.0P3
of area '
Sustainable Transport IF2
Housing mix and type HO2
Affordable housing HO3
Flood risk NR1
Pollution EP1, EP2, EP3, EP4

The NPPF sets out that decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans
according to their stage of preparation. The Borough Local Plan Submission Document was
published in June 2017. Public consultation ran from 30 June to 27 September 2017. Following
this process the Council prepared a report summarising the issues raised in the representations
and setting out its response to them. This report, together with all the representations received
during the representation period, the plan and its supporting documents was submitted to the
Secretary of State for independent examination in January 2018. The Submission Version of the
Borough Local Plan does not form part of the statutory development plan for the Borough.

In December 2018, the examination process was paused to enable the Council to undertake
additional work to address soundness issues raised by the Inspector. Following completion of
that work, in October 2019 the Council approved a series of Proposed Changes to the BLPSV
which are now out to public consultation until Sunday, 15 December 2019. All representations
received will be reviewed by the Council to establish whether further changes are necessary
before the Proposed Changes are submitted to the Inspector. In due course the Inspector will
resume the Examination of the BLPSV. The BLPSV and the BLPSV together with the Proposed
Changes are therefore material considerations for decision-making. However, given the above
both should be given limited weight.

Other Local Strategies or Publications

Other Strategies or publications material to the proposal are:
. RBWM Townscape Assessment
o RBWM Parking Strategy

More information on these documents can be found at;
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local development framework/494/supplementary planni

ng

CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT
Comments from interested parties
43 occupiers were notified directly of the application.

The planning officer posted a notice advertising the application at the site on 24" July 2019 and
the application was advertised in the Local Press on 25" July 2019

3 letters were received objecting to the application, summarised as:

Where in the
Comment report this is
considered
1. | Insufficient parking. 9.20-9.21
2. | Concern with parking congestion in surrounding roads. 9.22
3. | Concern that refuse and recycling cannot access site as a result of 9.23
height restrictions.

172


https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning

9.1

4. | Concerns with scale of building in relation to 4 Alimond Close. 9.14

5. | Overlooking concerns to surrounding residents. 9.13-9.14

6. | Overshadowing to Aimond Close properties. 9.13-9.14

7. | Security concerns with location of cycle store and lack of boundary Noted. A

fencing. condition is

recommended
to secure
appropriate
boundary
fencing.

8. | Overdevelopment of the site and too high density. 9.3, 9.9-9.12

9. | Access is dangerous. 9.20-9.21

Consultees

Consultee

Comment

Where in the

report this is
considered

Environmental | No objection Noted
Protection
Lead Local No objection, subjectto conditions to a pre-commencement | Section vii
Flood Authority | condition
Highways No objection to the proposed vehicular access to the site Section vi
given that this exceeds the Authority’s standards. Increase in
vehicle movements is considered acceptable and to not lead
to harm to road safety. The parking provision at 1.25 spaces
per unit has been accepted in previous appeal on the site.
20 spaces would therefore be required which have been
provided.
Ecology No objection, subjectto conditions to secure biodiversity Section ix
enhancements, Methodology for the demolition of the
buildings and controls on site clearance to protect nesting
birds.
Trees Limited opportunities for landscaping. Section viii

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION

The key issues for consideration are:

[ Principle of development;

i Housing Mix and Tenure;

i Impact on the character of the area;

iv Impact on the amenity of neighbouring residents;
% Amenity of future occupiers;
Vi Highways Issue;

173




9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

9.6

9.7

9.8

Vi Flood risk & Surface Water Drainage;

viii Trees and Landscaping.
X Ecology
OFFICER ASSESSMENT

Principle of Development

The site is located within the built-up area of Windsor and the site is already in residential use.
The provision of additional residential units would comply with saved policy H6 of the Local Plan,
which is supported by the NPPF and aims to significantly boost the supply of housing. The
principle of the development proposed is therefore acceptable. The density of the proposed
development is comparable to approved schemes on the site and is considered to make an
efficient use of the site.

Housing Mix and Tenure

Policy H8 supports proposals that contribute towards improving the range of housing
accommodation in the Borough, including dwellings for small households. This scheme proposes
2 x 2 bed houses and 14 x 2 bed flats. This mix is considered appropriate in the context of the
site, having been accepted within previous applications on the site.

It is noted that the previous application (18/02637/OUT) on this site sought an affordable housing
contribution in line with the requirements of Paragraph 64 of the NPPF. Paragraph 64 states that
where major development involving the provision of housing is proposed, planning policies and
decisions should expect at least 10% of the homes to be available for affordable home
ownership, unless this would exceed the level of affordable housing required in the area. The
proposal would constitute a major development as defined in the NPPF.

Policy H3 of the RBWM Local Plan states that “...a proportion of the total capacity of residential
schemes should be development in the form of affordable housing...Suitable sites will
include...schemes proposing 15 or more net additional dwellings”.

Since the decision on application 18/02637/OUT, there have been a number of appeal decisions
where Inspectors have concluded that whilst Policy H3 of the RBWM Local Plan does not reflect
up to date affordable housing needs, there is no clear inconsistency between Policy H3 and the
NPPF. The Local Plan policy is therefore not considered to be out of date and any application for
housing should be assessed against Policy H3. Given such, as this scheme proposes 14 net
additional dwellings, affordable housing would not be required for this development.

iii) Impact on the character of the area

The NPPF (2019) and Councils adopted policies DG1, H10 and H11 of the RBWM Local Plan,
seek to promote standards of design which endorse a high quality, varied and stimulating
townscape and environment. The design guidelines set out in the Policy advise that when
assessing new development proposals, regard will be had to ensuring harm is not caused to the
character of the surrounding area, through development which is cramped, or which results in the
loss of important features that contribute to that character. Policy H10 further advises that “new
residential development schemes will be required to display high standards of design” and Policy
H11 adds that “in established residential areas, planning permission will not be granted for
schemes which introduce a scale or density of development which would be incompatible with or
cause damage to the character and amenity of the area”.

The surrounding residential development to the south and east has a suburban character and
appearance, primarily composed of detached houses of various heights and styles. The buildings

174



9.9

9.10

9.11

9.12

9.13

9.14

facing Goslar Way roundabout are larger, rising to a maximum five storeys, including blocks of
flats.

The layout of the proposed development is similar to the appeal scheme (17/01296/FULL), albeit
on a reduced site, and is a very similar scale to the scheme approved under application
18/02637/OUT. The buildings are in largely the same location and are of a similar form. The
appeal scheme, which also included the development of 3 and 4 Aimond Close, was for a higher
building fronting Imperial Road. The car parking has been reconfigured to take account of the
additional spaces, but the layout of the parking court is consistent with the approved schemes on
the site.

The Inspector determining the appeal concluded that those proposals would reflect the existing
pattern of development around Goslar Way roundabout and noted that a successful transition
with the surrounding residential area would be achieved whereby no harm would arise to views of
the site from surrounding roads. Given that the main difference between that scheme and this
scheme is that the scale of development has been reduced, it would be unreasonable to reach a
different conclusion.

Considering the detailed design of the development, the apartment building would have a more
traditional appearance than the appeal scheme. The large amount of glazing and strong vertical
orientation that the appeal building had, have been replaced in this scheme with smaller window
openings, brick and render facades, and hipped roofs, incorporating small dormers. These
features are similar in detailing, character and appearance to the surrounding development,
including the detached houses on Imperial Road. The semi detached dwellings proposed to the
north west of the site, maintain a traditional design approach and are considered to provide an
appropriate transition in scale to No 4. Aimond Close.

Overall, the design, scale and layout of the development proposed is consider to reflect the
existing pattern of development around the Goslar Way roundabout, and a successful transition
with the surrounding residential development and existing landscape features would be achieved,
with no harm arising to views of the site from any surrounding roads. The development is
considered to comply with policies DG1, H10 and H11 of the RBWMLocal Plan.

Impact on the Amenity of Surrounding Occupiers

As identified by the Inspector determining the recent appeal, the site’s surroundings are already
subject to a degree of mutual overlooking between residential properties and the bulk of the
development would be sufficiently set back from neighbouring properties whereby any loss of
privacy, over and above the current arrangement, would not amount to material harm to the living
conditions of neighbouring occupiers

Considering the proposed developments impact on the occupiers of Almond Close, the
relationship would be similar to approved scheme 18/02637/OUT. The scale of the proposed
development reduces significantly close to this boundary so that it is comparable with the existing
buildings on neighbouring sites. Whilst there would be a change to the outlook from these
properties, given the position of the buildings relative to one another it is not considered that the
proposal would result in a materially harmful loss of light or sense of enclosure. The proposed
development is sufficiently distant from other properties to ensure it would not lead to any loss of
light, overshadowing or overbearing impact. Whilst there would be some overlooking of garden
areas closest to the proposed building, this would be from a significant distance and at such an
angle whereby there would be no material harm to the living conditions of the occupants of this
building. Furthermore, the first floor windows in the side elevation of the closest dwelling, serve
bathrooms to the dwelling and a condition is therefore recommended to ensure that these are
obscurely glazed and fixed shut (except for top opening). An obscure glazing condition is not
considered necessary for the side facing windows of units 6 and 10, given the distance between
these and the adjacent properties and mutual overlooking.

175



9.15

9.16

9.17

9.18

9.19

9.20

9.21

9.22

9.23

9.24

Amenity of Future Occupiers

Section 12 of the NPPF (2019) strives to achieve well designed places that offer a high standard
of amenity for existing and future users

The floor plans submitted with the application detail that the proposed dwellings will be of
reasonable size and layout. The scheme also offers the potential for private and communal
amenity space to be provided.

In the context of previous applications on the site, there was some concern in respect of the flats
on the north and west elevation, and potential for noise disturbance from the road, as several of
the bedroom windows are located on elevations facing the roads. Within this scheme, some of
the bedrooms are located on the road fronting elevations, however the application has been
accompanied by a ‘Noise Impact Assessment’, which confirms that provided the scheme includes
thermal double glazing and trickle vents, there would be no harmful internal and external noise
disturbance. A condition will ensure these recommendations are implemented.

In conclusion when considering the proposed development’s impact on the amenity of future
occupiers and their quality of life, the development proposals are in accordance with the NPPF.

Highways

Imperial Road is classified as the B3173. The site currently benefits from having a vehicular
access off Imperial Road. The plans submitted show that the existing northern access from
Imperial Road will be stopped up and the southern one retained and widened.

The application is accompanied by a visibility plan (JGO1) which shows that the existing access
will be able to achieve clear visibility splays of 2 2.4m x 43m to the left by 2.4m x 51.5m to the
right towards the roundabout.

The increase in vehicle movements that will be generated from the site has the potential to have
an effect on traffic and road safety along Imperial Road. As part of this new application a stage 1
and 2 Road Safety Audit was carried out during the previous Outline application (18/02637). The
report concluded that the only problem identified was the visibility splays, which have now been
shown to exceed the Local Authority’s current standards. A condition will be included to ensure
the access is constructed and maintained to this standard.

Parking Provision/requirement

The submitted plans show 20 car parking spaces, which is the same number approved as part of
application 18/02637/OUT for the same number and mix of units. Previous appeal decisions
have established a precedent for 1.25 parking spaces per unit. The level of parking provision
would accord with this and is considered acceptable. A designated turning facility is also shown
and it has been demonstrated that this could be used by large delivery vehicles.

Cycle & Refuse Provision

Cycle and refuse storage provision are shown within the proposed layout. With regards to the
refuse storage, this has altered in location from application 18/02637/OUT and has been
designed and located in accordance with the RBWM ‘Waste Management Advice Note’.
Conditions will ensure the appropriate detalil is provided of the design of these elements.

Highways Conclusion

Being mindful of the conclusions of the recent appeal and evidence submitted in relation to this
application, there are no objections to the development proposals on highways grounds subject
to the use of appropriate conditions on any grant of permission.

176



9.25

9.26

9.27

9.28

10.

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

Flood Risk and Surface water drainage

The site is located in Flood Zone 1. A drainage strategy has been provided. The indicative
surface water drainage strategy received is considered acceptable and a condition has been
recommended by the LLFA requiring the submission of full details of proposed surface water
drainage system and arrangements for its maintenance.

Trees and Landscaping

The Inspector considering the earlier appeal raised no concern in respect of whether a quality
landscaping scheme could be implemented on this site. Given that the footprint of the building
has decreased from the appeal scheme, and a comprehensive hard and soft landscaping
scheme provided with the application, it would be unreasonable to recommend refusal on this
basis. The proposals are not considered to be in conflict Saved Local Plan policies H10 and N6.

Ecology

The two properties were assessed for their potential to support roosting bats, however given their
construction type, no roosting opportunities were discovered. The vegetation on the site was also
recorded as having the potential to support breeding birds and an informative has been
recommended to remind the applicant to ensure sensitive timing of any site clearance.

Biodiversity enhancements have been set out in the submitted report, which include bird and bat

boxes and fences with gaps to allow free movement of hedgehogs and other mammals across
the site. These will be secured by planning condition.

Other Material Considerations

Housing Land Supply

Paragraphs 10 and 11 of the NPPF set out that there will be a presumption in favour of
Sustainable Development. The latter paragraph states that:

For decision-taking this means: approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date
development plan without delay; or where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the
policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting
permission unless:
. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or
o any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.

Footnote 7 of the NPPF (2019) clarifies that:

‘out-of-date policies include, for applications involving the provision of housing, situations
where the local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable
housing sites (with the appropriate buffer..).’

The BLPSV is not yet adopted planning policy and the Council’'s adopted Local Plan is more than
five years old. Therefore, for the purposes of decision making, currently the starting point for
calculating the 5 year housing land supply (5hyr hls) is the ‘standard method’ as set out in the
NPPF (2019).

At the time of writing, the Council is not able to demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply.

177



10.5

11.

11.1

11.2

11.3

11.4

12.

13.

The LPA therefore accepts, for the purpose of this application and in the context of paragraph 11
of the NPPF (2019), including footnote 7, the so-called ‘tiited balance’ is engaged. The LPA
further acknowledge that there are no ‘restrictive’ policies relevant to the consideration of this
planning application which would engage section d(i) of paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2019). The
assessment of this and the wider balancing exercise is set out below in the conclusion.

PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION

Paragraph 11 of the Framework explains how the presumption in favour of sustainable
development applies. As set out in paragraph 10.5 it is considered that in this instance the tilted
balance should be applied

The proposal would provide 16 residential units, which would amount to a net gain of 14, where
there is an existing under supply. The new housing would be located close to Windsor town
centre and within reasonable walking distance of shops, services and transport connections. The
new housing would also provide jobs and economic activity principally through the construction
process. It is therefore considered that the economic and social dimensions of sustainable
development would be acceptable. The scheme would also be acceptable in terms of its effect on
the character and appearance of the area, and there is no evidence to suggest that any
environmental interests would be materially harmed as a result of the development.

As set out in paragraphs 10.1 to 10.5 for the purpose of considering this planning application the
Council cannot currently demonstrate a rolling five years housing land supply against the NPPF
(2019) and in this instance the so-called tilted balance is engaged. For decision making this
means approving development proposals unless any adverse impacts of doing so would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the
Framework taken as a whole.

However such an assessment is considered to be academic. This is because for the reasons set
out above, Officers are of the view that if this application is determined in accordance with the
normal test under section 38(6) of the 2004 Act, the proposal is in general conformity with the
Development Plan overall and there are no material considerations of sufficient weight to justify
refusal.

APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

Appendix A - Site location plan and site layout
Appendix B — Proposed front (east) elevation
Appendix C - Proposed side (south) elevation
Appendix D - Proposed rear (west) elevation
Appendix E — Proposed side (north) elevation
Appendix F — Proposed ground and first floor plans
Appendix G — Proposed second and third floor plans
Appendix H — Comparison elevations

Appendix | — Comparison street sections

Appendix J — Comparison site plan.

CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED FOR INCLUSION IF PERMISSION IS GRANTED

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced within three years from the date of this
permission.

Reason: To accord with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(as amended).

The materials to be used on the external surfaces of the development shall be in accordance with
those specified in the application unless any different materials are first agreed in writing by the

178



Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DGL.
Prior to the commencement of development, a surface water drainage scheme based on the
submitted drainage and flood risk assessment, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. Details shall include:

- Full details of all components of the proposed surface water drainage system including
dimensions, locations, gradients, invert levels, cover levels, and relevant construction details;

-- Supporting calculations confirming pre-development and postdevelopment runoff rates and
any attenuation storage volume to be provided,

- Details of the maintenance arrangements relating to the proposed surface water drainage
system, confirming who will be responsible for its maintenance and the maintenance regime to be
implemented.

No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until the surface water drainage
scheme has been implemented in accordance with the details approved under the terms of this
condition. The surface water drainage system shall be maintained in accordance with the
approved details thereafter.

Reason: To ensure the development does not increase the risk of flooding onsite or elsewhere in
the locality. Relevant policy: Paragraph 103 of the NPPF.

Works for demolition and construction shall be implemented and maintained for the duration of
the works in accordance with the details contained within the following management plan
documents:

'Construction Traffic Management Plan’' received 31st October 2019.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic and amenity of surrounding
residential occupiers Relevant Policies - Local Plan T5.

The existing access to the site of the development shall be stopped up and abandoned
immediately upon the new access being first brought into use. The footways and verge shall be
reinstated before the development is first occupied in accordance with details that have first been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and of the amenities of the area. Relevant Policies -
Local Plan T5, DGL1.

No part of the development shall be occupied until vehicle parking and turning space has been
provided, surfaced and marked out in accordance with the approved drawing. The space
approved shall be kept available for parking and turning in association with the development.
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to
reduce the likelihood of roadside parking which could be detrimental to the free flow of traffic and
to highway safety, and to facilitate vehicles entering and leaving the highway in forward gear.
Relevant Policies - Local Plan P4, DGL.

No part of the development shall be occupied until the visibility splays shown on the approved
drawings have been provided. The areas within these splays shall be kept free of all obstructions
to visibility above a height of 0.6 metres from the surface of the carriageway.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety. Relevant Policies - Local Plan T5.

No part of the development shall be occupied until covered and secure cycle parking facilities
have been provided in accordance with the approved drawing. These facilities shall thereafter be
kept available for the parking of cycles in association with the development at all times.

Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate cycle parking facilities in
order to encourage the use of alternative modes of transport. Relevant Policies - Local Plan T7,
DG1.

No part of the development shall be occupied until a refuse bin storage area and recycling
facilities have been provided in accordance with details that have first been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These facilities shall be kept available for
use in association with the development at all times.

Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate facilities that allow it to be

179



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

serviced in a manner which would not adversely affect the free flow of traffic and highway safety
and to ensure the sustainability of the development. Relevant Policies - Local Plan T5, DG1.

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the details in drawings
IR-XX-XX-01-DR-L-01 and IR-XX-XX-01-DR-L-00 received 18th September 2019. The works
shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the development, or in accordance with
a programme first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, and retained in accordance
with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure satisfactory landscaping of the site in the interests of visual amenity.
Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1.

Prior to the occupation of the units, all ecological measures and/or works shall be carried out and
retained in accordance with the approved details contained within AAE Environmental Limited
report reference 193341/ARB dated 9th September 2019.

Reason: To incorporate biodiversity in and around the development in accordance with
paragraph 175 of the NPPF.

The development shall not be occupied until all walls, fencing or any other means of enclosure
(including any retaining walls), have been constructed in accordance with details that have first
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory resultant appearance and standard of amenity of the site and
the surrounding area. Relevant Policy - Local Plan DGL1.

The first floor windows in the eastern elevation of the dwellinghouse shall be of a permanently
fixed, non-opening design, with the exception of an opening toplight that is a minimum of 1.7m
above the finished internal floor level, and fitted with obscure glass and the window shall not be
altered.

Reason: To prevent overlooking and loss of privacy to neighbouring occupiers. Relevant Policies
- Local Plan H14.

Irrespective of the provisions of Classes B of part 1 of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting
that Order with or without modification) no windows or dormer windows other than those
expressly authorised by this permission shall be constructed on the eastern elevation of the
dwellinghouses hereby approved, without the prior approval of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: The prominence of the site requires strict control over the form of any additional
development which may be proposed and to protect residential amenity. Relevant Policies - Local
Plan H11, DG1.

No part of the development hereby approved shall be occupied until the noise mitigation
measures detailed within the report by Venta Acoustics dated 10th April 2017 have been
installed, and once installed shall be retained thereafter,

Reason: To ensure a suitable quality of accommodation is provided for future occupants.
Relevant policy NAP1 and Section 12 of the NPPF

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans
listed below.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
particulars and plans.

Informatives

1

The applicant should ensure that the areas of hanging tiles on the two main buildings are
removed by hand under the supervision of a licensed bat ecologist. The Ecology report provides
the methodology in which this should be undertaken.

The vegetation on site was recorded as having the potential to support breeding birds. Breeding
birds, their eggs and active nests are protected by the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as
amended. Please refer to the Ecology report to ensure sensitive timing of site clearance and
protective measures concerning nesting birds during the breeding bird season.

The Streetcare Services Manager at Tinkers Lane Depot Tinkers Lane Windsor SL4 4LR tel:
01628 796801 should be contacted for the approval of the access construction details and to
grant a licence before any work is carried out within the highway. A formal application should be

180



made allowing at least 4 weeks notice to obtain details of underground services on the
applicant's behalf.

The attention of the applicant is drawn to the Berkshire Act 1986, Part I, Clause 9, which
enables the Highway Authority to recover the costs of repairing damage to the footway or grass
verge arising during building operations.

The attention of the applicant is drawn to Section 59 of the Highways Act 1980 which enables
the Highway Authority to recover expenses due to extraordinary traffic.

In order to protect the stability of the highway it is advised that no excavation is carried out within
15 metres of a public highway without the written approval of the Highway Authority. The
Highway Manager should be contacted at the Town Hall, St lves Road, Maidenhead, SL6 1RF
tel: 01628 796595.

Any incidental works affecting the adjoining highway shall be approved by, and a licence
obtained from the The Streetcare Services Manager at Tinkers Lane Depot Tinkers Lane
Windsor SL4 4LR tel: 01628 796801 at least 4 weeks before any development is due to
commence.

No builders materials, plant or vehicles related to the implementation of the development should
be parked/stored on the public highway so as to cause an obstruction at any time.

181



Appendix A — Site Location Plan and Site Layout

/ — T T A o S

Ordnance Survey (c) Crown Copyright 7076, AL rights reserved. Licence number 100027

182



£V @ 00C:1 SIB2%

£ood IosEduw)

L1-& 4o uoHIowsp 3w Buimonoy
52000 JDINoASA MU F Busuod

e —

U0 X T SBWLCD WooIpsq
omy X 3L “SBUFSMD LICOIDST oMY X T

L3aroud.

subisap
SIAAEH

\

183



Appendix B - Proposed front (east) elevation

£V @ 001-1 |IP2s

0l

w9zt

184



Appendix C — Proposed side (south elevation)

Ab

w09'L T_
! is2 2
®
- g
| e e
f } $
, b g8
- 1
| OBE
| 5§ gs
[T fil:
4 b
. ikl
? ;
, i ikl
il wzre B 0 o
- i

185



Appendix D - Proposed rear (west) elevation

A/

10

Scale 1:100 @ A3

186



3 pood iousdw
£V ® 001:1 SI02S 1a L1-6 JO UOUIOWSP s BUIMOIO) M s
——— — AaNmvEa 553000 JoiNoA M3U F Buuod 05DUIM oNs stmL
% 1 sauiois
ol ¥ z 0 Aom o509 Buio) . 3U0 X 7  SUSWLODD WooIP3q 3snoH uokiaw & AinasAsim
UoyoABE3 8prs Pesodold SUL0R0 | omy x| ‘sBUIRMD WORIP3Q OM X T PII MO suotaum Z
NOURDERD 3nsst 123084 NI SNDISIO SIMTT

Appendix E — Proposed side (north) elevation

187



Appendix F — Proposed ground and first floor plans

£V @ 00¢:1 So2g

1a

£ood IDuRdw
L1-4 4o uowIowsp au Bumoroy

MUE FIS

A8 MAYED 300D IDINo3a mau § Bunpnd JOSpUIM MG SLML
N e supig soold s oo 10050 i roabuct suois
0z gl ol g 0 punoi pesotio %0 | onsrer stmng e oven | R s s
HOUdIE3 E Loarcad AN NDISIA SIMTT
HOVZEL [AUG (Bl TWIOL seale
NLUD— 1 UZOL < 5N0OH zYL98ST [WT FLPT [BUNLWILWOD g S|[EM
4576 |AUls [ 85N0H Jewssgul Guipnjour
Z601 [JU7F101 TYLOLENS
[Aucopg AUEY [ sDalY [DUB|U| $5015) |
HErs  |Auss 12ul) #1 jusupody
[Aucoiog 2wey
iSEr  |Auroy 12ul) £1 juswpody
[fuoopoq g xWe'y
118 |uEGs 19ul) 21 jusupndy
[AUoo[oq WEY
4906 |AuLvR 19ul) || jusupndy = T = =
HP0L  [2UFS9 01 yuSWpndy @ mj
[Auoojeq ey e
HZZ8  |Auy9L [2ul)g Jusupndy - - =
[fuooog g ¥ AUEY
=111 /2 USO8 |oul)g juswiupndy @
[Auco(oq AUEY
906 |AuIPR jpul) £ juswpody
1842 AUFER § jusipndy
[AUCD{Dq UEY
isve  |Aug'es jPul) § juswpody - =
[AUOODq T X WEY
4l/e  |Augos Ul ¥ indy
4506 |[AUL78 £ ody ~
BT E R [4 dy "
ECIVAR FV T 1 juspndy
sDaly |DUISIU| 18BN
12 <
Y
L oCo (u]@n]

188



Appendix G — Proposed second and third floor plans

ooy iouaduw) T
EV 0071 =ioes :..!.._-n_n Lw%uﬁhﬂﬂsuﬂ”ﬂwu.m_ﬂuﬂ M.n-_.mhh_m_ ONS S1ML 2
e 04 004 iy puo o050 . ) ke _
oc sl ol S 0 Pus2ss POl 50090 | amrn, Bmenmuomstonas | e nalon
oI35 30851 193r0ud wam 01530 5IMIT

HEFZEL [2WS [EZL V101 seale

BT € 35N0H TUL9BST |dWI'FLPT|  [2UNWLWOD g S|j2m

4746 ol -] | 8snoH |ewizqul Guipnpur
01 |Aus 1ol TW1OLENS

[Ruodjog WEY [ sDaly [DUIB|U| 55019 |

HEV L g9 [2ul] ¢ juswpody
[Aucoeg ey
B 2P OF [oul) g1 juswpndy
[Aucolpq g ¥ We'y
118 UGS [oul) Z1 juswupdy
[Auoo[og AUEY
4905 AUL'YE [oul) 11 juswppdy
=Hr0L UGS 01 juswpody
[Auooog AUEY
HZ2e AF9L [oul]6 juswpody
[Auoo[oq T X AUEY
148 U808 |oul)g juswupdy
[Aucojog e
1505 Bl [oul) ¢ juswpndy
2848 UF'ER 9 Juswuody
[Auooog AUEY
lsve g8 [oul) § juswpndy
[AucoDq z ¥ UEY
/8 U408 [oul) ¥ juswpndy
=H706 e £ juswundy
O AU G Z juswuody
U7 LL ZUS99 | juswppdy

[ spaly [pussiul 18N |

189



14 Gl

€Y @ 00Z:| =|o2g

pood Iousdw)

1 1-4 Jo ucwlowsp auL Buwoloy
53000 JoinonsaA mau F Bunuod

I e

BUOXT T SUSWNGID Wooupad
oM XTI &L_-gu Wopag oM X T
L23roud

pooy jpusdw) G|

pooy [ousduw| g|

L |

pooy jpusdw) G|

pooy [pusduw| g|

Appendix H — Comparison elevations

pooy jpusdw) G|

pooy [pusduw| g|

o m
N\ B

SWBaYosg medn_n:n_

swsyos pasodold

swsyos pasodold

Proposed Scheme

190

Successful Appeal
Scheme 17/01294/FULL

scheme 18/02637/0UT

Approved Cutline Planning




£V ® 00571 3P0 o500 puowiy o sauioy Ta s 1o vomoen o bt s
. Eu_sﬁhﬁtw:h m_wm_un.n_ AaMMYED 52000 JDINoSA MU F Buruod J0SpUIM DN sLML
N . _JIUU “gm—ﬂ.am._l o Sl wooupsq wnog 9._0._ SBUIDIS
m..-ioﬁt uoyoes el . - SUSX T T uSWLCdD wooupsg BENOH LoMIEW 8 AnasAoum
0s oz (]} Q - .u...amhwanum SUL0°B0 | omy XL “SBUIBMD LIOCIDST ONY X T DI WD SuDT UL T
3NS5 A23road AN ENTISIA SIMIT
250|7) PUOLU|Y € PUD swayog pasodold pooy [ousduw) UNO7T) UDA[@ABI]
. PR e e
fe. (ol o IS o
f UM HE, E| B EE m
E - r=
: _ 0
»
L E o
:
O
|
250|7) PUOWY € PUD § swsyog pasodoly pooy [ousduy HNoT) UDABASI]

_ [
=
=
w
|
)
o
o
(=]
~|
[
5

Appendix | — Comparison street sections

350|7) PUOLU|Y € PUD ¥ swayog pasodold pooy [ousduw) unoTy ubA@asi)

Scheme 18/02637/0UT

| Approved Outline Planning | | Successful Appeal

191



Appendix J — Comparison site plan

subisap o
103 1a L1-4 §2 uswowsp Su Sumoro) MLE ¥IS SiwH

£V @ 00c-L =l S FrLTy ©3000 IDINsBA mau § Bunsod JOSPUIM BME SLML 2

— — : Ui s Shom 2

wwwww spuawyDdD wooupeq 5noH ol AinasAouim ja’

o puss
[v4 Gl ol S 0 sLusyag pasodold Uoid 84S U000 | oy

192

swsayog pasodoly

1NO/LE9T0/8| SWsyDs
Buuupo)g supng pasciddy

TINA/F6Z10/£1 SWsy2g
|josddy |nysssoong

S .




Agenda Item 10

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

4 December 2019 Item: 9
Application 19/02073/FULL

No.:

Location: Thames Valley Athletics Centre Pococks Lane Eton Windsor SL4 6HN
Proposal: Side extension to the existing building to provide an additional squash court.
Applicant: Mr Fenwick

Agent: Mr Leigh Tugwood

Parish/Ward: Eton Town Council/Eton And Castle

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Adam Jackson on 01628 796660 or at
adam.jackson@rbwm.gov.uk

1. SUMMARY

11 The proposal represents inappropriate development within the Green Belt and there are no very
special circumstances which would clearly outweigh the harm caused by this inappropriate form
of development and the other harm identified.

1.2 The proposed development will be located within flood zone 3b (functional floodplain) which is
land where water has to flow or be stored in times of flood. The proposed development is not
appropriate within flood zone 3b as the NPPG sets out that only water compatible development
should be permitted within the functional flood plain.

1.3  The proposed development will result in the loss of 5 trees which currently make a strong positive
contribution to the character and appearance of the area. Furthermore insufficient information
has been submitted to determine the arboricultural impact of the development on other on and off
Site trees.

14 It is considered that the additional traffic likely to be generated by the new squash court can be
comfortably accommodated within the existing 180 space car park.

It is recommended the Panel refuses planning permission for the following summarised
reasons (the full reasons are identified in Section 13 of this report):

1. | The proposed development does not fall within any of the categories of appropriate
development in the Green Belt as set out in paragraph 145 of the National Planning Policy
Framework and is therefore classified as inappropriate development. Furthermore the
scale and position of the extension would result in harm being caused to both the spatial
and visual openness of the Green Belt. It is not considered that any very special
circumstances exist that clearly outweigh this harm and the other harm identified within the
other reasons for refusal. The development fails to comply with policies GB1 and GB2 of
the Local Plan, paragraphs 133, 143, 144 and 145 of the National Planning Policy
Framework, and policies SP1 and SP5 of the submission version of the emerging Borough
Local Plan.

2. | The development is proposed to be located within flood zone 3b which is the functional
flood plain and an area where water has to flow or be stored in times of flood. As set out in
National Planning Policy Guidance, development is not acceptable within the functional
flood plain unless classified as a water compatible use. The proposed development is not
water compatible. The proposed development fails to comply with policy F1 of the Local
Plan, policy EN3 of the Eton and Eton Wick Neighbourhood Plan, paragraph 163 of the
National Planning Policy Framework, and policy NR1 of the submission version of the
emerging Borough Local Plan.

3. | 5 trees are shown to be removed to make space for the proposed development. These
trees which make a strong positive contribution to the character and appearance of the

193



3.1

4.1

51

area. Furthermore, insufficient information has been provided to determine the
arboricultural impacts of the proposed development upon other on and off site trees. The
proposed development fails to comply with policies DG1 and N6 of the Local Plan,
paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework, and policy NR2 of the
submission version of the emerging Borough Local Plan.

REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION

e The Council's Constitution does not give the Head of Planning delegated powers to
determine the application in the way recommended; such decisions can only be made by the
Panel.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

The application site is currently home to the Thames Valley Athletics Centre with the main
building being built in 1999 to provide a training hall and associated facilities, and a spectator’s
stand. The site is accessed from Pococks Lane and the main building and parking area is to the
south east, with the rest of the site constituting playing fields and an athletics track. The main
building was extended following a grant of permission in 2011 for a two storey extension on its
south elevation. This extension provided 4 x new squash courts and a dance studio at first floor.
To the north, east and west of the site are Eton College playing fields. The site is situated both
within the Green Belt and Flood Zone 3. The site is heavily treed along its southern boundary.

KEY CONSTRAINTS
The key constraints to development are:

e Green Belt
e Flooding
e Trees

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

The proposal is for an extension to the main building on the western elevation, to provide an
additional squash court and store rooms. The squash court would be linked to the main building
via a covered walkway and a terrace area is proposed on top of the walkway and store room. The
proposed extension, including the covered walkways and store rooms, will have a footprint of
220sgm and will have a height of 7.6m. The extension will be finished in timber cladding.

Reference Description Decision

94/00480/REG3 Permitted — 22.12.1997

(473236)

Erection of new 2-storey spectators
stand with indoor straight and
training hall, changing & club rooms
plus associated car parking and new
access road. Extension of pavilion.

99/78199/ADV

Installation of 1 wall plaque with
studs and one wall sign for a period
of 5 years.

Permitted — 27.07.1999

04/85232/FULL

Erection of 1810mm high brick plinth
at entrance of site.

Permitted — 21.06.2004

04/85231/ADV

Display of two externally illuminated
freestanding signs.

Permitted — 21.06.2004

05/02965/FULL

Change of use of existing sports
pavilion to pre school nursery with
associated parking, fencing and

Permitted — 15.09.2006

194




access gates.

08/02212/FULL Erection of street lighting to car | Permitted — 04.11.2008
parking area to replace bollard style
lighting.

11/01808/FULL Extension to southern side of | Permitted —11.08.2011

existing sports centre to provide 4
new squash and a dance studio at
first floor fitness suite together with
ancillary works and refurbishment.

11/02121/FULL Formation of an overflow car park | Permitted — 12.09.2011
with street lighting, widening of
access road and associated works.

15/01758/FULL Installation of 2 security cages | Permitted —23.07.2015
around existing dosing and sampling
kiosks and 1 replacement security
cage to store gas cylinders.

6. DEVELOPMENT PLAN

Adopted Royal Borough Local Plan (2003)

Issue Adopted Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance DG1
of area
Acceptable development within the Green Belt GB1, GB2
Acceptable development within the flood plain F1
Sufficient parking provided P4
Acceptable impact on important trees N6

These policies can be found at
https://www3.rbwm.qgov.uk/downloads/download/154/local plan documents and appendices

Adopted Eton and Eton Wick Neighbourhood Plan (2016-2036)

Issue Neighbourhood Plan Policy
Flooding EN3

These policies can be found at
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200209/planning policy/477/neighbourhood plans/2

7. MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

National Planning Policy Framework Sections (NPPF) (2019)

Section 4- Decision—making

Section 9- Promoting Sustainable Transport

Section 12- Achieving well-designed places

Section 13- Protecting Green Belt land

Section 14- Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version

195


https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200209/planning_policy/477/neighbourhood_plans/2

7.1

7.2

7.3

Issue Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance SP2, SP3
of area
Acceptable development in the Green Belt SP5
Sufficient parking provided IF2
Managing flood risk and waterways NR1
Acceptable impact on important trees NR2

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version Proposed Changes (2019)

Issue Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance QP1,0P3
of area '
Acceptable development in the Green Belt QP5
Sufficient parking provided IF2
Managing flood risk and waterways NR1
Acceptable impact on important trees NR3

The NPPF sets out that decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans
according to their stage of preparation. The Borough Local Plan Submission Document was
published in June 2017. Public consultation ran from 30 June to 27 September 2017. Following
this process the Council prepared a report summarising the issues raised in the representations
and setting out its response to them. This report, together with all the representations received
during the representation period, the plan and its supporting documents was submitted to the
Secretary of State for independent examination in January 2018. The Submission Version of the
Borough Local Plan does not form part of the statutory development plan for the Borough.

In December 2018, the examination process was paused to enable the Council to undertake
additional work to address soundness issues raised by the Inspector. Following completion of
that work, in October 2019 the Council approved a series of Proposed Changes to the BLPSV
which are now out to public consultation until Sunday, 15 December 2019. All representations
received will be reviewed by the Council to establish whether further changes are necessary
before the Proposed Changes are submitted to the Inspector. In due course the Inspector will
resume the Examination of the BLPSV. The BLPSV and the BLPSV together with the Proposed
Changes are therefore material considerations for decision-making. However, given the above
both should be given limited weight.

These documents can be found at:
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/blp

Supplementary Planning Documents
o RBWM Interpretation of Policy F1
Other Local Strategies or Publications

i. RBWM Townscape Assessment
ii. RBWM Parking Strategy

More information on these documents can be found at:
https://www3.rbwm.qgov.uk/info/200414/local development framework/494/supplementary planni

ng

196


https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/blp
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning

CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Comments from interested parties

The planning officer posted a notice advertising the application at the site on 01.08.2019 and the
application was advertised in the Local Press on 08.08.2019

2 letters were received supporting the application, 1 from Clir Samantha Rayner, and 1 from a
representative of a group of squash players from the Windsor Club, signed by 58 people. Both
letters are summarised below and all considerations noted.

Comment

Cllr S. Rayner

1. | The Council is committed to providing high quality leisure and cultural facilities for
residents.

2. | When the Windsor Squash Club site was developed a S106 was put in place to
provide £270Kk of funds to re-provide squash facilities.

3. | In my position as Lead Member for Culture and Communities | fully support this
application.

The Windsor Club

1. | The Windsor Club was closed down in June 2016 to make way for the Castle View
Retirement Village. When the club shut down there were over 400 active members
and the community lost 5 squash courts, 2 studio rooms, a fully equipped 2 storey
gym and a member’s bar and community room.

2. | The S106 agreement for the Castle View Retirement Village secured funds for the
reprovision of squash courts.

3. | In August 2015 an application to build 4 new squash courts, a swimming pool,
large gym and several studio rooms at the Eton Excelsior Rowing Club was
refused at application and appeal stage.

4. | The RBWM Sport& Leisure Strategy (2016) commits to working with the Windsor
Club to find an affordable site at which it can effectively development for squash
courts and ancillary facilities/social provision. It further commits to supporting
TVAC to maintain and improve it as a centre for indoor sport and outdoor athletics
plus squash.

5. | The 4 squash courts at TVAC are under pressure due to closure of more than 14
courts across The Windsor Club, La Fitness Club (Burnham) and Princess Club
(Bedfont).

6. | There is currently a lack of a ‘show court’ with seating, which is critical to host high
guality squash matches and to retain the best players as well as providing a court
environment suitable for exhibition matches.

All of the above points are noted however the need for the squash courts are not considered to
outweigh the environmental harm outlined in the summary section of this report, particularly the
fact that the proposal would be sited within functional floodplain.

Consultees
Where in the
Consultee Comment report this is
considered
Parish Concerns that no additional parking has been included, even | 9.10 -9.11
Council though parking is already a problem at TVAC.
Lead Local Requests that further details are provided for the proposed

197



9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

Flood surface water drainage system and supporting calculations.
Authority

Highways Considers that the existing car park is large enough to 9.10-9.11
accommodate the addition of a squash court and that the
development would not have a detrimental effect on the local
highway network. Concerns have been raised with the
proposed temporary access for construction traffic, however
it is considered that this will have an acceptable impact on
highway safety subject to conditions.

Trees Insufficient information has been provided to determine the 9.9
arboricultural impacts of the proposed development upon on
and off site trees.

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION

The key issues for consideration are:

[ Whether the proposal is appropriate development within the Green Belt

ii Whether the proposal is appropriate development in the flood plain

i The impact of the development on the character and appearance of the area
iV Whether the proposal would be provided with sufficient parking space

Whether the proposal is appropriate development within the Green Belt

Paragraph 145 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out a list of appropriate
forms of development within the Green Belt. Within this list, the extension of a building is
considered to be appropriate provided the extension does not result in a disproportionate addition
over and above the size of the original building. In determining whether an extension is
disproportionate the increase in floor space is a guiding factor, however the bulk and scale of a
proposal and its effect on the openness of the Green Belt are also important considerations.
Policies GB1 and GB2 of the Local Plan set out similar criteria for building in the Green Belt.

The Thames Valley Athletics Centre has been extended in the past. The original building had a
floor space of approximately 3700sgm and the proposed extension and the previous extension
have a combined floor space of approximately 850sgm, which amounts to an increase of 29%.
Whilst this is not a significant increase in percentage terms, the extensions are visually
prominent. The previous extension was full height and added bulk to the original building. The
proposed extension, whilst only single storey, is 7.5m tall and is set well outside of the existing
building envelope. Because it is set so far away from the existing/original building the proposed
extension would have a significant visual impact on the openness of the Green Belt as well as a
significant spatial impact due to its size. In conclusion the proposed extensions when taken with
the previous extension would result in a disproportionate addition to the original building.

The proposal is inappropriate development in the Green Belt, and according to paragraph 143 of
the NPPF inappropriate development is by definition harmful and should not be approved except
in very special circumstances. Paragraph 144 of the NPPF sets out that substantial weight will be
given to any harm to the Green Belt, and very special circumstances will not exist unless the
potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm resulting
from the proposal is clearly outweighed by other considerations. Whether very special
circumstances exist has been considered in the planning balance section at the end of this report
after all harm resulting from the development has been identified.

Whether the proposal is appropriate developmentin the flood plain

198



9.5

9.6

9.7

9.8

The application site is within Flood Zone 3b which is classified as functional floodplain. The
Council's Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) sets out that the functional floodplain is land
where water has to flow or be stored in times of flood, and National Planning Practice Guidance
(NPPG) sets out that development should not be permitted in the functional floodplain unless it is
a water compatible use. A leisure use is classed as a ‘Less Vulnerable’ use, and as such the
proposed development is not appropriate in the functional flood plain. A site specific flood risk
assessment (FRA) has been submitted with the application which concludes that the site should
be classified as flood zone 3a, in which development can sometimes be considered acceptable,
due to the Maidenhead, Windsor and Eton Flood Alleviation scheme (MWEFAS), however,
NPPG sets out that it is the SFRA, prepared by the Local Planning Authority, which will establish
areas of functional flood plain, and this should be referred to in identifying what flood zone a
proposed development is within. Furthermore the SFRA already takes into consideration the
MWEFAS (see paragraph 5.1.5 of the SFRA). It is noted that an extension has previously been
approved under application11/01808, however this was assessed under a previous iteration of
the SFRA. It is not clear from the previous submission documents whether the development was
assessed as being within flood zone 3b or 3a.

Notwithstanding the above, if the development was accepted as being within flood zone 3a then
the applicant would need to, through the submission of the FRA and the application of the
exceptions test, demonstrate that the development is safe from flooding and would not increase
flood risk elsewhere. It has been demonstrated that the development itself would be safe from
flooding through the use of flood resilient/resistant construction and by updating the existing
Thames Valley Athletics Flood Evacuation Plan, however it is considered that the proposed
development would have an unacceptable impact on flooding elsewhere as explained below.

Policy F1 of the Local Plan allows for an increase in ground covered area (GCA) on site of up to
30sgm. For any amount of GCA above this the applicant must demonstrate that the development
will not reduce the capacity of the flood plain to store water, impact on the free flow of flood water,
or increase the number of people and properties at risk from flooding. Furthermore policy EN3 of
the Eton and Eton Wick Neighbourhood Plan states that development should not result in an
increase in maximum flood levels within adjoining properties. The proposed extension has a total
ground covered area of approximately 220sgm, which is in excess of the 30sgm allowed under
policy F1. The 2011 extension was also in excess of the 30sgm limit set out under policy F1,
however due to the use of underfloor voids it was considered that the development would not
significantly impede the flow of flood water or reduce the capacity of the flood plain to store flood
water. It is stated within the FRA for the current proposal that the external store is designed to
flood, however it is not clear from the plans exactly how this will be achieved. It is also noted that
the squash court itself is raised up to create an underfloor void, however no details of how this
will be managed have been submitted. It is not clear whether this space will be kept empty and
whether it can be ensured that there would be no loss of flood plain storage. It is noted that two
shipping containers are to be removed from the site, and it is claimed that these are permanent
additions, however no details have been submitted to support this. Furthermore the containers
have a combined GCA of approximately 40sqm and as such would not offset the loss in flood
plain storage resulting from the proposed extension. The proposed development would therefore
reduce the capacity of the flood plain to store and impact upon the free flow of flood water,
thereby putting additional people and properties at an increased risk from flooding.

The impact of the development on the character and appearance of the area

Policy DG1 of the Local Plan and paragraph 127 of the NPPF set out that development should be
of a high standard of design, visually attractive, and in keeping with the local character. The
proposed extension has a flat roof and will be finished using timber cladding. The proposed
extension does not match the main building in terms of its design or choice of materials, however

199



9.9

9.10

9.11

9.12

9.13

given the extensions scale and its positioning away from the envelope of the main building it
appears almost as a standalone structure. Within this context it is not considered that the design
of the extension or the materials used need to match the host building exactly, and it is not
considered that the extension would cause harm to the appearance of the host building or the
character of the wider area.

The extension will be located in an area currently containing a number of trees, and whilst these
are not protected they do make a significant positive contribution to the character and
appearance of the area, giving it a sylvan wooded appearance, and currently provide some
screening of the building when viewed from Pococks Lane. Insufficient information has been
provided to determine the arboricultural impacts of the proposed development upon on and off
site trees. It would appear that at least 5 trees will need to be removed to make space for the
extension and that additional trees could be harmed or lost due to interference with their canopies
and roots. The loss of these trees would harm the character and appearance of the area and it is
considered that steps should be taken to ensure as may trees are retained as possible.

Whether the proposal would be provided with sufficient parking space

A D1 leisure use, as set out in the Borough’s adopted Parking Strategy, is required to provide 1
space per 30sqm. The proposed extension has a total floor space of 220sgm (including store
room and covered walkway), and the squash court is 90sqm. The proposed development
therefore generates a requirement of between 3 and 7 car parking spaces. The site currently
benefits from 180 car parking spaces across the main car park, overflow car park and an informal
parking area to the side of the main building. It is considered that the proposed extension is
unlikely to have a significant impact on the number of visitors to the centre and as such the
existing car park is considered sufficient.

A temporary access is proposed off of Pococks Lane for the construction period. Council
Highway Officers have raised some concerns with this, however it is accepted that a temporary
access can be made safe through the use of conditions relating to: visibility splays, access
details, construction management details, and the stopping up of the access once the squash
court is brought into use.

Planning Balance

The proposed development is considered to cause harm to the Green Belt through reason of its
inappropriateness and harm to openness. Paragraph 144 of the NPPF sets out that substantial
weight will be given to any harm to the Green Belt, and very special circumstances will not exist
unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness and any other harm
resulting from the proposal is clearly outweighed by other considerations. As set out above, the
development also causes harm as a result of the developments impact on flooding, and it is
considered that this should be given substantial weight. Harm will also result from the loss of
trees which make a significant positive impact on the character and appearance of the area,
however this is only given moderate weight as the trees are not covered by a Tree Preservation
Order.

The applicant has not put forward a case for very special circumstances, however it is accepted
that the development does make a contribution towards and improves sports/leisure facilities in
the Borough. It is also noted from the letter sent in on behalf of the former members of the
Windsor Club that there would appear to be a need for new squash facilities. Indeed paragraph
91 of the NPPF supports the promotion of healthy communities and tasks planning decisions with
enabling and supporting healthy lifestyles — for example through the provision of sports facilities,
however the new squash court would make a fairly limited contribution towards achieving this
goal, and the benefits of this improved facilty would not outweigh the harm identified in
paragraph 9.12 above. In this case therefore there are not considered to be any very special
circumstances that would clearly outweigh the harm to the Green Belt and the other harm
identified.

200



10.

10.1

10.2

10.3

12.

13.

CONCLUSION

The proposed development constitutes inappropriate development in the Green Belt and would
reduce the openness of the Green Belt. There are no very special circumstances that outweigh
this harm and the other harm identified with regards to flooding and the character of the area.
The development fails to comply with policies GB1 and GB2 of the Local Plan, paragraphs 133,
143, 144 and 145 of the National Planning Policy Framework, and policies SP1 and SP5 of the
submission version of the emerging Borough Local Plan.

The proposed development would be located within flood zone 3b which is the functional flood
plain and an area where water has to flow or be stored in times of flood. Development is not
acceptable within the functional flood plain other than water compatible uses. The proposed
development fails to comply with policy F1 of the Local Plan, policy EN3 of the Eton and Eton
Wick Neighbourhood Plan, paragraph 163 of the National Planning Policy Framework, and policy
NR1 of the submission version of the emerging Borough Local Plan.

The proposed development would result in the loss of 5 trees which make a significant positive
contribution to the character and appearance of the area. Furthermore, insufficient information
has been provided to determine the arboricultural impacts of the proposed development upon
other on and off site trees. The proposed development fails to comply with policies DG1 and N6
of the Local Plan, paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework, and policy NR2 of
the submission version of the emerging Borough Local Plan.

APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

e Appendix A - Site location plan and site layout
e Appendix B — plan and elevation drawings

REASONS RECOMMENDED FOR REFUSAL.

The proposed development does not fall within any of the categories of appropriate development
in the Green Belt as set out in paragraph 145 of the National Planning Policy Framework and is
therefore classified as inappropriate development. Furthermore the scale and position of the
extension would result in harm being caused to both the spatial and visual openness of the Green
Belt. It is not considered that any very special circumstances exist that clearly outweigh this harm
and the other harm identified within the other reasons for refusal. The development fails to
comply with policies GB1 and GB2 of the Local Plan, paragraphs 133, 143, 144 and 145 of the
National Planning Policy Framework, and policies SP1 and SP5 of the submission version of the
emerging Borough Local Plan.

The development is proposed to be located within flood zone 3b which is the functional flood
plain and an area where water has to flow or be stored in times of flood. As set out in National
Planning Policy Guidance, development is not acceptable within the functional flood plain unless
classified as a water compatible use. The proposed development is not water compatible. The
proposed development fails to comply with policy F1 of the Local Plan, policy EN3 of the Eton
and Eton Wick Neighbourhood Plan, paragraph 163 of the National Planning Policy Framework,
and policy NR1 of the submission version of the emerging Borough Local Plan.

5 trees are shown to be removed to make space for the proposed development. These trees
which make a strong positive contribution to the character and appearance of the area.
Furthermore, insufficient information has been provided to determine the arboricultural impacts of
the proposed development upon other on and off site trees. The proposed development fails to
comply with policies DG1 and N6 of the Local Plan, paragraph 127 of the National Planning
Policy Framework, and policy NR2 of the submission version of the emerging Borough Local
Plan.

201



Appendix A—Site location plan and site layout

ohrans | e

T
DO M DO B

[ ——"

ETE S hoRrss

I- ONINNV1d

ZUZ




>8d | /

@Wﬁ\rr Y

| b7

203

spiag Buifelg

(8489 iz xoudchy)
%961 2060 10)
wed Jea deen




I-ONINNV'1d

o vl Ry
‘o s O 30D

Appendix B—Plans and elevation drawings - Proposed ground floor

:
.

",

IV @00l1-1

P ® — _ NY1d 30074 ANNOYD ANY LNOAYT LIS




Proposed first floor

woriin | ovmen
_____ e
onra | e
T T
P o s

o i 3 i o o wrannganse
[Ep——Cp———

o S s

L el
S s o oL

o
=)

o oo

e

=
LD IR P R

[-DNINNV1d

205



Proposed elevations

o S o

oIpr

[Ep—C————

W% NOILIIS / NOLLWAT T3 15W3 HLNON

MNOILYAFTI 15%3 HLNOS

- DNINNY1d

Lo L
EE R e e

nozs
= a0
= S T

mramour
LD Y M O

NOILYAITI 153M HLNOS

NOLLYATTT 153M HLEOMN

206

|

[t




Agenda ltem 11

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

4 December 2019 Item: 10
Application 19/02416/FULL

No.:

Location: Windsor Dials Arthur Road Windsor SL4 1RS

Proposal: Alterations to the existing roof structures to create an additional office floor, creation of

new entrance lobbies and core areas and refurbishment of the elevations and public
realm to buildings 1 and 2 Windsor Dials.

Applicant: British Airways Pension Trustees Limited (CRN453632)

Agent: Mr Ross Fraser

Parish/Ward:  Windsor Unparished/Eton And Castle

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Vivienne McDowell on 01628 796578 or at
vivienne.mcdowell@rbwm.gov.uk

1. SUMMARY

11 The proposal includes provision of an additional floor to the two office buildings, new entrances,
a rear extension to building 1 (adjacent to the railway arches), provision of plant with screening
on the roofs and alterations to the feature tower on building 2. The proposed extensions and
alterations are considered to be acceptable.

It is recommended the Panel grants planning permission with the conditions listed in
Section 12 of this report.

2. REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION

e The Council's Constitution does not give the Head of Planning delegated powers to
determine the application in the way recommended; such decisions can only be made by the
Panel.

3. DESCRIPTIONOF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

3.1 The site occupies a corner plot fronting Arthur Road and Goswell Road. The entrance to the site
is from Arthur Road by the roundabout. Adjacent to the site in Arthur Road are two storey terrace
houses. On the opposite side of Goswell Road is the Travel Lodge Hotel and King Edward Court
car park. The site is identified as an employment site in the adopted Local Plan.

3.2 The application site is separated from the Conservation Area by Goswell Road. The site location
is also to the west of the Grade Il listed Windsor and Eton Royal Station, and to the south of the
arches which adjoin the station.

4. KEY CONSTRAINTS
4.1  The site is within an area liable to flooding.
5. DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY
5.1 The proposal includes provision of an additional floor to the two office buildings, new entrances, a

rear extension to building 1 (adjacent to the railway arches), provision of plant with screening on
the roofs and alterations to the feature tower on building 2.

Application Ref Description of Works Decision and Date

207



Original Redevelopment of former Gas Board site, | Permission granted
Permission Noahs Ark PH & No0s.3-15 Arthur Road to | 22/12/1997
97/75707/FULL provide 1 no.3-storey & 1 no.4-storey
office building (7625sgm),244 space multi-
storey car park & access via new Goswell
Rd /Charles St roundabout

99/78635/FULL Provision of railings and gate between | Permission 15/11/1999
buildings 1 and 2.

99/78636/FULL Front entrance lobby Permission 15/11/1999

99/78646/FULL First floor extension to house generator Permission 24/11/1999

06/02858/FULL Erection of pump room and sprinkler | Permission 10/1/2007
water storage tank.

6. DEVELOPMENT PLAN
Adopted Royal Borough Local Plan (2003)

6.1 The main Development Plan policies applying to the site are:

Issue Adopted Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance DGL, H10,H11
of area
Conservation and Listed Buildings CA2, LB2
Highways P4 AND T5
Trees N6
Employment Area E1l
Flooding F1

These policies can be found at
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local plan documents and appendices

7. MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

National Planning Policy Framework Sections (NPPF) (2019)

Section 4- Decision—making

Section 9- Promoting Sustainable Transport

Section 12- Achieving well-designed places

Section 13- Protecting Green Belt land

Section 14- Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Section 16- Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version

Issue Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance
of area SP2, SP3
Sustainable Transport IF2
Historic Environment HE1
Flood risk NR1

Borough Local Plan: Submission Version Proposed Changes (2019)

208


https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/downloads/download/154/local_plan_documents_and_appendices

7.1

7.2

7.3

7.4

8.1

8.2

Issue Local Plan Policy
Design in keeping with character and appearance

of area QP1,QP3
Sustainable Transport IF2
Historic Environment HE1
Flood risk NR1

The NPPF sets out that decision-makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans
according to their stage of preparation. The Borough Local Plan Submission Document was
published in June 2017. Public consultation ran from 30 June to 27 September 2017. Following
this process the Council prepared a report summarising the issues raised in the representations
and setting out its response to them. This report, together with all the representations received
during the representation period, the plan and its supporting documents was submitted to the
Secretary of State for independent examination in January 2018. The Submission Version of the
Borough Local Plan does not form part of the statutory development plan for the Borough.

In December 2018, the examination process was paused to enable the Council to undertake
additional work to address soundness issues raised by the Inspector. Following completion of
that work, in October 2019 the Council approved a series of Proposed Changes to the BLPSV
which are now out to public consultation until Sunday, 15 December 2019. All representations
received will be reviewed by the Council to establish whether further changes are necessary
before the Proposed Changes are submitted to the Inspector. In due course the Inspector will
resume the Examination of the BLPSV. The BLPSV and the BLPSV together with the Proposed
Changes are therefore material considerations for decision-making. However, given the above
both should be given limited weight.

These documents can be found at:
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/blp

Supplementary Planning Documents

e RBWM Interpretation of Policy F1

Other Local Strategies or Publications

Other Strategies or publications material to the proposal are:
. RBWM Townscape Assessment
° RBWM Parking Strategy

More information on these documents can be found at:
https://www3.rbwm.qgov.uk/info/200414/local development framework/494/supplementary planni

ng
CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Comments from interested parties

18 occupiers were notified directly of the application. The planning officer posted a notice
advertising the application at the site on 10" September 2019 and the application was advertised
in the local press on 12" September 2019.

1 letter from the Windsor and Eton Society was received objecting to the application, summarised
as:

209


https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/blp
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning
https://www3.rbwm.gov.uk/info/200414/local_development_framework/494/supplementary_planning

Where in the report this is

Comment y
considered

1. | Adverse impacton local residents. The mass and | It considered that the impact on local
height of the proposed development will residents is acceptable. See
exacerbate the overbearing impactin relation to paragraphs 9.27 -9.28 below.
houses in proximity in Arthur Road. Increased
overlooking. An increased mass at the top of the
building together with larger windows on the top
floors, are of concern with regard to residents’
amenity.

2. | Parking pressures There has been no objection from
the Highway Authority. See
paragraphs 9.29-9.35 below and
Informative 6 in Section 12.

3. | The Windsor Dials office development was The planning officer report states:
originally permitted on appeal in 1988. Various “Whist the relationship of this
amendments were granted in 1997. At the time, scheme with the two storey houses
the Council wrote: “Relationship of this scheme will never be ideal, this arrangement
with 2 storey terraced houses will never be ideal.” | does offer a distinct streetscape

improvement over its predecessor’.

4. | The proposed increases would make the top of the | The proposed development is
buildings appear even more obvious above the considered to be acceptable in terms
distinctive historic Brunel railway arches and of its impact on the street scene and
detract from the view from Alexandra Gardens. in relation to existing buildings,

structures and public open spaces.
See paragraphs 9.16-9.26 below.

5. | The proposals lessen the interest of the buildings | The proposed alterations are
by removal/alterations of architectural original considered acceptable. See
detail. paragraphs 9.16-9.26 below

6. | The application form advises that the number of The Highway Authority has raised no
employees is projected to be increased by 1,233. | objection and is satisfied that there is
This is a substantial number and there are no no need for additional on-site
proposals regarding parking. Additional parking parking. See paragraphs 9.29-9.35
could only be provided at the expense of the site’s | below.
current attractive landscaping.

7. | The location is a sustainable one — however no The Highway Authority has raised no
Travel Plan has been submitted. It is essential objection and has not requested a
that a Travel Plan is submitted. Travel Plan for this development.

The decision notice will include an
informative advising the applicant
that the occupants shall not be
granted business permits in any of
the RBWM car park. See paragraphs
9.29-9.35 below and Informative 6 in
section 12.

Consultees

Consultee

Comment

Where in the report this is

considered.

Highways No objection — a condition has been
recommended to secure details of the
cycle parking. An informative is
suggested about the design of the cycle

store and to advise the applicant that

210

See paragraphs 9.29 -9.35 below
Condition 4 in Section 12 and
Informative 8 in Section 12.




no business parking permits for any of
the RBWM car parks, would be issued
to future occupiers.

Environment
Agency

No objection to the FRA with
Addendum and additional drawings to
show void and opening to the proposed
ground floor.. A condition is suggested
to ensure that the development is
carried out in accordance with FRA,
Addendum and Additional plans and
specified mitigation measures. A
conditon is  required regarding
contamination.

See paragraphs 9.5 -9.15;
Conditions 5 and 7 in Section 12
below and informatives 1 and 2
below.

Conservation

No objection - a condition is
recommended to secure the details of
external materials.

See paragraphs 9.16 -9.26 below
and Condition 2 in Section 12
below.

Ecology

No objection — conditions suggested to
secure ecology mitigation.

See paragraphs 9.36 -9.39 below.
See Condition 8 in Section 12 and
informative 9 in Section 12 .

Lead Local
Flood
Authority

No objection. The proposed
development will have little impact on
existing impermeable areas, and the
existing surface water drainage network
and its outfall have been adequately
demonstrated. In view of this, and the
developments location and nature, the
Lead Local Flood Authority has no
objection to this application.

Comments noted.

Environmental
Protection

No objections raised. The permitted
working hours within the Borough are
different to those quoted in the
applicant’s submissions. The applicant
is advised:

Al works and ancillary operations
including site deliveries which are
audible at the site boundary, or at such
other place as may be agreed with the
Local Planning Authority, shall be
carried out only between the following
hours:

08 00 Hours and 18 00 Hours on
Mondays to Fridays and 08 00 and 13
00 Hours on Saturdays and; at no time
on Sundays and Bank Holidays.

Condition are also recommended
regarding the provision of equipment in
accordance with the recommendations
of the noise report and the
manufacture’s specifications; and
measures to be taken if contamination
is found at the site.

The advice about the Borough’s
working hours can be via an
informative. See informative 3 in
Section 12 below. A condition is
not considered appropriate as
construction noise and
disturbance can be controlled by
Environmental Protection
Legislation.

Conditions regarding provision of
noise mitigation measures and for
contamination can be dealt with
by way of conditions. See
Conditions 5 and 6 in Section 12
below.

211




0.

9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

Others

Wherein the

Comment report this is
considered.
No objection. Informatives/advice notes suggested. See
Water Informatives 4,
5and 7 in
Section 12
below.

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION
The key issues for consideration are:
[ Principle of providing additional office space
i Flooding considerations
iii Impact on the street scene and surrounding area
iv Impact on neighbouring properties
vii  Impact on highways and parking
Vi Ecology
Principle of providing additional office space

The site is identified as an Employment Area in the adopted Local Plan that is just beyond the
boundary of Windsor Town Centre Commercial Centre — Employment area E1 in Local Plan.
Policy E1 states: “ Business, industrial and warehousing development will usually be restricted
to the employment areas identified on the proposals map. “

The application is identified as an Employment Site and is subject to emerging Policy ED2 of
the Borough Local Plan Submitted Version (BLPSV), which states that within industrial,
business and mixed use areas, development proposals that improve and upgrade the facilities
available to support businesses will be supported.

In principle the provision of 2246 sq m additional office space on this site, does not conflict with
the above-mentioned policies.

Flooding considerations
The NPPF and National Planning Practice Guidance advises that applications for non-

residential extensions with a footprint of less than 250 square metres should not be subject to
the Sequential Test or Exception Test.

212



9.6

9.7

9.8

9.9

9.10

9.11

The proposed development involves an extension to the roof of the buildings and this element
of the scheme would not increase the footprint of the building. The proposals also involve
extensions to the existing reception areas on Building 1 and 2, and a rear extension to Building
1. In total these three elements which would result in additional footprint in the order of
approximately 105 sq metres. As such the sequential and exceptions test are not applicable in
this instance.

The site appears to fall within Flood Zone 3a and Flood Zone 2. The site is surrounded by Flood
Zone 3a and the central part of the site is within flood zone 2. Policy F1 of the Local Plan
relates to areas within the 1:100 year probability of flooding (Flood Zone 3). This policy advises
that within the area liable to flood as shown on the proposals map, or within other areas subject
to flooding, development will not be permitted for new residential or non-residential
development, including extensions in excess of 30 sq metres, unless it can be demonstrated to
the satisfaction of the Borough Council, that the proposal would not of itself or cumulatively in
conjunction with other development:

1) impede the flow of water;
2) reduce the capacity of the flood plain to store water; or
3) increase the number of people or properties at risk from flooding.

For the purposes of this policy, new development will be taken to include:
i) intensification of existing development through redevelopment or subdivision;

The SPD, Interpretation of Policy F1 — Area Liable to Flood provides further information on the
Local Plan flooding policy.

Paragraph 163 of the NPPF advises that when determining any planning applications, local
planning authorities should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. Where
appropriate, applications should be supported by a site-specific flood-risk assessment.
Development should only be allowed in areas at risk of flooding where, in the light of this
assessment (and the sequential and exception tests, as applicable) it can be demonstrated that:

e within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest flood risk,
unless there are overriding reasons to prefer a different location;

e the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient;

e it incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that this would
be inappropriate;
any residual risk can be safely managed; and

e safe access and escape routes are included where appropriate, as part of an agreed
emergency plan.

The applicants submitted a site specific Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) with the application and
following an initial objection from the Environment Agency (EA), the applicants submitted an
Addendum to the FRA. The EA has advised that an appropriate assessment of the impacts of
climate change on flood risk has been undertaken within the Flood Risk Assessment Addendum
(thus overcoming their original objection). See Condition 7 in Section 12 below.

From the levels shown on the topography survey in Appendix 4 of the submitted Flood Risk
Assessment (FRA), it can be seen that there is only one section of the proposed expansion (to
the north of Building 1) which is in the 1% annual exceedance probability (AEP) flood extent
(Flood Zone 3). It is noted that this proposed extension (to the north of building 1) does not
exceed 30 square metres; however, a previous extension granted permission in 2006 (for a
pump room and sprinkler water storage tank 06/02858) also in flood zone 3 (and just under
approximately 30 sg metres) would also count against the Policy F1, 30 square metre
allowance.

213



9.12

9.13

9.14

9.15

9.16

9.17

9.18

Nevertheless, mitigation for the proposed extension in the form of a void has been provided for
the loss in floodplain storage, as shown in drawing number 19057-HALE-B1-ZZ-DR-A-PL1040,
with a soffit level of 20.85 mAOD. The EA has confirmed that the earlier concerns have been
adequately addressed and, subject to the conditions, they therefore withdraw their previous
objection, (dated 25 September 2019). They have suggested an informative to be included on
the decision notice advising that the EA recommends that the soffit levels of the voids are
raised as high as possible (ideally above the 1% AEP plus an appropriate allowance for climate
change flood level). In addition, they recommend that the voids are open rather than using
louvres (as proposed) to ensure there are no obstructions to flood flows entering the void
spaces. However, they also advise that if void openings are a security risk, then vertical steel
bars placed at 100mm centres can be installed. An informative is included with this advice. See
informative 1 in Section 12.

Given the size of the footprint of the proposed new rear extension and the proposed void, the
LPA is satisfied that the new plant room would be a floodable structure, which would not affect
the flood storage capacity in this instance.

The applicant has advised that in the event of flood waters having reached the site it is unlikely
that a dry egress route would be available at the site to land a low risk of flooding. It is noted
that the site is located within an area for which the EA offers a Flood Warning service. ltis also
noted that flood waters for this area are slow rising. The FRA advises that prior to occupation of
the proposed development, tenants would be encouraged to produce a Flood Warning
Evacuation Plan (FWEP), in order to record contingency measures that would be drawn up for
the safety of occupants of the proposed development with access and egress routes to be
included in the FWEP. This approach is welcomed.

However, as the proposal is for extensions to an existing office building and intended for office
purposes, it is not considered that safe access and escape routes during a time of flooding can
be made a prerequisite for the development, in this instance. Furthermore, it is not considered
necessary to for the Council to require the FWEP to be secured by way of a condition or legal
agreement.

Impact on the street scene and surrounding area

The existing buildings (Windsor Dials) are very large, prominent and distinctive buildings in the
street scene. Windsor Dials is a late C20 modern development located to the west of Windsor
Town Centre Conservation Area. It is separated from the Conservation Area by Goswell Road.
The site location is also to the west of the Grade Il listed Windsor and Eton Royal Station, and
to the south of the arches which adjoin the station. The building is also opposite the seven
storey travel lodge which sits within the border of the Conservation Area.

The existing buildings comprise four storeys, with buff brick and grey casements window details.
The roof is pitched with grey finish above a glazed storey at third floor. The buildings individually
are L shaped in plan form and sit at perpendicular angles to one another on the site. The
buildings are accessed via the south entrance for vehicles and the north east entrance for
pedestrians.

Building 1 is the one nearest to the railway and Building 2 is nearest to Arthur Road.

The proposals include:

- new extended double storey height entrances to buildings 1 and 2,

- extensions at roof level involving the removal of the existing pitched roofs and the
provision of a fifth storey on buildings 1 and 2;

- rear extension to building 1 to a provide a plant room at ground floor and office spaces on
the upper 3 floors

- a plant enclosure above a new fifth storey on buildings 1 and 2.

214



9.19

9.20

9.21

9.22

9.23

9.24

9.25

9.26

- remodelling/recladding of the tower feature on building 1.
- the removal of trees behind/to the north of building 2
- new landscaping within the central courtyard between buildings 1 and 2.

The new entrances would be double storey height and comprise large areas of glazing. The
new fifth storey extensions would have a flat roof and would provide additional office space.
The extensions would comprise large areas of glazing. It is noted that the overall height of the
proposed roof extension would not exceed the height of the existing pitched roofs. The
proposed glazing would help to minimise any additional volume to the building.

The proposed new plant screening/enclosures above on Buildings 1 and 2 would be set back
from side, rear and front elevations of the buildings and would extend approximately 2.2 metres
above the fifth floor roof level. Given the overall extent of this element it is not considered that
the plant screens would be readily visible from street level and would be visible only in longer
range views.

The rear extension to Building 1 would be immediately adjacent to the railway arches and as
such the lower floors would be screened from public views. The proposed feature corner tower
on Building 1 would be remodelled with the removal of circular brick pillars and the introduction
of curtain wall glazing and aluminium rainscreen cladding (mid grey).

A number of trees (10 in total) to the rear of building 1 are to be removed. These trees are of
limited public amenity and have restricted area in which to grow as they are in between the
building and the railway arches. There is no objection to the removal of these trees to enable
the provision of cycle storage and the rear extension to Building 1.

New landscaping and tree planting is proposed for the courtyard area between Buildings 1 and
2 — including a number of new trees, which is welcomed. The applicants have submitted
amended plans which now show the retention of six trees T19 -25 adjacent to Goswell Road.
These were shown for removal and replacement on the originally submitted drawings. These
trees are important features in the street scene and help to soften the appearance of the
building in Goswell Road.

The applicants have submitted a Heritage and Townscape Assessment which includes images
and a visual representation of the existing and proposed extensions in the context of the
adjacent street scenes. The Council's Conservation Officer has been consulted on the
application and has raised no objection. The proposed alterations to Windsor Dials are not
considered to negatively alter the setting of the Windsor Town Centre or nearby Listed Building
and therefore do not cause harm to the significance of these Heritage Assets.

The raising of the roof, change in roof line from pitched to flat, introduction of a plant roof, and
introduction of a higher amount of glazing, are all elements of the design which will alter the
scale and appearance of the existing buildings. These changes however are considered to be
neutral changes when read in the context of the heritage assets. The materials chosen are
sympathetic and, when viewed in relation to the Heritage Assets, most notably the Grade I
station and its adjoining bridge, the proposals do not create an offensive dominance, but form
part of the already very modern background.

The edge of the Conservation Area is already formed by the large King Edward Court, and so
the changes made to the existing buildings will have no visual impact on the Conservation Area.
The Conservation Officer is supportive of the application. The Council has, in considering this
planning application, had special regard to the desirability of preserving the setting of listed
building/s, as required under Section 66(1) [jof the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation
Areas) Act 1990. The Council has also paid special attention to the desirability of preserving or
enhancing the character or appearance of the conservation area, as required under Section
72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

215



9.27

9.28

9.29

9.30

9.31

9.32

9.33

9.34

9.35

Impact on neighbouring properties

The nearest residential property is No. 19 Albert Road. Given the separation distances, the
height and scale of the existing building and the fact that there are existing windows in the end
of Building 1 and side of Building 2, it is considered that it would be difficult to argue that the
proposed extensions would give rise to significant additional impact (including loss of out
outlook or privacy) on the neighbours. Furthermore, it is considered that the proposals wold not
give rise to any additional loss of daylight or sunlight to neighbouring properties.

The proposals are considered to be satisfactory in terms of the impact on the Travel Lodge on
the opposite side of Goswell Road.

Highways and Parking

Permission is sought to increase the B1 use within the site from 7,625m? (GIA) to 9,871m?2
(GIA), an increase of 2,246m?2. The development also proposes providing 42 additional cycle
parking spaces.

The site currently comprises two B1 (office) buildings supported by 15 car parking spaces,
including 5 disabled spaces and 22 cycle parking spaces. The site is located to the west of
Goswell Road and is served by a vehicular access taken from the Goswell Road/Charles
Street/Arthur Road roundabout. The site also benefits from a pedestrian access onto Goswell
Road. The applicant proposes no changes to the existing access arrangement.

It is noted that the site is served by a number of surface car parking spaces and there is a multi-
storey car park located immediately to the west of Building 1. The proposals also involve
converting 4 existing parking bays into electric vehicle parking bays — which is welcomed by the
Highway Authority.

The development is located within an accessible town centre location where zero car parking
can be accepted. Given the location of the site and the proximity of nearby car parks including
Multi-storey car park, the Highway Authority is satisfied with the level of available on-site car
parking. Nevertheless, the Highway Authority has advised that for office developments in the
Borough’s town centre there is currently a moratorium in approving requests for public car
parking spaces. An informative is to be attached to the planning permission to advise the
applicant that the future occupants of the buildings will not be granted business permits in any
of the RBWMcar park. See Informative 6 in section 12 below.

The Highway Officer advises that all cycles should be stored in an enclosed facility that shelters
the bikes from the elements and it is recommended that the applicant submits a cycle parking
plan that complies with current best practices (e.g., The West London Cycle Parking Guidance).
See Condition 4 and Informative 8 in section 12 below.

The development proposes no changes to the existing serving arrangement. To determine the
impact of the development onto the local highway network, the applicant’s transport consultant
has interrogated the TRICS database. The results suggest that during the AM and PM peak
periods, the extended B1 use (2,246m?), could potentially generate 19 and 15 two-way trips
respectively. It is considered that the proposal is unlikely to have an appreciable impact on traffic
movements in the vicinity.

The application is accompanied by a document titled Construction, Demolition and Site Waste
Management Plan including Logistics. The measures proposed to ensure that the demolition and
construction works do not impact on those residing and commuting in the area are generally
considered acceptable. In summary, the proposed extension of the B1 use within the site raises
no highway concerns with respectto parking and traffic generation.

216



9.36

9.37

9.38

9.39

10.

10.1

11.

12.

Ecology Issue

The Council's Ecologist has commented on the proposals. An Ecological Impact Assessment
was carried out in July 2019 and submitted with the application.

The ornamental shrubs and trees on site have the potential to support breeding birds. Breeding
birds, their eggs and active nests are protected by the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as
amended. Works to the vegetation should be undertaken outside of the bird-nesting season or, if
that is not practical, areas to be cleared should be checked immediately prior to clearance by a
suitability qualified ecologist. The Council’'s Ecologist has advised that should the Local Planning
Authority be minded to grant planning permission, this advice should be incorporated in an
Informative. An informative has been included — see informative 9 in Section 12.

The site was recorded as having negligible potential to support badgers, great crested newts,
toads, reptiles and was found to have no significant value for invertebrates. The buildings and
trees on site had negligible potential to support roosting, foraging and commuting bats.

In line with paragraph 175 of the NPPF and Policy NR3 of the emerging Borough Local Plan,
opportunities for wildlife should be incorporated into the development. The applicant’'s ecologist
has suggested a number of enhancements including the incorporation of bird boxes (in particular
swift and starling boxes) on to the buildings and the installation of two hedgehog houses at the
site. The Council’'s Ecologist has advised that these enhancements should be secured via
planning condition. As such, a condition is to be included on the planning permission. See
Condition 8 in Section 12.

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)

The development is not CIL liable.

APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

e Appendix A - Site location plan and site layout
e Appendix B — Plan and elevation drawings

CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED FOR INCLUSION IF PERMISSION IS GRANTED

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced within three years from the date of this
permission.

Reason: To accord with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(as amended).

Prior to the installation of new external surfaces on the buildings taking place, full details of all
the materials to be used for these external surfaces shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out and maintained in
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policies - DGL.

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation of any part of the development, or in
accordance with a programme first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall be retained in accordance with the approved details. If within a period of five
years from the date of planting of any tree or shrub shown on the approved landscaping plan,
that tree or shrub, or any tree or shrub planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted or
destroyed or dies, or becomes seriously damaged or defective, another tree or shrub of the same
species and size as that originally planted shall be planted in the immediate vicinity.

Reason: To ensure satisfactory landscaping of the site in the interests of visual amenity.

217



Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1, N6.

4 No part of the development shall be occupied until covered and secure cycle parking facilities
have been provided in accordance with details that have first been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. These facilities shall always thereafter be kept available
for the parking of cycles in association with the development.

Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to
encourage the use of alternative modes of transport. Relevant Policies - Local Plan T7, DG1

5 If, during development, contamination ( including soil and water) not previously identified is found

to be present at the site development must be halted (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the
local planning authority). Such contamination must be reported in writing immediately to the
Local Planning Authority and an investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken detailing
how this contamination will be dealt with and shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by,
the LPA prior to any further development taking place. Where remediation is necessary a
remediation scheme must be prepared and shall be subject to the prior approval in writing of the
Local Planning Authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at unacceptable
risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil or water pollution from previously
unidentified contamination sources at the development site. To ensure that risks from land
contamination to the future users of the land and the neighbouring land are minimised, together
with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the
development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and
other offsite receptors. Relevant policies - Paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF), policy NAP4 of the adopted Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead
Local Plan Including Alterations June 2003. The Without this condition the Environment Agency
would object to the proposal in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy
Framework because it cannot be guaranteed that the development will not be put at
unacceptable risk from, or be adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution.

6 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the recommendations and proposals set
out in the Noise Assessment and Ventilation Statement submitted with this application and the
installation of any proposed equipment shall be carried out in accordance with the manufacturer's
instructions.

Reason: To ensure that there is no unacceptable noise impact on neighbouring properties.
Relevant policies - adopted Local Plan NAP3.

7 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted flood risk assessment (ref
dated 12 August 2019 and prepared by Ramboll), the Flood Risk Assessment Addendum (dated
3 October 2019 and prepared by Ramboll) and drawing number 19057-HALE-B1-ZZ-DR-A-
PL1040 (titled 'Building 1 Ground floor plan Plant room extension’, Revision P1, dated 24 October
2019 and prepared by Hale) and the following mitigation measures they detail:

Finished floor levels shall be set no lower than 21.25 metres above Ordnance Datum (AOD)
Voids spaces and openings to be implemented as shown - the height of the voids spaces
and openings will be no lower than 20.85 metres AOD.par These mitigation measures shall be
fully implemented prior to occupation. The measures detailed above shall be retained and
maintained thereafter throughout the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants as well
as to prevent flooding elsewhere by ensuring that compensatory storage of flood water is
provided, in accordance with paragraph 163 of the NPPF and emerging policy NR1 of Borough
Local Plan Submission Version 2013-2033.

8 The ecological enhancements as set out in the Ecology Impact Assessment (by Clarkson and
Woods dated July 2019) including the incorporation of bird boxes (in particular swift and starling
boxes) on to the buildings and the installation of two hedgehog houses at the site, shall be
carried out in accordance with the recommendation of the report.

Reason: In the interests of biodiversity. Relevant policies - paragraph 175 of the NPPF (2019)
and Policy NR3 of the Borough Local Plan Submission Version 2013-2033..

Informatives

1 Advice to Applicant on Void design: It is recommended that the soffit levels of the voids are

218



raised as high as possible (ideally above the 1% AEP plus an appropriate allowance for climate
change flood level). In addition, we recommend that the voids are open rather than using louvres
to ensure there are no obstructions to flood flows entering the void spaces. If void openings are a
security risk, then vertical steel bars placed at 100mm centres can be installed.

Advice to applicant on contaminated land:

The previous use of the proposed development site as a gas works presents a high risk of
contamination that could be mobilised during construction to pollute controlled waters. It is noted
that depth limited remedial works have been previously carried out on-site, however the
Environment Agency is unaware of the extent or success of this remediation. It is therefore very
important that any areas of unexpected contamination are appropriately remediated. Controlled
waters are particularly sensitive in this location because the proposed development site is within
source protection zone 2 and is located upon a principal aquifer (the Shepperton Gravel
Member). The groundwater level is interpreted to be less than 3m below ground level in this area
because the site is approximately 250 m from the River Thames and the Shepperton Gravel
Member is highly likely to be in hydraulic continuity with the river. Due to the proposed
substructure alterations to both Building 1 and 2 associated with the construction of new
entrance/reception areas, there is a high risk that any contamination present would pollute
controlled waters if mobilised during construction. Without Condition 5 the Environment Agency
would object to the proposal in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy
Framework because it cannot be guaranteed that the development will not be put at
unacceptable risk from, or be adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution.

The applicant is advised that in order to comply with the permit construction working hours
within the Borough, all works and ancillary operations including site deliveries which are audible
at the site boundary, or at such other place as may be agreed with the Local Planning Authority,
shall be carried out only between the following hours: 08 00 Hours and 18 00 Hours on Mondays
to Fridays and 08 00 and 13 00 Hours on Saturdays and; at no time on Sundays and Bank
Holidays.

With regard to SURFACE WATER drainage, Thames Water advise that if the developer follows
the sequential approach to the disposal of surface water they would have no objection. Where
the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames Water
Developer Services will be required. Should the applicant require further information please
refer to Thames Water website.(https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-
site/Apply-and-pay-for-services/Wastewaterservices). Thames Water would advise that with
regard to FOUL WATER sewerage network infrastructure capacity, Thames Water would not
have any objection to the above planning application, based on the information provided.

Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m head (approx 1
bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves Thames Waters pipes. The
developer should take account of this minimum pressure in the design of the proposed
development.

The applicant is advised that future occupants of the buildings will not be granted business
permits in any of the RBWM car park.

Thames water advise that there are water mains crossing or close to your development. Thames
Water do NOT permit the building over or construction within 3m of water mains. If you're
planning significant works near our mains (within 3m) we'll need to check that your development
doesn't reduce capacity, limit repair or maintenance activities during and after construction, or
inhibit the services we provide in any other way. The applicant is advised to read our guide
working near or diverting our pipes (https://developers.thameswater.co.uk/Developing-a-large-
site/Planning-your-development/W orking-nearor-diverting-our-pipes). If the applicant is intending
to using mains water for construction purposes, it is important to notify Thames Water before
starting to use it, to avoid potential fines for improper usage. More information and how to apply
can be found online at thameswater.co.uk/building water. On the basis of information provided,

219



Thames Water would advise that with regard to water network and water treatment infrastructure
capacity, they would not have any objection to the planning application.

It is recommended that the applicant submits a cycle parking plan that complies  with current
best practices (e.g., The West London Cycle Parking Guidance).

Works to the vegetation should be undertaken outside of the bird-nesting season or, if that is not
practical, areas to be cleared should be checked immediately prior to clearance by a suitability
gualified ecologist

220



APPENDIX A

19/02416/FULL - Windsor Dials, Arthur Road, Windsor.

oo
wos [T 0
Lﬂ.ﬂ\ ITvas
Y,

N

niepurog dusisung ||

i

ev@osTicL s
ue|4 uonesoT

£291£00010 fening soueupaQ g1.07 SIBU eseqelep pue Jybukdos umai) @

| Arthur Road

221



19/02416/FULL — Windsor Dials, Arthur Road, Windsor

APPENDIX B
Building 1

Chan1eBi Tl umacs pomd ) ey 5
e o oo sy 5

s Supsers iy Bugsime b b R 3
"ii“ Bummgimwmes T =
AT SIVIHILVW — Lo ]
rrBooc s amg 00z | e
uogena3 Buine4 ynog pasodoud - LBUIDING Z() uogena(3 Bumed 1se3 pasodaud - LBuping |
0 s 1T
R NI T T I -l - | =y :
- . O j = ] :
T | - man :
— 0 =H | - n H |
|11 i T I R ) i
ST GITTT | [N NN ENRREA|
- T
P i = i
ﬁ © © 0o© 0 ® o
|
P — S —
i
w800z | enE wOooC L WS
uegena|3 Buipey yinos Bupsea - LBupina ) uogesa(3 Buse yse3 Bugseca - L Bupmng | 1)

iEgEEREE

A T
e

| 1
T
1

T 1| 3
1 o o |
O co.a

s

\gi—“_'_‘ '_"_'_'_ _'

IT1TETTT]

v TEwess | ) [ o]

222



Building 1

e

(hmrD-Tetr omros emd o e D
Gar o A P U S

uayers3 Buney EBZ_UEEHHMNO uoieas3 Buwey jssy pasoday u;—im-rl,h_““_._”_
nOoo oodop NEEEEEED: Doo[oo00
ooog ioooao 55=H BB 00DOppo0o0o
oooo 10000 FHH HeaH B ooofoooQ
[T BT T T T O] [ 1 O O O A
ITTTTTTITTIT [ Hirrerd  BE =— [T T AT ml
_V , | | e o o
(HIRRUAII§ A
[T e} :.__.ﬁ B e |
uogeas Buoe | yuoN Bugsi ..ﬂ-ﬂr“w: uogessiy Bue jsap Bugsecy .,..—JI.H“!...M 10
10000l = L “ SH || B .WDMEEDDE
10000f ol |0 joooof OO BoF O ([ 0 Ofioooof
10000f o 0 jooooj HH B EHE [ BB (fDOC0fiDo0O00f
|| I I ———m |
=40
_ | | v

223



bd DE0ETE-Y-HO-00-1 8-TTWH-LE06

o By

0E:

L2061
]

i
Dasodold - 00w pnass - | fuping 7o
pesodauy § Bugsng

ueyd Jooy punaug) \

 Buee 7

SiEig J0spuip ﬁ J =,
s

e

aley 1)

]

oEminm un

e wag
Crmt s some ooy e i i

b

Bupesa - oo punessy - | Bupang g

=
ha|

%
A

Building 1

224



OV Tt V-H L0 E TTVH 2508

i Jospu
=

aley

||

L1

Building 1

225



Building 1

id _N._“. Y4070 8- 3TVH LS06)

4 dma

DCE: 12051
e i

pasodoyy § Bugsog
wed Jo0g pusoss
1 Bugng

oy oy

SIEI] JOSPUIM
ey

o 175 e et A

aley

oGwnyO

D290d0d - 00 DUoEs - L fupine 7o

8 1

\ =]
)
T
O 0
T
LA T
_ _

226



Building 1

bd EMDIEY-HO-E0- 18- TVH LS060
oy iAoy

ooz L5061
Dmes e

pesodoyy 5 Bugsee
uejd s00g pag L

1 Bupgng

Sy

SIEI JOSPUIM
o

A 53 ) Ty mTamge T

°ley

s v e g v

e
ps0d0.d - 1004 ML - | Buping 20

e
Gupssa - 00 PadL - | Bupang g

A e— re—

|

227



Building 1

Ld D d-¥-HO+0-L9-3TvH-L G061
= i
0o e 28 B
ey ey pesodaig - 0014 no4 - | fuping Zo
pasodau 3 Bupsi
weyd 100y unoy
Bupsng
et}
S Josputy %
=]
S e —
ey =
“dogwrvD =
Jp——
—— ——
] T
1 —_—
N
Er e
— S
g
—
enT
-t
Bugspa - 0014 Unog - | Bupang g
s
_ T
o |
| 1
—

228



Building 1

H H
; i

229

Bups - umdome - BupmE L0




Building 2

mmn glgd HE HH =
T By ool )
- mii= 0|0LEEdH 85 HH
HIE _ il T
u = TRRER | R T | IR .
[ I T I
= _ N O | | M)
L S
= 2
uoneAs|3 buioe 1SaM bunst buping Z
B Ftee O/0 IE
B = 0|0 0
— mm gig d
_ .
=r

w0 B W

éﬁ

230



i ey Eﬁ
et L5061 ——
womn vty U ) e st s

e o pus w5

S| [FT—— —— T
280 o ®

oo 3 o 3 fumg o T
IOV NS0 | SnuaRUHTEY b N

S 10sPUM aley e o = v et e

= R E=E
o s Bt
uogea3 Buwe ynog pasodoid - ZBupeng Z() uogesars Bupe jse3 pasodaig - g Buiping | ()

alies Satsa = R T | A8 b EE R B
[ aaiz = Sl oo 1o JU0| | oolEEon . il ;55w
07 = i gg O - L HWDDE“ 00oo0ogo
= = ‘I [l [ | O
TE NERRNAN
I
) - ol
uoneazi3 Burey yinos Bugsia .-mﬂ_ﬂh_ﬂm Z0 uonerar3 Buoe) 13 Bugsecy ._ML%L!IM_.O

|

IT
=

[=i=]=z

|
il
i
o
=]

o o
.
T

ol £ [ 00 ]

EE A

T
i

Ly

"
h

Building 2

231




bd OMOMI-HO 00283 TVH- L2061

| ety

DOE: 15051
@ ]

pasodoiy  Bupsiy
ueyd 100y punosg
7 Bupeng

e

oz e
‘S[EIg JOspUly pasodald - Jood punos -z Bupana Zp
=

oo "
FrE T pr—r 3

aley ‘ w?f

NGSRRvD) gik . ceimtenen | o ===

ama . .

W oonmwox  ems = avnmnds a0

r——
Bunsoa - sood punas - ZBuping 1o

s 3z

Building 2

232



Building 2

id _ 04 7d V001028 S TVH 22068

e

ooz 7 e
- S

pasodal g Bupsig
uejd sooy S5
7 Suppng

-

SIEIQ 0SPUI
=]

EaE=re—r

ajey

L]

i
L BEITY I

Bugzz - w0 jud - 2 Bupng L0

]

233



Building 2

id _N._u.._n_‘d_in_‘w_uwmm‘m._uiﬂ.m_um

ey

oozt L3061
s —

pasodalg 7 Bugsig
werd Joog puoses

7 Bupng

e

T —

o
pEsodig - ool puss - 2 fupng. 20

woesen| T — .
aley Zd
Lo
s ¥
— = e
__ _ E
o o e T E VB
2=t
LH
?:.ﬁ.icﬂg.“wum_um 1o
T
| T
I T
e
| )
| ~

234



Building 2

ld L0 Y-HO-€028-TTWH LC06!

o

12081
b

pasodaly g Bunshg
we(d Joog gL

z Bupmng

my oomeny

S[EI] Jospul
=

T Temapr——

Sey

“doGwrvD

-
=

posndaid - Joois L -2 BUPING 20

gy
. [
o e e —|

-
Bugsoc - oo Bt -2 6upwng 10
N _
1 B

235



Building 2

bd [PhOIIY-HO-HITE-TTVH-LS00!
£ ey

Bupsis - oo e -7 Bapng 10

236



P i) e

Ko 00106 2651
e birtd
6102 wre- W wBesz
[

e

uedsmisew ecesspun

S 575 10mu 'S0 TN
o

P SSEUL ORIRG SRE VG

o s

5410 VL0 N BLLEVE EAPI0 1

e zzne

e
ey g

oAnvedsIod adesspue|

Bumap s
0y SUOBLSID A5 4 10U B BODSAIT)

w0z

9BpUqI004

ssed JeD Aasoisniniy

237



This page is intentionally left blank



WINDSOR

Appeal Ref.:
Appellant:

Decision Type:
Description:

Location:

Appeal Decision:

Main Issue:

Agenda Item 12

Appeal Decision Report

29 October 2019 - 25 November 2019

19/60044/REF 18/03418/FULL Pins Ref.:  APP/T0355/D/19/

3226877
Mr Tony Cowey The Design Works 32 Grange Road

Planning Ref.:

Mrs Alison Keenan c/o Agent:

Plympton PL7 2HY
Delegated Refuse

Two storey front and rear extensions, extend existing first floor rear balcony, side chimney
and alterations to fenestration to include new windows.

Foxley Green Cottage Ascot Road Holyport Maidenhead SL6 3LD
11 November 2019

Officer Recommendation:

Dismissed Decision Date:

The Inspector considered all of the matters raised in support of the dewelopment and
concluded that collectively, they do not outweigh the totality of the harm she identified in
relation to the Green Belt. Accordingly, very special circumstances do not exist and the

dewelopment would be contrary to the very clear intention of the Framework to protect the
Green Belt by, amongst other means, preventing development that is inappropriate within it.

Appeal Ref.:

Appellant:

Decision Type:

Description:
Location:

Appeal Decision:

Main Issue:

19/60051/PRPA 19/00984/TPO APP/TPO/T035

5/7457

Mrs Sheila Turner c/o Agent: Mrs Celia Goddard Out There Trees Ltd Penny Farthing
Cottage Foxhills Road Ottershaw Chertsey Surrey KT16 OES

Officer Recommendation:

Planning Ref.: Plns Ref.:

Partial
Refusal/Partial
Approval

T1 Silver Birch: Fell and replant with Maple. T2 Tulip: Reduce canopy by 2m.

17 Woodlands Close Ascot SL5 9HU
Dismissed

Decision Date: 19 November 2019

The need for the works applied for must be weighed against the resultant substantial loss
of amenity to the locality. There is insufficient justification for the felling and the pruning
works.

239



Appeal Ref.:
Appellant:

Decision Type:
Description:

Location:

Appeal Decision:

Main Issue:

19/60058/REF 19/00430/FULL Pins Ref.:  APP/T0355/D/19/

3229921

Mrs Lesley Bushnell c/o Agent: Mr Duncan Gibson Duncan Gibson Consultancy 74
Parsonage Lane Windsor Berkshire SL4 5EN

Delegated Refuse

Single storey rear and first floor rear extensions, following part demolition of the existing
conservatory

3 Garfield Place Windsor SL4 3BT
Dismissed

Planning Ref.:

Officer Recommendation:

Decision Date: 19 November 2019

The Council did not object to the proposed ground floor rear extension and the Inspector
does not disagree with this. The main issue is the effect of the first floor extension on the
character and appearance of the area, including the Inner Windsor Consenvation Area. It is
recognised that the properties within the terrace are relatively unaltered and their identical
two storey rear projections create distinctive U shapes. This gives the properties visual
symmetry, an attractive feature that positively contributes to the terrace as a whole and this
part of the Conservation Area. The Inspector considers the proposed first floor extension
would fundamentally alter the U shaped feature and disrupt the existing balance and
arrangement of the terrace. Exacerbated by the change to the eawes line, this would harm
the character and appearance of the terrace and detract from the visual qualities of the
Consenvation Area. Although views of the proposed works from public vantage points would
be limited, they would still be visible from Alexandra Court's car park and from neighbouring
properties. It is concluded that the proposal does not preserve or enhance the Conservation
Area and it causes less than substantial harm to this heritage asset. There are no public
benefits to outweigh the harm caused. The proposal is contrary to saved policies CA2, DG1
and H14 of the RBWM Local Plan 1999, emerging policies HE1, HE3, SP2 and SP3 of BLP
Submission Version, as well as Paragraph 196 of the National Planning Policy Framework
20109.

Appeal Ref.:
Appellant:

Decision Type:
Description:
Location:

Appeal Decision:

Main Issue:

19/60077/REF 19/00351/FULL Pins Ref.:  APP/T0355/W/19/

3234314

Mr Candido Rodrigues c/o Agent: Mr Richard Simpson RJS Planning 132 Brunswick Road
London W5 1AW

Delegated

Planning Ref.:

Officer Recommendation: Refuse

Replacement dwelling
Garden Cottage Dry Arch Road Sunningdale Ascot SL5 0DB

Dismissed Decision Date: 5 November 2019

The inspector considered that the scheme represents inappropriate dewelopment in the
Green Belt, which is given substantial weight. As well as the harm by reason of
inappropriateness, the inspector considers that the dewelopment causes an additional small
loss of spatial and visual openness of the Green Belt when compared to the approved
dewelopment. The inspector concludes that limited weight should be given to the fall-back
position of the approved development and that other considerations such as the proposed
access improvements do not clearly outweigh the harm the development would cause to the
Green Belt.

240



Appeal Ref.:
Appellant:

Decision Type:
Description:

Location:

Appeal Decision:

Main Issue:

19/60092/REF 19/01427/FULL Pins Ref.:  APP/T0355/D/19/

3234893

Mr Manjit Jaswal c/o Agent: Mr Mav Sandhu Landmark Architecture And Planning The
Pillars Slade Oak Lane Gerrards Cross SL9 0QE

Delegated Refuse

New front canopy, single storey front extension, two storey rear extension, x2 front rooflights,
x1 rear rooflight, x2 rear dormers and alterations to fenestration (retrospective).

18 Waylands Wraysbury Staines TW19 5DZ
Dismissed

Planning Ref.:

Officer Recommendation:

Decision Date: 8 November 2019

The Inspector concluded that the factors in support of the proposal and all other relevant
considerations do not clearly outweigh the harm the development causes to the Green Belt.
Consequently, very special circumstances necessary to justify the dewvelopment do not exist.
As such, the development conflicts with policies GB1, GB2 and GB4 of the Local Plan and

the Framework which, amongst other things, seek to protect the Green Belt from
inappropriate development.

Appeal Ref.:
Appellant:

Decision Type:
Description:
Location:

Appeal Decision:

Main Issue:

19/60101/REF 19/01107/FULL APP/T0355/D/19/

3235624

Mrs C Curtis c/o Agent: Mr Kieran Rafferty KR Planning 183 Seafield Road Bournemouth
BH6 5LJ

Delegated

Planning Ref.: Plns Ref.:

Officer Recommendation: Refuse

Part two storey part single storey rear extension with 2no. rear dormers.
Meadow View Bedford Lane Sunningdale Ascot SL5 ONP

Allowed Decision Date: 14 November 2019

The Inspector concluded that the proposed development would not be unduly harmful to the
character and appearance of the host property or the area and would therefore comply with
Policies H14 and DGL1 of the Local Plan. It would also comply with the aims of Policy DG3.1
of the Ascot, Sunninghill and Sunningdale Neighbourhood Plan 2011 — 2026 (2014) which
requires all new development to demonstrate good quality design and respect the character
and appearance of the surrounding area, amongst other things. In addition to the standard

time limit condition the Inspector imposed a condition for the external materials to match the
existing dwelling in the interests of the visual character of the site and surroundings.

241



Appeal Ref.:

Appellant:
Decision Type:
Description:

Location:

Appeal Decision:

Main Issue:

19/60102/REF 19/00503/FULL Pins Ref.:  APP/T0355/D/19/

3228121
Mr Jeff Blight c/o Agent: Mr Philip Hurdwell PJH Design 41 Upcroft Windsor SL43NH
Delegated Refuse

x2 front rooflights, part single part two storey side/rear extension, x1 rear L-shaped dormer
and alterations to fenestration.

1 ElIm Road Windsor SL4 3NB
Allowed

Planning Ref.:

Officer Recommendation:

Decision Date: 20 November 2019

The application seeks to extend a previously approved dormer and side extension. The side
extension would enclose the existing outrigger which is an original feature of the property
and which is replicated along the adjoining terraced properties. Howewer, taking into
consideration the single storey extension which would substantially obscure the lower part of
the outrigger leaving only a small amount visible and which would therefore significantly alter
the character of the dwelling and this feature. It is considered that the first-floor extension
would not be unduly harmful to the appearance of the property or surrounding area.
Furthermore, whilst the side and rear of the appeal site is partially visible from the public
realm as a result of the open access to the side, the loss of the outrigger would not be
particularly apparent from EIm Road. The originally permitted dormer would extend only part
way along the roof of the existing property. The proposed dormer would extend out level with
the rear elevation. Whilst this would increase the projection and owerall scale of the dormer
extension, it would retain a setback position from the side elevation of the dwelling. This
would result in a staggered arrangement at roof level, which would reduce the owerall bulk
and dominance of the proposed dormer. The proposal is therefore likely to represent a
reasonably limited increase over and abowe that previously approved and would therefore
not be harmful to the visual character of the dwelling or area. @ The proposed first floor
extension would sit in line with the existing side elevation and the set in of the dormer would
retain a degree of subsenience to the main property. Taking into consideration the
mentioned fall-back position and the assessment abowve, the proposed development would
not adwersely affect the character and appearance of the host dwelling or the area. It would
therefore comply with saved Policies DG1 and H14 of the Royal Borough of Windsor and
Maidenhead Local Plan (2003). It would also comply with Section 12 of the National Planning
Policy Framework (2019) which aims to ensure dewvelopment is well-designed.

Appeal Ref.:
Appellant:

Decision Type:
Description:

Location:

Appeal Decision:

Main Issue:

19/60105/REF 19/01654/FULL Pins Ref.:  APP/T0355/D/19/

3238244

Mr Mark Bromley c/o Agent: Mr Sam Dodd Authorised Designs Ltd Bacchus House Ley Hill
Chesham Buckinghamshire HP5 1UT

Delegated

Planning Ref.:

Refuse

Single storey front and rear and two storey side extension with side facing window.
Alterations to fenestration and new brickwork to front and rear elevations.

6 Ash Lane Windsor SL4 4PS
Allowed

Officer Recommendation:

Decision Date: 20 November 2019

The Inspector concluded that the proposed scheme would have no material adverse effect
on the living conditions of future occupiers of the host property with regard to private amenity
space. Nor would it create an overbearing development that would have a detrimental effect
on amenity in the local area for users of the adjacent footway. As a result, the proposal
would comply with Policies DG1 and H14 of the Local Plan and emerging Policy SP3 of the
Submission Local Plan to which the Inspector gave only moderate weight. In addition to the
standard time condition, the Inspector imposed conditions about compliance with approved
plans and the provision of external materials to match the existing building.

242



WINDSOR

Planning Appeals Received

29 October 2019 - 25 November 2019

The appeals listed below havwe been received by the Council and will be considered by the Planning Inspectorate.
Should you wish to make additional/new comments in connection with an appeal you can do so on the Planning
Inspectorate website at https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/ please use the PIns reference number. If you do
not have access to the Internet please write to the relevant address, shown below.

Enforcement appeals: The Planning Inspectorate, Temple Quay House, 2 The Square, Temple Quay, Bristol,

BS1 6PN

Other appeals: The Planning Inspectorate Temple Quay House, 2 The Square Bristol BS1 6PN

Ward:
Parish:
Appeal Ref.:

Date Received:

Type:
Description:

Location:
Appellant:

Ward:
Parish:
Appeal Ref.:

Date Received:

Type:
Description:

Location:
Appellant:

Ward:
Parish:
Appeal Ref.:

Date Received:

Type:

Sunninghill And Ascot Parish

19/60109/REF Planning Ref.:  15/01655/FULL Pins Ref.:  APP/T0355/W/19/
3238358

4 November 2019 Comments Due: 9 December 2019

Refusal Appeal Type: Written Representation
Proposed detached dwelling with integral double garage following demolition of existing
dwelling

The Chalet Ravensdale Road Ascot SL5 9HJ

Mr Stephen Bennett c/o Agent: ET Planning 200 Dukes Ride Crowthorne RG45 6DS

Sunningdale Parish

19/60110/REF 19/00197/VAR Pins Ref.:  APP/T0355/W/19/
3233111

4 November 2019 Comments Due: 9 December 2019

Refusal Appeal Type: Written Representation
Variation of Condition 15 (under Section 73A) to 17/01066/VAR to substitute the approved
plans for the amended plans for the redevelopment of site to provide 6 x 3 bedroom
apartments under planning permission 15/03090/FULL (allowed on appeal).

Former The Little House Charters Road Sunningdale Ascot SL5 9QF

Kebbell Homes Ltd c/o Agent: Mr Patrick Barry Nova Planning Limited Regus Building 1000

Lakeside North Harbour Western Road Portsmouth PO6 3EZ

Planning Ref.:

Sunninghill And Ascot Parish

19/60112/REF Planning Ref.:  18/03705/CONDI  Plns Ref.: APP/T0355/W/19/
T 3235884

6 November 2019 Comments Due: 11 December 2019

Refusal Appeal Type: Hearing

243


https://acp.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/

Description:

Location:
Appellant:

Ward:
Parish:
Appeal Ref.:

Date Received:

Type:
Description:

Location:
Appellant:

Details required by condition 4 (finished slab and floor lewvels) 5 (tree protection) 6 (retaining
wall) 7 (siting and design of means of enclosure) 8 (underground utilities) 9 (hard and soft
landscaping) 10 (construction environmental management plan) 12 (sustainability measures)
13 (water butt) 15 (fixed and obscure windows) 16 (construction management plan) 19
(porous hard surface) 20 (rooflights) of planning permission 16/03736/VAR as approved
under (15/02893/FULL) for construction of 2 detached dwellings following demolition of
existing dwelling and outbuildings

Former Missanda Wells Lane Ascot SL5 7DY

Pipeline Worldwide SA. c/o Agent: Mr Douglas Bond Woolf Bond Planning The Mitfords
Basingstoke Road Three Mile Cross Reading RG7 1AT

Sunninghill And Ascot Parish

19/60113/REF Planning Ref.: 18/03634/CONDI  PIns Ref.:  APP/T0355/W/19/
T 3235880

6 November 2019 Comments Due: 11 December 2019

Refusal Appeal Type: Hearing

Details required by condition 2 (SANG and SAMM) 3 (external materials) of planning
permission 15/02893 for the construction of 2 detached dwellings following demolition of
existing dwelling and outbuildings

Former Missanda Wells Lane Ascot SL5 7DY

Pipeline Worldwide SA c/o Agent: Mr D Bond Woolf Bond Planning The Mitfords
Basingstoke Road Three Mile Cross Reading RG7 1AT

244



	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	LOCAL GOVERNMENT.docx access to info.pdf
	Declaring Interests at Meetings (Oct 2015).pdf
	Insert from: "APRIL 2017_Govt access and declarations of interest.pdf"
	LOCAL GOVERNMENT.docx access to info.pdf
	Declaring Interests at Meetings (Oct 2015).pdf


	3 MINUTES
	4 19/01464/FULL - HENLY AND BEHARRAL HOUSES & LYNWOOD COURT, LYNWOOD VILLAGE, RISE ROAD, ASCOT
	5 19/01513/FULL - SG AUTOPOINT, 437 - 441 ST LEONARDS ROAD, WINDSOR SL4 3DT
	6 19/01701/FULL - SANDRIDGE HOUSE, INCLUDING THE COTTAGE & THE BUNGALOW, LONDON ROAD, ASCOT
	7 19/01714/FULL - SITE OF FORMER 61 TO 63 DEDWORTH ROAD, WINDSOR SL4 5AZ
	8 19/01755/FULL - SQUIRES GARDEN CENTRE, MAIDENHEAD ROAD, WINDSOR SL4 5UB
	9 19/01924/FULL - 9-11 IMPERIAL ROAD WINDSOR
	10 19/02073/FULL - THAMES VALLEY ATHLETICS CENTRE, POCOCKS LAND, ETON, WINDSOR SL4 6HN
	11 19/02416/FULL - WINDSOR DIALS, ARTHUR ROAD, WINDSOR SL4 1RS
	12 ESSENTIAL MONITORING REPORTS (MONITORING)

